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SINCE 1885.

Chapter 1
.Introduction - A Summary of Events to 1885.

.There are few regions more bountifully endowed by nature
thaen that known a8 the Lower Fraser Valley.--Speaking in gen-
eral terms, it stretches from the mouth of the river eastward
to a naturel constriction, where lies the town of Hope. The
valley then ias spproximately 90 miles in length, and varies
in width from 10 to 25 miles. Here is an area of about 750,
000 acres, most of which is richly fertile and suitable for
mixed ferming. "The low-lying lends ere composed of fine s8ilt,
brought down by the river during the course of countless ages.
The higher lands or uplands, extending some distance back of
the river on the south side, were originally clothed with a
megnificent forest of evergreens and deciduous softwoods.

When they have been cleared these uplands slso provide egri-
cultural land. “The climate of this region is as equable as
can be found in the temperate zones, seldom going above 90°

in the summer or below zero in the winéér. ‘'he rainfell aver-
ages about 40 inches a year at the mouth of the river

(Steveston] and increasses to an average of about 60 inches at
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the eastern end of the Valley: (Hope).

Desgpite these many advantages, 1t is not to be supposed
'that nature was so beneficent as not to test thoroughly ﬁhﬁ
mettle of those rugged pioneers who laid the foundations of
new gettlements nearly three-gquarters of a century ago. Lvery
year, during the freshet season, hundreds of acres of land
- were subject to flooding by the swollen river. bDuring the years
of greatest flooding, e.g., in 1894 and 1936, the lose has been
gserious. Continuoué efforte have had to be made to confine the
river by dykes. But even &t the present time, these efforts
cannot be said to have been entirely successful. And, es if
to add ingult to injury, the floods alweys brought in their
weke, for 2 few weeks, myriada of mosquitoes -- a nuisance
which ean try the soule even of the stoutest. But when the
ma jor problem of flooding has been overcome, the minor problem
of the mosquito will have been largely solved.

in that portion of the valley lying east of New weast-
minster, which is the area defined in fhis theais as the
sastern r¥raser valley, there has been & noteworthy development
since the completion of the Canadien racific naeilway. 1In
order to preserve the continuify of the history of that devel-
opment, it will be necessary to give a summary of the events
which preceded the building of the C.'r. K.

.Prior to the coming of the white man in 1808, the Kraser
valley was inhabited by numerous tribes of Indians, belonging

to the Cowichan group of the Salish linguistic stock. ‘Lhe
most powerful of these tribes waes the Kwantlen, which occupied

1. Agricultural Statistics Report, B. C. Depart-
ment of Agriculture, 1936.
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the valley from the north arm of the srager, the territory of
the nuaqueams, to Nicomen Island, where dwelt tpe Hatzics.

The headquartérs of the Kwantlen was at Skaiametl, where the
city of New Westminster stands today. 4“The life of these early
inhabitants must have been comparatively happy and well-ordered,
evern though it was rudely simple. 1In the main, too, these
people were peaceably disposed, but they suffered from frequent
raids by the more savage and war-like Yukeltaws of Seymour
Jearrows.

Such wea the condition of the Indisna, when the first
known party of white men, led by the intrepid Simon rrager,
came into contact with them in July, 1808. Fraser had success-
fully overcome the dangers and herdships of the descent of the
river which now bears his name. He had reached the mouth of
the north arm of the river, and having taken his bearings, had
proved that this river was not the legemndary Columbia. Fraser
would no doubt have liked to continue his work of exploration,
but the hostility of the natives was such that he deemed it
wise to retracé hie steps with all possible speed. He had
thus little opportunity to explofe the possibilitiea of the
vealley, even from_the point of view of a fur-trader. Fraser
returned to his headquarters at rort George, esnd it was to be
nearly two decades before a permasnent settlement was made in
the Fragser Vvalley.

'This settlement was made by the Hudson‘s Bey Company a8 a
result of a more vigorous policy of expansion, subsequent to

amalgemetion with the Nor-westers in 1821. 1In an endeavour to

..
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control the fur-trade of the racific élope, the compeny sent a
party, under the command of James mciMillan, to build a post
~about 35 milee from the mouth of the river. ©his was named
rort Langley, and thus, in August, 1827, WaeAestabliehed the
f;rst permenent white settlement in the Fraser Vvalley. Al-
‘fﬁough the trade in furs proved quite successful for the first
few years, the officers of the Hudson's Bay Company were not
slow to utilize other resources in order to show & greater pro-
fit. salmon was salted and cured, not only to be used as an
additional article of food by the employees of the company, but
also for export trade. 1he agricultural poasibilities of the
goil did not fail to attract attention, and it‘waa not long be-
fore several patches of land near the fort were producing
enough food-atuffs to supply the small community.
U After 1839, there was & considerable increase in agri-
culturel products at Fort Langley, owing to the fact that the
company was paying rental for the lease of the Alasken "pen-
hendle* by means of farm produce. <The company's farm at Lang-
ley Préirie, cqyprising at one time some 2250 écres, wasg
famous throughoﬁt the valley. After the termination of the
lease, with trade decreasing and settlement increasing, the
policy of the company was, perforce, changed to meet the new
conditionas. 1In 1878 this ferm was gubdivided into parcels of
land of varyihg acreage, and placed on suction.

¥or political reasons, the Hudson‘s Bay Company, in 1849,
had tfanaferred their headquarters from Fort Vancouver on the

Columbis to r¥ort victoria. As s result 6f the settlement of
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the Uregon Boundery dieputelih 1846, the company waa forced to
find & new trade route between the interior forts and victoris.
An overland route to Kamloops was found, rorts Yale and Hope
were built, and ¥ort Langley became the point of franeshipment
for all supplies. #rom this time on the importance of this
" nigtoric post began to wane, although for the first few months
of 1858 it saw a feverish, if somewhet ephemeral, renewal of
activity.

In 1856 gold was dimscovered in the gravelly bars of the
Frager ﬁivér and its tributeries. 7The news spread like wild-
fire, and éarly in 1858 thousands of eager miners were making
fheir way up the kraser Hiver. Fort Langley at first was the
head of navigation for steamers, but in June, 1858, the Amer-
ican steamer "Surprise’ succeeded, with the aid of an Indian
pilot, in reaéhing Eorf Hope. 1t meant the beginning of the
end for Kort Langley.

James bouglea, a chief factor of the Hudson's Bay Compsany,
took immediste steps to cope with the situation éreated by the
arrivel of this gold-med throng. He wished to establish law
and order, as well a8 to safe.guard the interests of his
' company. ‘'he Imperial government moved with unwonted prompt-
itude. Some of Dougles' actions were declared “ultra vires®,
and on August 2, 1858, an actlwaa passed cresting the crown
colony of British Columbia. un November 19th of the same year,
in an historie ceremony at ¥ort Langley, James Douglas was in-
stalled aa governor éf the colony. At the same time the trading

privileges of the Hudson's Bay Company were formally revoked.
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Upon the request of Governor bouglas for a military force
to meintain order in the mining camps, sir rdward Bulwer Lytton,
British Colonial secretary, wisely sent out a aspecial detach-
nent of Rroyel kngineers. ‘Yhe advance guard reached the cosast
in time to take part in the installastion of Governor vouglsas.
Yhe commander, Colonel K. C. Moody, arrived at Victoria on
Vecember 25, 1858, bearing credentials es Commissioner of Lands
and WOrké in the new colony. Dbouglas, after his instellation,
had declared old rort Langlej, 0r Verby, should be the capital
of the colony. Lot at this site had actually been sold by
public auction at viectoria. Col. mOody; acting under his
official instructions, promptly overruled bouglas' choice, and
éarly the nekt year the present site of New westminster was
chosen a8 being more suiteble. sricetion naturally resulted,
end relations between Col. Moody and Governor lougles were not
always cordial. 1This led to the disbending of the detachment
of Koyal ingineers in 1863, after they had assisted in the
building of the famous Cariboo koad and in other important
public works. wmMost of the rank and file had succumbed to the
lure of the west; several took up land near New Westminster,
and became honoured pioneers in the land 6f their adoption.
Among the thousanda of adventurers searching for fame and

fortune on the sandbars of the Wraser, were meny sturdy sons

from the farms and towns of eastern Canade and United states.
As they made their way up the valley, they could not have
failed to notice the agricultural possibilities of the lush

A\

meadows and sloping hillsides that stretched on either side of
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the river. when the gold-fever had abated somewhat, many of
these men returned to pre-empt land in different sections of the
valley. ‘‘'he CGhilliwack and sumaa‘Valleys attracted severel in
1862 and 1863, and it was there, with the exception of the Hud~-
gon'‘s Bay Company‘s farm at rort Langley, that the first at-
tenpts at systematic farming in the Kraser Valley were made.
Fruit, vegetables, grain and hay were grown in abundance, and
with the introduction of cattle, the dairy products of the rraser
valley began to eatsblish their present-dsy reputation.
buring the decade following the inception of the crown colony
of British Columbia, other settlements were begun in the valley--
at mud Bay in surrey, at Mission, at Maple ridge and at ritt
Meadows. Un April 11, 1872, the newly-elected legislature of
the province of British Columbia passed The municipality Act
which repealed “The .‘Borough Urdinance, 1865". A3 & result,.
Chilliwéck and Lengley Municipslities were ihcorporated on
april 26, 1873, the first rursl municipslities in British Gol-
umbia. Maple ridge was incorporated on September 12, 1874,
and Surrey on November 10, 1879. ‘“hese four municipelities only ﬂiy
were incorporaeted previous to the completion of the Canadisn <§;f
racifie railway. %"//
'hus by the year 1885, there were seversl amell but vigor-
ous settlements, most of which were near the river as providing
the easiest means of transportation snd communication. Grad-
ually also had been established the eoncomitants of Anglo-saxon

civilization. Schools and churches had been built. rioneer

merchants had laid the foundations of future prosperity in the

”
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building of small general storés. rostesl facilities had been

" established. Some industrial development had elso taken plsce
to exploit the marvellous naturasl resources. Salmon canneries
had been establighed at several pointa on the river, and small
saw-mills were cutting lumber for local needs. ‘'he completion
of the tvanadien racific railway inaugurated a new era of growth
in population end in industrial asctivity. wrom that time on
the progress of the Fraser Valiey has been remarkably steady
and congigtent. 1t ie of that progress that this thesis will

treat.



(9)
Chapter IX

The ‘Development of Transportation Facilities,

It is axiomaetic that the progress of a district such as
the FraSer Valley must depend to & great extent on the develop-
ment of ftransportation facilities. Lhe ‘comparatively rapid
settlement of the valley is due to the fact that modern ue ans
of transportation ﬁave been availaeble during the lasat half cen-
tury. waterways, of course, offer the easiest meana of travel
in a new country, and here waa a river navigable throughout the
length of the valley by the modern river steamer. 'The construc-
tion of the Canadian Pacific Railway gave the settlements on the
north side of the river an advantage in transportetion facilities
for some years, but the railway did not, by sny means, displace
the services of the river steamer on the north side. For local
needs, horsedrawn vehicles were introduced at an early date in
the valley, end these have not been entirely displaced even in
this modern ere of automotive tranaportation.

Progress, however, 8ince the beéinning of the present cen-
tury has been steady. The building of roads and highways, the
construetion of railways; and the introduction of the automobile
hes mesnt that today no section of the valley is more than two
or three hours' jjourney from tﬁe citiés of New Westminster and
Vancouver. Even the aseroplane has made its appearance. Though"
not yet established as & public means of travel throughout the
valley, several privateiy—owned machines are in use, and Chilli-

wack, Fort Langley and Hope have mede some efforts at building
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air ports. There are few fegions today that are better served

by modern means of transportation than the Fraser Valley. .

River Steamersa.

Although sea-going ships frequently came up the river to
Fort Langley in the early days of its occupation as a Hudson's
Bay post, the real era of the river ateamer datea from the time
of the Gold Rush. As previously stated, it was then that the
first steamer reached Hope. During the Gold Rush and the con-
struction of the Canadian Pacific Railway many a steamer churn-
ed her way up the muddy sraser. As settlement in the valley in-
creased, there was sesnough ateady businesas for two or three
ateamers, and this continued t1ll the Fraser Valley Line of the
British Columbias Klectric Rallwey was completed in 1910. Pasa-
enger traffic on the river steamers practically ceased from
that time, although for several years after there waa enough
freight for one boat. por more than half a century these steam-
ers had served the valley well, but were forced to give way to
‘8 speedier and more reliable means of transportation. Neverthe-
less, the little settlements on or near the river viewsd the
pessing of the sternwheeler with a measure of regret. ¥or them,
~her arrivael and departure was not only a commercial necessity,
but was also & social event of some importance. It wae & con-
tect with the outside world which saetisfied in some measure the
gregarious instincts of those who live in lonely places.

‘'he typical river steamer was & sternwheeler, 100 or more

feet in length, 20 to 35 feet in beam, of shallow draﬁght end
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capable of a speed of about 12 knote an hour. When conditions
became stabilized the regular run was from New Westminster to
Ghilliwack. But in the 90's and earlier, they got business
where they could find it, and it wasn't unusual to go &8s far as
Hope if the circumstances warranted it. A service between
Chilliwack and Vancouver wes at one time given byAthe 5. 9.
"Hemlin®*, but it evidently proved an unsatisfactory run for it
ﬁas notllong continued.l Smeller steamers were sometimes used
to supplement the regular sehedule. Such a boat was the "Fairy
Queen” which ran between rort Langley and New Westminster. As
the round trip was made in one day, this service was a great
convenience for local people and it was well patronized.2 But
the New Wgstminster - Chilliwack run wae the ususl ons.

on the trip up river the boat left at 8 a.m. and would
arrive about 5 p.m., but this would depend on the number of
calls that were made.- The boat would tie up over night at
Chilliwack Laending, about two miles west of the town, and leave
the next mofning at 7 a.m. The trip down the river was natur-
ally of shorter duration, New Westminaster being usualiy reached
by 2 p.m. There were gome thirty-odd regular ports of eall on
the route, many of them with wharf accommodation. 7This accom-
modation, however, was not & necessity. Wherever a white flag
was flying the boat would stop. ''he captain would drive her
gharp nose into the mud bank and freight or passengers would

1. Supplement to The Daily Columbian, December, 1903.
2. 'he beily Columbian, July 13, 1891.
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goon be on board. Service wes the important consideration,
and nothing was too large or too small. A cell would be mede
for & can of milk or crate of eggs just as readily as for a
ton of hay or a shipment of livestock. A crew of a dozen or
more husky and gkilful deckhands was carried on the boat. The
gang plank generally used was not very wide, and if the bank
of the river wsa much above the level of the bqat-deck,-consid-
erable skill was necessary to navigate the swaying plank. For
the passenger the tedium of the journey was always relieved by
watching the losding and unloading of freight, perticularly if
such freight happened to be a refractory animel. But the deck-
hands were usually equal to the occasion, though it was not an
unknown occurrence for & “greenhorn® to get an involuntary
ducking in the river. In>those dayé, any husky young fellow
looking for work could usually get it on the rivér gsteamers,
but fndians and helf-breeds were generally in the majority.

The first decade of the present century was the hey-day
of the sternwheeler, for it was then that a daily service each
way was given. <the canadian racific Cogst Service was then
operating the 5. §. "Beaver®, the namesake of the famous Hud-
son's Bay Company's éteamer; This boat was undoubtedly the
$inest of a long line of river boats. . She had been fabricated -
in sections 1n England and put together on the freser. In
contrast to the usual river ateamer, she had a steel hull sand
drew less than three feet of water. 5he was 140 feet long, of
36 foot beam and could maske 14 knots an hour. She left New

Westminster on Mondays, Wednesdays and Eridays,'returning the
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next day. Her competitor during'most of this period was the
“ngmona“, a smaller, slower boat whose schedule was on alter-
ﬁate da&e to that of the "Beaver". The ¥Ramona's" auccessor
wag the “Paystreak'. ‘ | | _

Witﬁ the completion, in 1910, of the B. C. E. R. valley
line, the river steamer was outmoded. <The "Beaver® continued.
to run till sbout 1914, but within & few months the “PaYstreak"
was withdrawn from the Chilliwack run, and began s daily round;
trip gervice between New Wezstminster and Mission.5 Although
the fare for a round trip to Chilliwack was the same on the
B. C. B. R. as on the boats - $3 - the river boats handled
freight at a considerably lower rate than the railway, which
came under the jurisdiction of the Kreight Rrates Board. qu
this reason, the boat continued to handle much hey, grain, frpit
and cattle, and, for a time, supplies for the conatruction of
the Canedian Netional krailway.

The last of the sternwheelers to operate on the rFraser was
the $3. 5. “Skeena®"., 5he had been built for use on the Stikine
River, but~had beén brought to the Fraser Whén the "Beaver" was
bought by the rProvincisl government to be used on the Lgdnér
ferry run. The ¥YSkeena' was operated by Captain Charles E.
Seymour, one of éﬁe beat-known figures on fhe river, with wmr.
W. H. Negbitt a8 purser. Her regular schedule for years was to
Ladner and return on monday, to Chilliwack on ituesday returning
Thursday, and to mission and return on ¥riday. On Capt. Sey-

mour's death in 1928, she was tied up at a New Westminster wharf

3. The baily columbian, bDecember 8, 1911.
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for some months. ‘Yhe Board of trade of that city made efforts
to have her put again into operation, dut to no avail. Al-
though she cost some $40,000 to build, she was sold for $l,000
in pvecember, 1928, to Mr. V. Bartlett, manager of Ewen's can-
nery near New Vestminster.4 She was dismantled, tied ﬁp to the
cannery wharf, end for some years served as & bunkhouse for
cannery employees. Today her hull only is again in operation
on the river, used by one of the o0il companies to carry their
prqducts.5 _

It is a rather ignoble ending for the last of a long line
of well~-known river steamers, but there is no place for senti-
ment in the demands of modern businesa. Neverthelessa, the re-
aidenta of the ¥raser valley owe a debt of gratitude, alike to
the boats and td their officers and crews. JThey provided e
reagonably efficient means of transportation for over a half
century, and in times of special stress, particulerly during
the floods of 1894, they did a magnificent work in rescuing
settlers and their live atock, 2nd in removing them to a place
of safety. 1t is not too much to say that the early prosperity
of the ¥reser Valley depended in a large degree on the services

rendered by the ubiquitous sternwheeler.

rerriea.
Bisected am it is by a greast river, the ¥rager valley
needed some means of communication between its north and south
4. The Chilliwack Progress, bLecember 87, 1928--

. reprinted from “The Vancouver Star".
5. Information supplied by Mr. W. H. Nesbitt.



| (15)

gshores. A bridge in the aarlj days was out of the question be-
cauge of the cost, and therefore ferries were operated as the
most useful substitutes.

The esrliest of these bore the cryptic neme of “K de XY,
and was operated befween lew Weatminater and Brownsaville, jﬁst
west of the southern end of the pfegent bridge. This farry af-
forded a connection witﬁ the Yale noad; built in 1875, and was
mainly used by the residents of surrey and the belta. “he
gervice given seemed to have been véry unsstisfactory - in fact
it was Y“e mere apology for a ferry",6 The route taken was a
i;ngthy'diagonal one across and up‘fhe river, and the landing
accommodations on both sides of the river were so poor that
horgses and vehicles were seldom carried because of the risk.
After months of agitation and protest, the city of Hew Viest-
ninster built & new ferxry at a cost of $25,000. Un Februery
19, 1891, she made her first regular run across the river to
South Weatminater. The new route was more direct, fares and
freight rates were merely nominal, and a dozen teams ceould be
trensported sasily at one time.? ihe new ferry, nemed the
Surrey*, was &a centre-wheeler, a huge wheel operating between
two scow-like nulls. she did duty also as a fire-boat, having
powerful pumps/which were capable of projecting five large
atreama of water at one time. Although she was not called on
often to fight fire, she more than once demonstrated her use-
fulness in that respect. ©he “Surrey, after some years of

6. Hditorial, The beily Columbian, iiarch 14, 1891.
70 lbido ’ )
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service, was taken out of commission upon the completion of the
bridge in 1904. |

v ?he next point at which a ferry service was maintsined was
at Mission. ''he rajilway bridge there, built by the C. ¥¢. K.,
wag not open to vehicular traffic. Accordingly, in the summer
of 1911, the government put & ferry into operation, and thus
linked the municipalities of iMatsqui and Mission. "Thies ferry
gervice was maintsined until 1927, when the provineisl govern-
ment, after repeated demands by the residents of the district,
had the C. P. K. bridge planked and opened for traffic on
July 1, 1927.

- Between Chilliwack and Harrison Mille a ferry service was
~maintained for seversl years. 1t was put into operation orig-
inally in fulfillment of & contract to carry the mail across
the river to the ¢. P. K. It was mainteined for some years by
“0ld Mec® Macbonald in & canoe. When an occasional traveller
sought passage acrosa the river and inquired of *0ld mee” the
fare, his reply was, ‘“four bits, and you pull an oar yourself®.
But this well-known 0ld charscter lost his life in an attempted
crossing about 1900.

Phe successor to this canoe ferry was the small ferry
steamer *Minto} & stern wheeler about 50 feet in length. it
wag operated by Capteina Jeff Haerrison end Bob Meﬁten until
July, 1908. Prassenger traffic had increaééd to such an extent
that a rival ferry, the *“John r. Dougles”, was put into oper-
ation early in 1908. The owners of this boat bought out the

“piinto* which wse taken off the run. 1In the following year the
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"John P. bouglas*® was burnt, éndiwae replaced by a new boat,
fhe “Vedder. Tﬁis ferry ran until the B. C. E. R. Wée com-
pletéd in Uétober, 1910, when passenger traffic became prec-
tically non-existent. The mail contract, however, was main-
tained by Jack Henley in 2 smell gas-boat until 1914 Whep the
government gave the contract for the mail to the B. C. E. R.

*he rosedale-Agasaiz ferry has been in operetion for near-
ly 30 years and is the only one which is s8till meintained.
The popularity of Harrison Hot Springs a8 a health resort will
ensuie the retention of this service unless a bridge is built
at.or near this point on the _.rraser.

in the earliest days, a traveller who wished to cross the
river at Agessiz would have to teke & chance on bribing an
Indian to take him across in a canoe. About 1906 the vallence
Bros. inaugurated a ferry service with a rowboat snd small
scow, the rowboat soon giving way to a small gasoline launch.
This service was maintained from 1907 to 1911 by Messrs. Gill
‘and nyder of nosedale with an 8 h.p. gas boat and scow. Ar-
rangements for transportation had to be made by telephone,
however. ‘'he fare was 50 cents when the water wes high, butb
this was reduced to 25 cents during the period of low water.
Bach passenger in a horse-drawn vehicle was cecharged the same
fere. An sutomobile with four passengers was charged $2.50

8

which is about four times the tariff today. Service was

maintained by private individuals under government contract

8. The British ¢olumbian, August 22, 1910.



| (18)

until 1922. At that time the éovernment owned ferry, the
igea~-w0lf”® was placed on the run. ¢his boat was 60 feet long
énd was péwered by two 35 h.p. engines. ULraffic increased so
rapidly that in 1928 a bigger end more powerful boat, the
“Bena* superseded the *Sea-Wolf*. In 1931 & still larger boat,
fhe "Agasaiz“, weas put'on‘the rﬁn, but after 18 months, this
ferr& was puf on the Ladner-Vocodward’s Landing roﬁte. ‘'he
“Eena* was re-engined with biesel mofors and has been in ser-
iice éteadily 8ince 1932. Since that time it has been oper-
ated by ldesars. Henley and Cartmell under & government charter.

It is possible that local ferries might be eatablished at
other pointe on the river. kesidents have been agitating for
gome time for a ferry service between Kort Leangley and Maple
ridge and they are hopeful that the govermment will accede to
their request. #erries will no doubt continue in the future
to serve aa & link between the north and the south sides of

the river, just as they have in the past.

bridges.

The need for & bridge at New westminster was recognized
for neerly a generation before the scheme wees brought to com-
pletion. 7The reagons wWhy the bridge was considered a neceé-
8ity were concisely stated in a letter sent to uUttawa in 1895
asking for & subeidy of :§1OO,OOO.9 There it was stated that
there was no traffic bridge between the mouth of the river and
Spuzzum, 120 miles away; thet most of the populstion was on

9. "The baily Cglumbian, Lecember 24, 1895.
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the south side of the river,>whi1e their natural markets of
Vancouver and Hew Westminster were on the north side; that the
farmers of the valléy guffered undue competition by united
Stetes farmers bringing in produce by water; and that the pre-
sent ferry service was entirely insufficient. ‘the citizens of
liew VWestminster were 8o impressed with the value and need of
improved communicetion with the other side of the river that
they proposed that the c¢ity alone.should shoulder the great
coat of the underteking. ¥or a decade previous to the construc-~-
tion of the bridge innumerable news items, editorials and
letters in the locel press reflect the public agitetion on the
proposal. Nearly every year some new écheme was put forward or
‘éome 0ld one modified and revived, but invariasbly the negotia-
-tions came t0 nought beceasuse of financial difficulties. ‘

The project first took definite shépe in 1896 with the
proposal of kir. C. H. Wilkinson of London, Englénd. He waa the
promoter of the White rass hailway, and was also interested in
the vancouver, victoris and raestern (V. Vi and &.) Railway.
But his proposals for a financisel guaréntee were not entertained
by the provinecial legieiature and the matter was dropped for
the time being. 1The gradual growth of the city and rural muni-
cipalities, coupled with peresistent esgitetion by city end muni-
cipal councils, eventuslly secured for the project recognition
as & publiec utility by the provincisal governmeht. But finances
were not in & very flourishing condition st the time, and dur-
ing 1900 and 1901 the province carried on negotiations with the

Dominion government, hoping to get a subesidy of 25% of the cost.
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vttawe, however, refused, conéidéring the projeet purely & pro-
vinecial one, but was willing to subsidize & private compeny or-
ganized for the purpose.lo About this time mr. John ﬂendry of
New wWestminater, keenly interested in various railway projects
in the province, ﬁade propoaitions to both governments in the
name 6f such a company. But poéular sentiment was strongly in
favour of construction as a public work; and as such it was
finally underteken by fhe vunsmuir government, the necessary
finances being taken care of by a loan. Sucecess had at last
crowned the effortas of the city and valley. It is true that
the city was fortunate in having a friend at court in the per-
gon of the Hon. richard meBride, = highly-populer nstive son.
He had been elected as member for Dewdney, haed become for a
short time Minister of kines in the vunsmuir ministry, and
very fittingly was head of the govermment which completed the
project. MNevertheless, the undertaking had the unanimous en-
dorsement of the members of the provineial legislature, and

11 ‘he same conld

thus wes not the product of party politics.
hardly be said of the new bridge under construction at the
present time (1937).
the government wisely decided to spare no expense in the

construction of the bridge, which was to be a combined railway
and traffic etructure of masonry and steel. iir. J.‘A. L.
Waddell, of the firm of Waddell and Hedrick, Kenses City, Wmo.,
and one of‘the most eminent bridge engineers on the continent;

10. Gosnell,-n:Et,-“5.6.--—S;x%y-Xears of Progress®

£t.11, p.lés.
11. Supplement to the baily Uolumbian, becember, 1903.

-
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wags engaged to design and éupérvise the construction of the
bridge. “he contrsct for the sub-structure was given to the
Pirm of Messrs. Armstrong, Morrison and Balfour of Vancouver,
while that of the superstructure went to the bominion Bridge
Company of Montreal.

The substructurevwas'begun in August 1902, and gave em-
ployment to several hundred men for over a year. ‘The laying
of the last stone in the lest pier took place on vctober 24,
1963. The depth of water on the north side presented an ex-
ceedingly difficult engineering problem in the building of the
piers. 'This was solved by the use of caissons of timber which
were filled with cement and sunk for nearly 40 feet into the
river 8ilt. Masonry wes then built on top of the cement to the
required height. ‘'he five piers in shallow water on the south
8ide rest on cedsr piles driven 100 feet into the river bed.

Yhe substructure completed, work on the superstrudture
progréssed rapidly. 3teel was fabricated in Lachine, wuebse,
and brought to the south bank of the river o#er the tracks of
the Great Northern Railway. rrom thence it was taken up the
finished approach to the bridge proper, and placed in position
by & huge travelling crane. un November, 11, 1903, the main
spen, 380 feet in length and weighing 800 tons, was successfully
floated into position. In march of the following year the last
span - the spread'span on the north shore - was placed in
position, and the work was virtually complete.

‘he total cost was slightly over $1,000,000, but it was a

magnificent piece of work, snd at that time was considered one
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of the best bridges on the céntinent. There were several
novel features in the new structure. The ¥Y* gpan at the
nortﬁ end afforded a double railway approaéh; one from the east
and the other from the west. As the main span wea 380 feet in
width, there was no obstruction to the free paesage of tugs and
booma of logs. [he swing span of 361 feet allowed two passages
of 160 feet each for the larger boats. "Thisspan 18 operated by
electricity so speedily that very little delay is caused to
vehicular traffic. “he roadway, including the approaches, is
2850 feet long and 16 feet wide, which at the time wes consid-
ered "ample to accommodate general traffic.“lz

The amount of materisl used in the bridge was immense.
For the concrete in the piers it was necessary to use over
12,000 barrels of cement, 6000 cubiec yardse of sand, 1650 cubic
yards of gravel and 7800 cubic yards of crushed rock. "he
cement came from the United sStates, but the sand and gravel was
obtained from Port Kells, and the crushed rock from the ritt
Hiver quarriea. Stone for the masonry was brought from Nelson
island, about 70 miles from Vancouver. It required 223 cars to
transport the ateel from the east. A tremendous amount of
lumber, all of the besat quality, Was_used. in the bottom of
fhe piers 1,125,000 lineal feet of fir was used, while 785,000
lineal feet of the same material was used in the trestle ap-

proaches. Clear cedar piles - 65,000 lineal feet - were used

12. Supplement to the baily Columbian, vecember, 1903.
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iﬁ:tﬁé southern plers and approaeh, while approximately the
game amount was used in eribbing work on the north bank.1®

On July 23, 1904, the bridge, with appropriate ceremonies,
was formally opened to traffiec by the lieutenasnt-governmor of
the province, Sir Henri Joly de Lotbiniere. Une of the feat-
urea of the opening was the procession 6f river ateamers and
tugs - about 40 in number - through the draw span. They were
loaded with passengers, and eaéﬁt?;; it passed through the
draw, saluted the bridge with & long blast of the whistle.

This procession was repeated at night, this time the boats
being gaily decorated with lights and Japsnese lanterns.

Tolls were charged for the first few years, but these
were removed in March, 1910, by the MeBride government. HNeed-
less to say, the premier had popular approval for his act.

Benefits of the long-awaited structure to the farmers of
the valley were immediate and apparent. 1n dddition, the
G.-N. R. which for years had its terminus at South Westminaster,
then had access to the cities of New Westminster anq Vancouver,
For the privilege of uging the bridge this railway pays an
annual rental of $20,000.1% 1In 1910, the B. C. E. R. also
made use of the bridge for ite Fraser Valley line, and within

13, From information contained in the Supplement to
- the Columbian, December, 1903 and in issue of
July 23, 1904.

14. Howay, F. W. = A History of B. C. from the Earliest
Times, Vol. ITL, page 5R29.
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a few years the Canadian National trains were using the bridge
and the G. . R. right-of-way into Vancouver.

T'he general growth of the valley and the increase in traffié
have fully justified the construction of the bridge, bﬁt few
would have been 80 rash ss to foretell the need for & new traffiec
bridge in 30 years. {he development of sutomobile traffiQ has
been totally unexpected. ‘'he passage of two dbig frucks‘oxﬁbusee
on the 16 foot rosdway is not unattended by danger, while the
traffic jams which have occurred on holidays have proved that
the present structure is inadequate to carry comfortaebly the
influx of cars.on pesk days. Accordingly the rattullo govern-
ment proposed the construction of a new traffic bridge just
. weet of the present one. A great deal of acrimonious discussion
toqk place as to the wisdom and necessity of a new bridge. Kx-
pert engineering opinion differed as to the feasibility of
widening'the'roadway on the present bridge. The government at
any rate went forward with its plans, ahd work on the new
bridge was commenced in the summer of 1935. this is to cost
approximetely $3,500,000 and ahould prove adequate for future
needs a8 it is wide enough to carry fourllanes of traffic. 1t

is expected to be completed in uetober, 1937.

There has been a bridge across the Kraser river at Mission
8ince 1892. 1t was erected by the C. r. K. primerily as a rail-
way 5ridge in order to connect & branch line with the G. N. K.
at Abbotsford. 'his bridge was & wooden one znd stood for

about 13 years. 1t was replaced by another wooden bridge which
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lasted a comparatively short time. About 1902 the present
éteel bridge was erected. Although considerable traffic went
through the branch line in the early days, it gradually de-
creased with the opening up of other lines of‘communication‘
‘with the south. Accordingly the residents of the district
petitioned for many years to have the bridge planked and thus
made accegsible for vehiecular traffic. In 1927 the government
acceded to thie requesf and today this offers an alternstive
route for traffic, although the approaches to the bridge are
not wide enough to permit two cars to pass, nor is the road
connecting Mission City and Abboteford at the present time in

very good condition.

¥rager Valley Line of British Columbia Electric Railway.

With the bridge acrogs the rraser easured it was not long
before the residents of the valley asked the provinecial govern-
ment to undertake the construction of a railway or an electric

tram line through the valley to Chilliwaok.15

This did not
meterialize, but later the B. C. E. R. proposed such & railway.
In 1906 the municipalities on the south side of the river =-
Surrey, Langley, Matsqui, Sumes and Ghilliwack - passed bylaws
which authorigzed the Vancoﬁver Eowef Company, & subsgidiary of
the B. C. E. R., to operate light, heat, power and tramway
aystems in those municipalities: Shortly after, several survey

perties were placed ip the field to determine the best route

for an electric railway., Frlans and estimates were prepared,

15. The Daily Columbisn, September g, 1903.
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and in due course contracts'wefe let for the conatruction of
.ﬁower lines and of the railway. On Apgust 6, 1907, the first
god in this important project was turned by Mr. R. H. Sperling,
general manager of the company, and work on the first sgction
from New Weastminster to Cloverdale was immediately begun. This
was completed and in 0perétion in about 18 months. Meanwhile
the contract for the section from Cloverdale to Abbotsford had
been let and work had started. Yhie wes completed early in the
apring of 1910. The contract for the last section across Sumas
prairie to Chilliwack waa held up for a2 time because the route
hinged on the much-mooted Sumés Heclamation scheme. A plan
.preeénted by ¥. R. Glover, manager of the company, for the conm-
rlete reclamation of.the Sumaes area wag turned down by the com-
pany's Board of Directors in London, Ené,‘la.nd,.l6

—Thefcontract for the last section was then let. The right
of-way was projeéted from Abbotsford to Huntingdon, adjacent
to the international boundary line at Sumes, Wash.; from that
yoint it skirted the southern shore of Sumas Lake and continued
round the base of Vedder Mountain; thence in a north-easterly
direction to ¢hilliwack. The autumn of 1910 saw the dbuilding
of stationa at Chilliwack and Way voints.

Op October 3, 1910, the inaugural train‘of three gaily-
decorated coaches left New Westminster at 10 a.m., bearing &
large party of notablesa headed by Lieutenant-Governor Pgterson
and rremier McBride. In addition to B. C. E. R. officials,

16. From Government Report of Sumaa Dyking Commission,
December, 1926.
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thére were the local represehtafives of the federal and pro-
vincial legislatures, the mayors and aldermen of New Westminater
and Vancouver, members of the Boards of Trade of both ecities,
and publicity commissioners of both. The train crew in charge
consiated of the senior men on the interurban lines - Conductor
A. B. Clark, Motormen Arthur Brooks and Bfakeman Bruce VWalker.
All along the line the residenta turned out to cheer and welcome
the train. OStops were made at several points to allow the party
time to inspect the company's sub-stations. The train arrived
in Chilliwack shortly beforé 3 p.m., nor was the gaiety of the
occasion marred by the fact that, for the last part of the
journey, one of the company's steam locomotivee had to be re-
quisitioned. A storm the pfevious evening had caused a tree
to fall across the power-lines at Vedder iountaini

Chilliwack residents, led by a brass band, tufned out en
messe to meet the trainm with wild acclaim. The party-soon de-
trained, and Premier McBride, bereheaded, performed the custom-
ary ceremony of driving the last spike truly and weli. Mesyor
Munro of Chilliwack then presented mr. R. H. Sperling of the
B. C. E. R, with an address of appreciation and welcone, t§
which Mr. Sperling suitebly replied. The visiting party, along
with 150 invited guesats, then repaired té the hall of St.
Thomaa';Church, where & gumptuous repast had been laid. The
feturn—journey was begun at 5 p.m., this time under electrical
power, the break in the line having been repaired. The long-.
awaited day of rail communication with the outside world had

become a reality. The little city at the eastern terminus of
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one of the longest electriecel iﬁtefurban lines in the world
hailed it aa "the greatestday in the history of Ch_:LZLliwack.":""Z

‘Yhe folléwing day the regular séhedule was put into ef;
fect with three trains daily each Way. Pgssenger and baggage
trains left the terminals at 8 a.m. and 5-p.m. daily, and a
gpecial milk train at 7 a.m. <The fare charged was $l-85 for
a single, and $3.00 for a return ticket. The trip at First
took three and a2 half hours, owing to the unballasted section
-of'fhe road around vedder Mountain, but this was reduced in a
few months to the normai running time of three hours.

The company had announced‘that it was willing to give a
gervice which would meet conditions, and was not long in giving
evidence of its sincerity. There was a heavy freight and pass-
enger traffic on the new line from the very first. within a
mbnth, Mr., Purvia, who had been appointed ménager of the inter-
urban lines, acceded to a request'frqm valley farmers for a
local train on #¥riday, which was market-day in New Weatminster.
This train ieft Huntingdon at 7 a.m. and returning errived at
5.30 p.m. In'Dgcémber of that year, & regular freight schedulq
was put into operation, and, within a few months, an everage “_v
'of 15 carloads of freight were arriving deily in New Westminster}s
Un Juhe 4, 1911, a new schedule went into effect which provided
for fhree vessenger trains daily each way in addition to the

milk train. The average daily number of passengers carried on

17, The Ghilliwack Progress, Vctober 5, 1910,
18. The British Columbian, Masrch 4, 1911.



the line during the month of nay, 191] was 900, the greatest
number being 1500.1°9

ror nearly two decades the interurben line was an import-
ant factor in the transportetion facilities of the valley.
buring that time the Canadian Northern had been built, and had
“cut in* to some extent on the traffic. But with improvement
in the sutomobile and highways came the gresatest competition to
the raeilways. Just a8 the railway superseded the river steamer,
80 has the automobile virtually eclipsed the electrie railway.
A compaiieon with former dasyse shows clearly the trenquf the
times. When the line was completed, the company maintained
atation agents at 8ix points between the termini - Cloverdals,
Langley fPrairie, milner, Abbotsford, iuntingdon and sardis.
Wwithin the last few years these have all been withdrawn with
the exception of the agent at Abbotsford. the milk'tféin has
continued its schedule, but the passenger-traiﬁ schedﬁle has
been reduced from & maximum of four to three trains daily.
¥urthermore, where three-car snd four-car treins were usual,
todsy one coach only leaves the terminue, and that one is never
erowded e8 the trains of o0ld were. It seems plain that the
“march of time* has relegated the electric railway to the back-
ground as the chief factor in the valley*s transportation

systeme.‘

Canadian National railway.

The orgy of railway building in the pre-war period gave the

19. The British Columbisi, June 1, 1911.
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Fragser Valley a8till another line of communication. Lven before
the residents of Chilliwaeck had seen the consummation of their
desires in the building of the B. C. E. R., Mr. Mean had en-
nounced that progreas was being made on the Canadian Northern
Railway and that the line between Chilliwack and Vancouver
would be in operation in a year's fimé.zo This might be taken,.
at least, to reflect the general spirit of optimism which pre-
vailed zt the time, even if it does né@ betray a lack of judg-
ment on Mr. Mann's part. For those were the days of spacious
outlook and unbounded enthusiaam, which were not always coupled
with sound common sense end good judgment. The plans of the
Canadian Northern Railway indicate this. The site for the
terminua was to be rort Menn on the south bank of the river
about two miles east of New Westminster. ‘enderas were called
in September, 1910, for cleering the 2000 acre tract for the
townsite, and lots there were soon selling at inflated prices.
Extravagant claims were made a8 to the ultimate importance of
this "Liverpool of the racific¥. A Vancouver newspaper,
8trangely enough, prophesied tﬁat it was "goon to become &
gerious rival to the gfowth of V‘ancouver".21 A magezine article
later claimed that *the opinion expressed by many experts that
rort Mann will rapidly become one of the largest cities on the

22

Coast seems to be amply justified™. But ‘these dreams were

never even remotely realized. Thé logicel decision to extend
&0. The Daily Columbian, June 13, 1910.

21. InduSﬁriaI’Squlement'to the Vancouver World,
© Sept. 21, 1910.

22. The Britieh Columbia Magezine, March, 1912.

i
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the 1line to tidewater &t vancouver would have caused the col-
lapse of the original plans, even if the pre-war depression
hadn’t ended them. Anyone viewing Port lann today would find
1t difficult to juetify the boom-talk which was evidenced in
1910 and 1911.

Moreover the actual construction of the railway did not
keep pace with the estimated rate. Bad weather during the
winter months and difficulty in getting supplies caused delays..
1t was not t1ll mMay 24, 1915 that a tri-weekly local service

3 Yrains going

between Hope and Port Mann was inaugurated.
east left on MOndéy, wenesday and ¥riday and returned the
next day. The subsequent consolidation of the line as part of
the Canadian Netional reilways has given a regular service to
gome of the older settlements near the river, which the right-
of-way follows rather closely. At the present time there is a
bi-weekly local train between vancouver snd Boston Bar. The
C. No. R., being a transcontinental line, has not hsd to depend

on local traffic as does., the B. C. E. R., but it suffers to-

day from the same competition of motor buses end trucks.

ureat Northern Reilway.

Yhe G. N. R., because it is a connecting link between the_
Lower Mainland and the United Statea, has played an important
part in the development of the Kraser Valley.

1t has had an interesating history. the first section to

23. ‘'he Chilliwack Progress, sy 27, 1915.
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be built was between South Westminster and Blaine. 1t was
chartered as the New westminater Southern Railway, and was one
of the first railways in the province constructed after the
¢. P. R. Th@‘promoters were & group of very enbterprising busi-
neas and profesaional @en of New Weatminster. The first
charter for the road was granted in 1883, but owing to finan-
cial difficultiea this was allowed to lapse. The idea was
then sponsored by the Board of Trade of lew Westminster, and
an application for a charter in 1887 was granted by the pro-
vineial legislature. This was turnéd over in 1888 to a direc-

torate composed of those men who had bought stock.24

But pre-
liminary plens were beset with many obatacles, financial and
otherwise. uUnder the charter of the C. P. R. no railway was
allowed to run south of its line to connect with an American
sayatem. This difficulty was removed as a result of agitation
in Manitoba over the same monopoly clause. Hinancial aiffi-
culties which threatened at first, were 2lso overcome and the
road succesafully completed. 1t is one of the very few rail-
ways which did not receive & grant of some'sort of government
assistance.25

The road was opened in 1891, and  the usual opening cere-
monies took the novel form of & raiiway “wedding". Trains
left South Westminater and Blaine so as to arrive at the boun-

dery line at the seme time. 'They approached esch other until

only & yard or so separated them, end the presidents of Both

24, The Daily Columbian, February 14, 1891,
25. Howay, ¥. W., op. c¢it., Vol. IT., p.449.
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the New Westminster Southern and the American line together
laid the last rail and'drove the last spikes at the aétual
boundary.26

A tri-weekly service was begun and was operated for many
years in connection with the ferry at New Westminster. When
the bridge was built, this line was amelgamated with the
Ve We & Y. line which had been built between Wew wWeatminster
and Vancouver, and thus becams part of the ¢. N. R. eyetem.27

The original line passed through rort Kells and Cloverdale,
but in 1908 a new line was laid along the sea-shore. Thia is
the line in operation todey, and it has assisted in the develop-
ment of the sea-side resorta on semishmoo Bay, as well asg in

maintaining rail communication with the citiees of the racifiec

atatesn.

roads and Highways.

Both the north and the south sides of the valley are Served
today by splendid highwaya - the former by the Lougheed Highway,
and the latter by the Yale kRoad and racific Highway. 'There are
also several important “feeders® and connecting roads - the
Scott, mcLellan, and pownline xoads on the south aide, and the
old Dewdnéy Trunk Hoed on the north side. iIn sddition there
are hundreds of miles of gravel roads.

In the first half of the period under review, there seems
to have been little systematic planning for road-building.

26. The baily 001umbian, ¥ebruary 14, 1891.
27. Goanell, K. K., op. cit., pages 167, 168.
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Often roads were merely evolved from foot and pack trails into
earth roads as settlement demanded, and consequently did not
follow the best or shortest route. rinancial arrangements too
were hephazard. runds for roads were allocated to electoral
districts, each of which was in charge of a euperintendent.28
These in turn employed resident asettleras to 4o any necessary
work, which aseemsd to consiét maiply in dumping gravel at the
worst spots. During the last decade of the mineteenth century,
lettera and editorials in the valley newspapers complain with
a good deal of asperity about the condition even of the Yale
Lﬁéad during the winter months. 1in certain stretches acroas‘the
Langley ¥rairie it was characterized as "an Iimpassable ditch...

29 it is not difficult, then,

...an example of sheer neglect®.
to imagine the state of the “Peeder - roads during the wet
weather. m

About 1908, however, owing to thé use ol automobiles, the
bepartment of'fublic works began a gystematie construction of
trunk roads suited to motor traffic. At this time the pro-
vince was in a fairly prosperous condition. IKor seversl years
5ir richard meBride’s government had actuelly produced sur-
pluses. “This prospérity wag reflected in the road-building pro-
gram which was initiated. A review of conditions in 1910 states
that “more work is being aone on the roads of the valley this

30

year fhan ever before-. Meny miles of new roed were built in
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- 28, nianual of rrovincisl iInformetion, 1930, p.204.
29. The baily Columbian, vecember 26, 1890.
30. ibid, July 26, 1910.
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the municipalities thaet year, and in addition many more miles
were widened, grasded, gravelled and otherwise improved. As an
example of the work done, the government spent in bewdney alone
$100,000 for roads and ¢35,457 for bridges.51 the incorporated
municipalities had to bear naturally a greater proportion of
the costs. During the next year or two, work continued apace.
it was at this time that the present route of the racific High-
| way through Surrey was located, snd on August 1, 1911 the new
section of the rosd from fry's Corner to the international
boundary line was opened forAtraffic.

A8 a result of the policy of retrenchment during the war
years, very little more work than necesgary repairs was done oOn
the roads. niotor traffic, however, was%?ncreasing rapidly, end
to cope with the problem of good roeads fﬁe Department of rubliec
works effected & radicel change in organization. The province
was divided into eight districts with a permanent staff in each
which consisted of a district engineer, assistants, and general
foremen. "hese were sugmented during the season by local fore-
men end gengs of labourers engaged on a daily-wage basis.

buring the post-war period, improvement of the main arteries
of traffic has been fairly steady. 1in 1924 s decision was made
to use the Yale Road and the rraser Canyon route for the trans-
provineiel highway. inereasing motor traffiec made permenent,
hard-surfaced roads & necessity. Althbugh the coet of road-
building in B. C. has alweys been high compared with that of

other provinces, improved machinery and sclentific methods have

3l. Yhe Daily Golumbien, July 26, 1910.
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put the main highwaye todey in éplendid condition.

The. improvement to the Yale Road haa been carried on over
severél years. A8 a result of the completion of the Sumas
reclamation Scheme, the hilly and dangerous section of_the road
over Vedder pountain was eliminated by the conatruection of a ‘
road scross Sumas rrairie. 1n 1928 a new road across the
prairie was surveyed aﬁd located. 4his took a more direct
route between the vedder brainage Canal and Abbotsford and ef-
fected & saving of nesrly five miles. Wwithin the next yesr or
two a section of several miles from vedder Canal to Chilliwack
wag paved with éoncrete. vther sections were widened, straight-
ened and hard-surfaced. The last section to be so treated Wag
the new road across the prairie. Ihis was completed during
the summer of 1935. ‘he Yale koad is now paved or hard-surfaced
as far as Hosedale, about seven miles east of ¢hilliwack.

¥or many years the main roasd on the north side of the river
wasg the Dewdney Trunk noad. 'T'his linked up New VWestminster and
bewdney. Although traffic on the north eide has never been as
heavy as that on the south side, égitation for improvement has
been conatent. A8 a result the Hon. M. $. Lougheed, iinister
of rublic VWorks in the wolmie government, ahnounced in 1928
a modern roed for the north side. 1The section between Frort
Coquitlem and Port Heney was %o be entirely relocated.zz c¢on-
;trgction of this road, now known as the Lougheed Highway, hes

been carried on since that announcement. it is now hard-surfaced

32. The British Columbisn, becember 5, 1928.
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as far as bDeroche, 13 miles’east of iission City, end is a good
ﬁatch for the Yale road. iKrom the part of fhe highway betwsen
veroche and Agasaiz one can obtein & magnificent view of the
fiver and valley. With the increasing pdpularity}of the Harri-
son Hot Springs Hotel, the eventual hard-surfacing of this
gection seems asaured. when that is done, the round trip up
one side and down on the other should prove highly popular to
those who are unacquainted with the beauty and resources of the

Fraser valley.

Automotive wranagportation.

‘he continuous improvement and increasing use of the auto-~
:;Qobile has revolutionized the commercial, economie and even the
gocial life of the residents of the velley. 1In the early days
of the century, 1t'was probably an all—day‘task for the farmer
to take a loed of grain, hay, or fruit to the river landing for
the steamer to deliver to the city markets. ‘he electric and
steam railways cut thet time to two or three hours, aﬂa there-
by improved the economic position of the farmer. bBbut that time
today would enable a truck to reach the cities, even if 1% came
from the eastern end of the valley.. Quick delivery is an ad-
vantage to the producer as well as to the consumer of dairy |
producte end farm produce. And today it is no uncommon occur-
rence fof residents of the valley, even as far east a8 Chilli-
wack, to come to Vencouver in an evening to enjoy an outstanding
cultural or dramatic presentation or a sportihg event. It means
that rurel residents can enjoy’today.urban advantages that were

undreamed of even a quarter century ago.
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Indicative not only of the motor-car 6: an earlier gen~-
eration but also of the condition of the roads is thie news
item published in the Chilliwack Progress of November 2, 1910,
under the caption of *PFasgt Motor Lriving.*®

H. Hooper of vaneouver...made & record trip
from this city to Abbotsford yesterdaye...
He made the trip in two hours and 10 minutes.
This time is authentic, it being telegraphed
back to Chilliwack on his arrival et Abbots-
ford. “he trip is a most remarkable one con-
gaidering the atate of the roasds....Across the
Sumas rrairie, in places, the axle of the car
dragged through the mud and the water.
Such & trip could easily be made today in less than half an
houri

'he increase in the number of motor-cars in the last few
years has been almost incrediblé. ''he registration and 1li-
censing of motor-cars in B. C. began in 1907, when 175 were re-
gistered. By 1909 these had increased to 504. But the next
two decades showed an amazing growth. 1in 1919 the number was
21,350, while in 1930, the year of highest registration, 1li-
cences were issued to 98,938 motor-vehiclee.55 At & conserva-
tive estimate, st least two-thirds of these vehicles are re-
gistered in the towns and c¢ities of the Lower iainland.

Keeping pace with the number of privetely-owned cars was
the number of commereial vehicles. The B. C. E. R., through
its eubsidiary, the B. C. Motor Wransportation Co., was early.
in the field of automotive transportation. In May, 1926, they
inaugurated the kapid rransit service to Chilliwack with two

- wm m= am am e @ s ar e aa

33. Cénada Year Book, 1937.
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especially-built, £8-passenger Kageol coaches. At that‘time
four round trips-per day were made, but that schedule has been
reduced at present (1956)_to three. Preliminary to insugurating
this service the company}had purchased the stage line of G. L. '
Hamre, which had been operated between New Westminster and‘Ab—
botaford. Yhe company &laso bought out the freight line of
H. A. Thornton, which was operated on the same route, and esta-

blished the Kraser Valley Freight Line_.54

The B. C..E. R.
evidently decided that if there wes to be coﬁpetition fo the
electric line, they would provide it themselves. ~This they
have succeeded in doing sa far a8 passenger service ia concerned,
. but in the freight trucking service they have slways had several
competitors.

Thé'number and mechanical excellence of motor vehicles
will likely continue to increase. There does not appeér to be

any serious rival to the dominant position such vehicles now

hold in the field of transportation.

34, The British Columbian, April 27, 1926.
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Chapter 111

The Development of Agriculturs

It waa the agficultural possibilities of the Kraser valley
which first attracted permanent settlers thers; itvhaa beeﬁ the
inereasing development of these possibilities which has laid
the foundation for the prosperity of the valley. An equable
climate and fertile s0il provided initial advantages of which
the pioneers were not slow to tzke advantage. 1In the course of
time the growth of two cities at the front door of the valley

provided the farmers with an excellent opportunity for the
sale of agricultural products, but wider markets have been by
no means neglected.

Settlers in the valley, however, have had to face certaiﬁ
hendicaps and disadvantages. Compared with other districts in
Wesatern Canade, fhe price of land has been high; the cost of
clearing land, too, is excessive. For these reasons an initial
outlay of considerable capital was almost & necessity. rrodﬁcte
have had to compete in most csses with those of the older and
more fuily-&eveloPed gtates of the racific anat. Certain of
the low-lying, and therefore richeat, sections of the valley
‘have had to be dyked to prevent the ravages wrought by the river
during the annual freshets.

buring a tour of the valley today: however, one is impressed
by its fundamental prosperity. wmodern, substantial homes, barns

and silos are to be seen on every hand. Lush pastures provide

sustenance for pure-bred herds of cattle, flocks of sheep and
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droves of swine. Well-cultiveted fields, orchards and nurseries

are nomistakeable evidence of careful attention to the science

of agriculture. It is not without reason that the valley has

become one of the richest and most productive ferming areas of

Cansada.

Floods and Dykingel

The annual freshet of the Nraser, with its attendant de-
struction, has always been & major problem for the Fraser Val-
ley farmer. 1In the early setélement this problem was aggra-
veted by the fact that the date, as well as the maximum height,
of the freshet has been uncertain. weather conditions in the
upper reaches of the Erasér during the winter and spring months
are the mein determining fectors for these uncertaintiesa. In
1876, after more than a decade of settlement, the highest
freshet then on record occurred about the beginning of July.

In 1882 this height was surpsssed about the middle of Jume by

13 inches ag measured on the gauge at Migsion City, the atan-
dard for measuring the height of flood waters.

In 1894 occurred the greatest flood that hes ever been re-

corded in the valley. Induced by & very hot egpell in the in-
terior, the waters began to rise on May 19th, and thereafter rose
at an average rate of two feét per day, reaching the maximum
height on June 6; on this date, the water at klssion at high
tide reached & height nearly three asnd one-half feet above the

record of 1882. During this flood period 2t least eight lives

1. Information in this section was largely obtained'
from the report of the Speciesl Dyking Commission,
1934, snd from Wr. Bruce Dixon.
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were loat, and tremendous devastation occurred to crops, live-
stock, dykes, bridges and roads. The right-of-way and tele-
graph lines of the G. P:. R. were damaged to such an extent that
communication -with the rast by these means was interrupted for
geversl days. Sumes Prairie was flooded to a height of over
15 feet. River ateamers, which did valiant service in réecuing
gettlers and live-stock, found no difficulty in steaming from
Chilliwack to Huntingdon. 4“he waters receded slowly and there
wére very few farmers who found it posaible to sow second crops
that year. Aseistance was freely given to the residents of the
stricken velley from private as well as govermmental sources,
but it took considerable time to repair the ravages of the
“Big Flood",
“ Lullsd into false security by the hope and belief that
high water only came once in a decade or so, the settlers were
caught unprepared by the freshet of 1896. 1in that year the
‘maximum height of the flood did not quite reach that of 1882,
end it was somewhat later than usual,_the maximum being reached
on July 16. It did demonstrate very convincingl&, however, the
necessity for & comprehensive system of dykea and drainage if
the crops oﬁ the low-1lying lands were to be secure from annual
devaatation. buring the succeeding years many miles of dykes
have been constructed, and these have given reasonably good
protection to important low-lying asections. |

Not until the summer of 1936 did these dykes undergo &
very severe testing. In that year the height of the flood was
exceeded only by that of 1894. A sudden heat wave in the in-



'_teriqr of the province during the last week in lay resulted in
an abnormal run-off of water. With the advantage of frequent
reports from the upper country, the meinion Water rower and
Hydrometric Bureau at Vancouver was able to forewarn the De- -
partment of Uykes, which in turn was able to rass on the warn~
ing to residents of the vélley. During the first week in June,
the waters rose until a mark of 22.61 feet was registered on
the mission gauge on June 9th. This was atill consideradly
under the all-time high mark of 25.75 feet, registered in 1894.
Owing to the warning, the main dykes were meaintained intact by
department officials and volunteer workers. Considerable dam-
age resulted, however, from breaks at Agasaiz, where about 5000
acreg were flooded, and &t Dgwﬁney, where about 2000 acres suf-
fered fiom inundation. Several emell private dykes gave way
under the strain. In the main, the dykes proved that they were
gsufficiently atrong to withstand the freshets of all but those
of extraordinary years. With further strengthening of the
dykes at strategic points, there is reason to hope that the
farmers of the valley may be assured, in the future, of reasson-
able security against the ravages of flood waters.

Before the present system of dykes was conatructed, there
were 8everal low-lying sections of the valley which were always
subject.to flqoding-during the freshet season.2 The first of
theae, from the eastern end of the valley, was the flats at
Agasgiz, comprising an area of nearly 5500 acres. <The next

2. Gosnell, k. K., B. C. Year Book, 1897,
p. 276 et seq.
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point of danger was at Chilliwack, where nearly 22,000 acres
were aubject to flooding, but only during the highest freshets.
The third ares was that of Sumas Prairie, comprising slmost
30,000 acres, nearly all of which was subject to flooding every
year. Next was Jicomen Lsland, a comparetively small srea. A
little further west, at Dewdney, there was an area of over 5000
acres that suffered; while across the river, on the soﬁth aide,
were the Matsqui flatas, comprising 10,000 acres. ‘The most
westerly danger point was the ritt River Klats, an area of over
8500 acres, lying in the eastern angle formed by the confluence
of the Pitt and Fraser Rivers.

Since 1894, all of these sreas, and others ss well, have
been protected by the construction of about 120 miles of dykes.
Only 15 miles, or about 12%%, of the total have been financed
without government assistance.5 ihe cost of the construction
and maintenance of these dyking aress has been a serious finan-
cisgl drain on the government and on the velley farmers.

Yhe first money for dyking purposes wss authorized by the
provincial legislature in the Acts of 1894 and 1897. The
Act of 1898 established the capital indebtedness of each area
and provided for the payment of annual assessments by each dis-
trict. In that year also the first Inspector of Dykes was ap-
pointed. Minor adjustments to the Act were made in succeeding
yeara, all of which were consolidated in the Dyking Assessments

Ad justment Act, 1905. This act cancelled the total charges

3. Report of Special Dyking Commission, 1934, p.4.
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againat each district, establiéhed new and'reduced charges
in their stead, and provided for the repayment of those re-
duced capitel charges to the government in 40 years by the
collection of annual asaessments.4 Provision was a2lso made
for the cost of maintenance to be advanced by the minister
of Finance. in 1912, when & considerable number of rensewals
and replacements of equipment had to be undertsken, an amend-
ment to the section dealing with maintenance made it possible
for the Minister of Finance, with the appro%al of the Lieut-
enant-Governor-in- Council, to advance monies for such work of
an extensive character and to extend repayment over a term of
‘years et 5%. Though really capital in nature, these advances
are treated as deferred maintenance accounts, and annuities
thereon each year are ineluded in the masintenance levy.

The years of the depression following 1929 placed &
heavy burden on the farming interests, and ylelding %o coﬁsid-
erable pressure, the provineial legislature in 1933 postponed
the annual payments on all capital accounts, carrying'the in-
gufficiency over to the end of the redemption period. Thia
postponement ha§ been‘continued each year since.

In 1934, a sSpecial byking Cormmisaion was authorized by
the Hon. A. Wells Gray, Minister of Landa. 4“hia commission
was instructed to meke a thorough survey of the problems of
each ﬁistrict and to present their recommendations. 1n all,
16 distriets made repréeentations to the commission, and each

4. report of $pecial Dyking Commission, 1934.
p. 2 et seq.
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asked for a reduction in assessments. The commissioners felt,
however, that the distriets were able to carry the charges, but
recommended leniency in the collection of assessmenta until the
price of dairy products had improved.5 As mosat of the reclaimed
land was useful for dairying, the commisaioners felt that the
glump in prices during the depression was the crux of the whols
matter.

for the purposss of administration, the provincisl govern-
ment recognizes three different classes of dyking and drainage
districts.® whose of the firat class have been assisted by the
government a8 to both cspital expenditure and maintenance. vln
this class are the dyking districts of Coquitlam, niaple kidge,
- Pitt meadows #1, Pitt meadowa #2, and Matsqui. 'The second class
of districts, for which the government has advanced fundé for
capitael expenditure only includes Chilliwack, Dewdney, Sumas,
Metaqui brainage #1, and uaple kidge Drainage #2. In the dis-
triets of these firat two classes, the cost of maintenance is
borﬁe entirely by‘landowhers, but they are under the admink
gtration of the vepertment of ﬁ&kes. |

The third class of districts in which, generally speaking,
the government hes no financial interest includes West Langley,
Agagsiz, South Westminster, North Pitt Meadows, Surrey and Vest
Nicomen. ‘Yhe last two districts are exceptions inasmuch as the
government is financially interested in both. A loan was made

to durrey in 1922 through the Land Settlement Board, of which

- ey W e ™ em =

5. report of Special byking Commission, 1934, T
Po 121 et Seq_o e )
6. ibid, p.l. :
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$16,000 sti1l remained outetanding in 1934. In the district
of West Nicomen, the government guaranteed a bond issue of
$87,000 in 1918.

'he onerous duties in comnection with the administration
of dyking areas falls on the shoulders of the Inspector of
Dykes. Although a government appointee, hé is primarily re~
spongible to the landowners themselves and always acta in close"
co-operation with committees set up by the ratepayers of each
district.  Not only does he set and collect the assessments
from-eéch distriet, but he also is concerned with the dyking
and drainage of the lands under his jurisdiction. Sincé 1021,
these duties have been very capably discharged by Mr. Bruce
bixon, C. E. Nir. Dixon hes his office in the Courthouse at
New Westminater, in order to be near the scens of his activi-
ties. He acted as chairman of the Specisal bDyking Commisaion,
1934.

i'he construction of the many miles of dykes in the vélley
has presented many engineering and financial problems, but it
has meant the reclamation of nearly 150 square miles of land
~that was suitable for intensive cultivation or for dairyihg.
| Following the order of east to west in the most serious
danger points, we find that the northern half of the Agaséiz
fléts was dyked in 1885 when the C. P. K. embankment was con-
atructed. 1In 1920, an area of some 1300 screa known as Hammer-
- 8ley rrairie was reclaimed as areal estate venture. A part of
the G. ¥. K. grade was used as & dyke with a smell spur dyke

filling the gap between the railway and Kent Mountain. "This
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dyke, in which a flood-box was'constructed, croages & alough _
which Porms & hatursl drainege for the area. fThis particular
tract of land has never been constituted as a dyking area, the
reclamation being apparently for thé purpose of making the land
more saleable.

The Chilliweck districf stands in 8 cless by itself from
an economic point of view. The floods of 1876 and 1882 had
' éhowﬁ the dangers of flooding, but no dyke Wés started till
1898. This dyke was completed in 1903 at & coat of nearly
@500,000. However, there were no great areas of waste land,
and the number of scres to be recleaimed (about 20,000j, in
proportion to the cost of reclamation, made the projeét an
economically sound one from the beginning. The cost of the
whole scheme was approximately %15 per acre. by the act of
1905, this was reduced to $10 an acre. This district has been
go favoured by nature thet the dyking assessments have never
“been burdensome. In 1918 the administretion of the district
was tranaferred from the Inspector of Dykes to the municipality
iteelf. ' |

The work which was done to protect the 30,000 acres on
Sumas Prairie has culminated in the Sumas byking Scheme. As
& project of méjor importance, a subsequent chapter has been
devoted to it.’

Phe West Nicomen Districet, which includes the island of

Nicomen, was unrecleimed for some years owing to the great

7. See Chapter v, p.100.
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6oat. In 1911 the district was orgaﬁized under & board of com-~
‘missioners, end the contract for construction of a dyke was let
in December 1912. The commissioners found it necesssry to take
over an uncompleted job from the contractors, finally finishing
it in 1915 at e coat of $95,000, toward which the government
had made a grant of @10,000{ 1the commissioners had the usual
difficulties,‘and in 1917 the government placed the admini-
gatration in the hands of the Land Settlement Board. 1in @cto-
ober 1930, the administration was transferred to the Inspector
of Dykea. At thet time the construction of & new highway pro-
vided the district with a practically new dyke. As the soil
in this district is extremely porous, seepage and erosion of
the river banks are constent threats to be guarded ageinst.

i'he Dewdney district, like that of Agassiz, was divided
by the ¢. P. K. embankment. The northern half, which includes
Hatzic Prairie, was recleimed in 1893 by using the right-of-way
of the railway and putting in & flood-gate at Hatzic Slough.
This was washed out in 1894. Nothing further wes done until
1909 when, 28 & result of privete enterprise, the district ﬁas
organized under a board of commissioners. iInformetion as to
the actual cost of the work proposed is lacking, but litigation
end other expenses involved the district in & total final cost
of over $200,000. ‘“he result has been that the government hss
hed to come to the assistance of the district at various times,
end in april 1929, the Inspector of Lykes took over the ad-
minigtration of affaira. The lands of this district may be

claggified as smong the better lands of the valley, practically



all of it being ideal for dairyihg and & considerable portion
of it being suitable for intensive cultivation. in the freshet
of 1936, the slough roed gave way under the pressure of flood
wateras, and nearly &000 acres lying outeside of the ¢. P. K.
embankment were floodéd, causing considerable damage.

| on the south side of the river, opposite mission City,
liea the fertiie iilatequi Prairie, an area of over 10,000 acres.
The reclemation of this‘section of the velley seems to have
been smong the first to have been seriously considered. in
1878, as records show, the legisleture gave Ellis Luther Derdby
anthority to reclaim certein lands in this district, and in
return he obteined & grant of some 6,000 acreg of land. This
project met with failure as a result of the flood of 1882. It
was brought to_tha fore again after the summer of 1894, and in
1896 the district was organized under a2 board of commissioners.
The failure of the dyke in 1896 led to the conatruction of a
new one at an estimated cost of $106,000. Some 4000 acres in
this distriect have been organized since 1919 into a Lrainage
Distriet, as natursl dresinage there was interfered with by the
congtruction of dykes. Iliaintenance costes in this district
have always been heavy owing to the neceseity of providing
pumping apparatus to carry off water not only during the freshet
season, but also during the'montha of heaviest precipitation.

in the early days &ll the lendg constituting the flood-

plain through which the ritt River flowed were known as the

ritt River keadows. Gradually, with the development and or-

ganization of this region, different aress became grouped under'



(51) |
.Qistinctive names. In‘chronbloéical order, the dyking areas of
Maple Kidge, Coguitlam, Pitt Meadows #1, and Pitt KMeadows #2
were orgenized. These four districts have had almost identical
experiences, both physicel and finencial, in connection with
their dyking projecta. Original construetion costs, as well as
maintenance costs, have been high. At the present time there is
& total of 34.34 miles of dykes in these districts,® and they
have assisted materially in the reclamation of valuable farming
1andé. Proximity to eity markets give them an adventageous
pésition. It is unfortunate that the recent depression years
have interfered with what promised to be & healthy development
in this section of the valley.

A vnique problem in dyking and drainage haa been faced by
the municipality of Surrey, eince‘itaorganization as a dyking
digtrict in 1911. It was not the river waters but tidel waters
which caused the flooding of low-lying landa. Dams had to be
conatructed across the Nicomekl and Serpentine Rivers at the
£lgin Road in order to prevent destruction., Lhese dgms are
fitted with flood-gates which were designed to opsrate auto-
matically with the tides. They have proved very asatisfactory
unless there are extremely high tides end winds. Such a con-
junetion of the elements 6courred in the winter of 1955, and
a8 a result waves washed over the road which served as & dyke.
This municipslity has an additional problem because much of it
gserves as a natural sump for & surrounding ares of approximately

8. Report of Special Byking Commigsion, 1934,
- pp. 6, 13, 18, 22.




(52)

100 square miles. Ag & result of continuous clearing of for-
ested areas onJﬁhe up-lying lands, the run-off of water has
been considerably acéelerated. This formerly took five or six
days, but today it takes only a few hours. The rivers can no
longer comfortably carry away the run-off water and the re-
sultent 8ilting-up of the beds of the Nicomekl znd Serpentine
Rivers necessitates considerable dredging. In addition, water
remains for s considereble portion of the year on low-lying

land such as that at Fry's Corner. A problem has been created

"whieh will require special consideration in the near future.

Fruit-Growing.

For many years the growing of fruit was the most importent
phagse of agricultural industry in the Fraser Valley. fhe
varieties of fruite grown in north temperate plimatic regions
could be eesily grown there. Exhibitions of British Columbisa
fruit in the uUnited States, Great Britain énd eastern Canadian
provinces attracted general attention because of the size,
colour and Quality.

Pioneer growers,»pevertheless, faced certain difficulties.
Lack of shipping and transportation facilities, the cost of
¢learing and reclaiming land, and the lack of good markets were
gerious handicaps. Because of these conditions in the early
days, much fruit was left to rot on the‘ground. But with im-
provement of conditions and extension of the industry came =lso
a rapid increase in fruit pests and fungous diseases, which

seemed to thrive particularly well in the damp Coast climate.

Only the vigilance of the Horticultursl Branch of the provincial
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Department of Agriculture prevented the development of & seri-
oua situation.

The Department of Agriculture can be credited very largely
with the expansion of agriculture_in the valley. ‘this depart-
nent was first orgenized in 1890 with the Hon. Jd. H. Turner as
the Tirst cabinet minister.? o him goea a great deal of credit
for generous aid in educational and co-operative work. 4Yhe or-
ganization of Fruit Growers’ Associations and Farmers' Institutes
was a feature of his regime. During 1905 - 1909, with Capt.
ratlow as minister, the policy and work of the department was
altered, and more attention wes given to meking commercial ex-~
hibitions of fruit and in pressing for better freight rates.

In 1909 the departﬁent wasg reorganized into branches, each of
which was placed under the aupervision of gqualified experts.
9his policy has been continued and‘further developed undér suc-
ceeding ministers, particularly under Ww. J.'Bowaer, rrice
£llison end E. D. Barrows

fhe prairies early proved to be & natursl market for Bri-
tish Golumbia fruit, and the settlement of the prairie provinces
greatly stimulated the fruit-growing induastry. Shortly after
the completion of the Cansdien rseific kailway smell shipments
of frult from the fraser valley were made to Winnipeg, dbut it
wag not until the 1890°‘as that regular shipments of fruilt were
made by expresa.lo These shipments increased steadily. dIn

9. Gosnell, K. E., B. C. Year Book, 1911/1914, p.233
10. ibid, p.235. | |
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1904 the shipments of fruit ffomwFraser Valley points through

the Canadisn racific Railway were as followe:11 '

Office No. of packages Veight
Abbotaford 439 11,198 lba.
Agassiz 117 1,674 1lbs.
Chilliwack 6,363 134,842 1ba.
Hammond 12,619 299,336 1lbsa.
Haney 3,116 72,789 1bs.
Migsion 13,576 333,876 1lbs.
Veatninster
Junction 464 11,935 lbs.

1t has been imposaible to follow these statistics in subsequent
years, for the figures since 1912 include vegetables With fruit.
The development of the fruit-growing industry in the Lower
Heinland during the last quarter century is indicated by the
following figures, showing cars of fruit produced in 1913 and
in 1935. (1913;is the earliest year in which comparable figures
are given. 1935 has been taken rather than 1936, as weather
conditions in the latter yesr were responsible for very poor
yield of small fruits.)

Cars of kruit Produced in Lower Meinland 1913 and 1955.12

1913 19356
Apples _ 17.0 cars 89.8 cars
Cherries 2.9 cars 7.3 cars
Pears 2.9 cars 7.5 cars
Plums and rrunes 13.3 cars 63.8 cars
Strawberries ' 11.7 cars 440.4 cars-
Raspberries 30.1 cars 94.8 cars
Blackberries 13.0 cars 30.4 cars'
Loganberries) 46.5 cars
Bush-Lruits) 2.4 cars 22.4 cars

Bagis -~ Minimum weight per car: Apples snd pears,l5 tons
balance, 10 tons

11. Pamphlet: "Land and A@riculture in Britiseh Columbia",
' 1904, p. 4b.

12. ramphletsa: Agricultural Statistics, 1914, Victorisa, p.30
Ibid, 1935, p.16.
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with the development of the vkanagan Valley as an apple-
producing'region, the fruit-growers of the rraser vValley have
ceasged to be partieularly interested in that phase of horti-
culture. Although & good deal of experimentel work was done in
the early days in regard to most suiteble varieties, it was
goon apparent that apples from the interior valleys of Kritish
Columbis surpassed those grocwn at the coast in size, colouring
and flavour. As & result meny of the older orchards heve been
neglected.

The trend in horticulture has been towards a high degree
of specialization as certain districts were proved to be es-
pecially adapted for growing certain kinds of fruite. with a
atrongly competitive market the aim has been to eliminate
varieties which were failures and to improve exiating varieties.
A8 2 result of this poliey, the Chilliwack dietrict ise speéial-
izing in cherries while the bench lsnds of mission end Maﬁié |
ridge are well-adapted to the growing of strawberries and rééb;
berries. A southern exposure and light, well-drained soil
give to these latter districts the distinet advantage of being
able to market their crops at least & week earlier than other
gections of the valley. 'the o0ld adage about the esarly bird
getting the worm applies particularly to the grower of straw-
berries.

rthe cultivation of the strawberry plant in the rraser
valley began about 1880, but these were mainly for domestiec

consumption. When 1t was discovered that it was possible to

ghip to the prairie market, several varieties were tried out.
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The magoon soon proved its superiority as a shipper, and con-
tinued the favourite for sbme time. During tﬁe last few years,
1t has been superseded by & new variety, the British Sovereign.
Yhe latter has become very popular owing to its superior flavour,
and it is quite the equal of the magoon &8 a shipper. |

During the war, the price 6f atrawberries rose to the un-
heard-of figure of 20¢ a pound. ‘he resultant increase of acre-~
aée:planted to strawbérriee during the post-war period was
noticeable. But the law of supply and demand soon brought the
- price down, and the average price during recent years has only
been about one-third of the peak price. Wwithin the last deceade
increasing markets, improved shipping fecilities, and co-oper-
ative marketing have tended to increase the acreage.

vhe latest development in marketing hss been the discovery
of a special process for preserving berries. Thie hes resulted
in heavy shipments of processed berries in barrels to the jam
factories of the British Isles. 1n this process, the berries
are treated to & solution of sulphur dioxide gas (80p), calcium
powder being added to harden the berries. une gallon'of golu-
tion to two gallona of water are ussd in & barrel containing
350 pounda of berries. No longer doea the grower suffer from
the vagaries of loeal canners,'when he has to dispose of surplus
berries. In 1935, a good crop year, approximately 50% of the
total crop of 4404 tona of strawberries was menufactured.
Nearly one quarter of these manufactured berries, viz., 538 tons,'

were processed in 80p. Growers received six or seven cents
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per pound on- the British market for these berries. o

A noticeable feature of late years in the strawberry in-
dustry has been the remarkable increase in the number of Jap-
anese growers. At least 80% of the berry-growers in the Maple
Ridge Dietrict are now Japanese.14 ItAis probably due to the
>féct that the Japanese aré more willing to undertake the.arduous
task of clearing and cultivating the bench lands. Then, %00, -
the problem of getting experienced pickers for a short sesson
has alwayse been a difficﬁlt one. The qapanese'gféwers, usually
with large families, undertake the work of picking as a family
project.' 'he children early become inured to, and adept in,
- the  back-breaking work.

The white grower todey confines his attention mainly to
the growing of rasterriés, loganberries, blackberries and
rhubarb, though even here he is fuced with the prospect of serious
coﬁpetition from the Japansse.

The following table indicates the development of the small
fruits industry since 1920, by showing the acreage of each in
8 two-year period. Thege figures ars supplied by the Horti-
cultural Branch of the bepartment of Agriculture, and apply to
the Whole‘fraser Valley. ur. W. H. Robertson, ¥Provineial Horti-
culturist, i1s authority for the statement that the section of
the valley eagt of New Westminster produces apﬁroximately 90%

of the total.

13. Report of Dept. of Agriculture for 1935. p.l5.

14. ¥rom 1936 Survey by Department of Agriculture,
on Fraser Valley Berry Acreage.
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Lable of Berry and rhubarb Acreage
15

Surveys of 1920 to 1936.

Varietz. 1980 1922 1924 1926 1928 1930 1932 1934 1936
Acres AcreS Acres Acre8 Acreg Acres Acres Acres Acres

Straw- i, .2 5 1 3 23 5 1 3
k 1147g 1807 12733 12853 188024 1499T‘ 14167y 21037 24535

porries B 7 8 1 7 15 g 5
Rasp- oa ol o A
D es  868F 1747 18463 12918 9987 8507F B860fF 1037F 10947
Logan- 1022 2mg 477% 4555 B34  B4SE  B4O 3355 szeéﬁv
Black- 1 3 7o 1 5 3 1
boogigs 2048 253% 19515 13775 139% 10573 14523 134,:EZ 1251
Red 193 232 28 g3il 28 14l 3 29 3sk
Currants 2 Lo "B ) GE g 4
Black 1 7 1 11 7 11 1 3
currents - Ofe o1z 1183 11033 9% 737 B84 1667 2317
G00ge- 1 2 1 5 7 3 1 5 1
Goose- 39§ a2 al s 5525 555 525 922 961
| 1 7 1 1 1
embarb 855 96} 1;5IE 198} =288Z% s55% 365 5353 6533
Dairying.

At an early date, pioneer settlers established the fact that
the Erasef Valley offered ideal conditions for the dairy farm. A
mild eclimate, good water, and nutritious grasses are prime factors
in successful dairying and here was a valley that offered them all.

a8 early as 1868 the Chadsey Brothers, pioneer settlers in the

Sumes district, had put the industry on & commereisl basia.ls_
‘hey put their butter in hermetically ssaled tins, tranaported it
to the Ceriboo, and 4id & thriving buasiness with the luxury-
hungry miners 6f that district. Frrom that day the value of the

15. From reporta of biennial aurveys made by Horti-
_ cultural Branoh B. C. Department of Agriculture.

16. Howay, F. We - A sttory of B. C. from the Barliest
Pimes, le. II., p.593.
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dairy producte produced in the valley has increased amazingly,
-though mainly s8ince the beginning of the present century. It
weaa. estimated that in 1893 the Chilliwack, Sumes, and Popcum
digtricta produced_98;796 pounds of butter, but practiecally all
of this was “dairy“ butter, i.e., it was made on”thé farms.17
¥or gome yeafe setflément was toorsparse and the colleetion of
milk too difficult, to enmsure the successful operstion of
creameries.

The first creamery in the valley waa the Edenbank Creamery
at Sgrdia, near Chilliwack. '“whis well-known creamery, Which be-
gan operating in July 1896, was the outgrowth of a private ven-
ture by 4. C. wgua, one of the pioneer settlers of the Chilli-
wack Valley,"who hed been making butter and cheese on his farm
siﬁce about 1890. in 1896 the kdenbank Creamery qupany Limited
was incorporated as a cooperative coneern with A. G. wells as
the firat president. After six months{.operation, the first
‘report,shpwed that the total quantity 6f milk and cream re-~
ceived waa 474;824 pounds from which 26,790 pounds of butter
was made. After déducting all charges, y4,851:04 was realized,
with butter bringing an average price of 19.66 cents per pound.l8
This creamery was believed to be one of the first in wWestern
Canada to make payment to its patrone on the basié of buftér-

fat content as determined by the Babecock tester. The following

table will give an indication of the growth of this,creamery

17. tnglish, k. E., Problema of a Specialized Area -
The FKFrager Valley, Fart lv of Yhe Dairy Industry

in Cenada, p.218. .
18. Chilliwack Progress, January 20, 1897.
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- 8ince it began operating. -

rroduction of Butter at kdenbank Ureamerxllg

Year rounds of pButter Average rrice rer round
' {net to patrons)

1897 53,6058 : 20 cents

1900 107,615 gnot given)

1905 181,083 27.5 cents

1908 244,412 33 cents

kdenbank creamery continued operating'till 1926 when the new
utility ﬁlant at sardis was built, but the output of manufactured
products dropped congiderably in later years.

in 1902, the Chilliwack Cresmery, which served the neat
' Ghilliwack district, was established. ‘'his was also a co-opera-
tive concern, and soon surpaessed Edenbank in outpuf. In 1906,
the Chilliwack Cre%mery led the province in production of butter
with 248,513 pounds while Edenbenk was third with 216,160 pounds.Z®
Yhese creameries handled most of the milk produced in the Chilli-
wack valley, for difficulties}in rapid transportation prevented
much fluid milk from bging shipped to the coast cities.

Sma;ler eéreameries operating in the,Frasgq Valley in 1906,
with production figures were as follows: sumas, 40,192 pounds;
Abboteford, 15,000 iounds; Surrey, 18,700 pounds. 'he creamery
at liew westminster was handling the milk produced in_nearby"
municipalitiés, a8 tranaportation faeilities by boat made that
possible. The prevailing retail price of butter in that year

veried from 35 cents to 45 centa.2l

19. wable compiled from figures given in B.C. Government
Bulletins No. 10: *Land end Agriculture in B.C."
1904 and 1909. .

20. The Daily Columbian, CUct. 28, 1907.

21. Ibid.
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From 1910 on, ftwo importaﬁt factors changed the dairying
industry in the rFraser velley. One was the tremendous growth
in population of the coast cities. The other was the building

of the British Columbia rlectric Railway to Chilliwack in veto-

ber, 1910. The following table sahows the growth in population.zz
1891 1901 1911 1921 1931
yancouver 13,709 29,432 120,847 163,220 246,593

New westminater 6,678 6,499 13,199 14,495 17,524

The Safdis station of the B. C. E. R. was only a few yards
from the idenbank Oreamery;ﬁénd from the beginning s milk
gpecial® left Chilliwack at 6.15 p.m. arriving in Vanéouver e~
bout three hours later. This changed the entire operation of
hendling milk. ¥rom the manufacture of butter, the two cream~
eries immediately turned their attention to the selling of whole
milk and eream in Vancouver. This gave fetter returns to the
producer. 1In 1911 the average prices received by the farmer for
various products handled by the Kdenbank Creamery on the besis
of butter-fat content was estimated as follows: gour cream,
32.8 cents per pound; sweet cream 37.7 cents per pound; sweet -
milk 44.6 cents per pound; butter 30 cents per pound.25 In 1912,
the average price of butter-fat in cream was 38 cents per pound,

24

while that of milk had increased to 60 cents per pound. buring

the war years, despite a temporary decline in urban population,
22. Seventh Census of Canada, 1931, vol. I1, pp.8,9.
23. ‘The Chilliwack rrogress, march 20, 1912.
24. 1bid, merch 12, 1913.
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the production and the price of milk increased.

The dairy farmers of the valley early.realized that some
form of co-operative marketing was highly desirable. The first
attempt at this wds made in 1910, when the ¥raser Valley Milk
and G;eam Shippera’ Association was formed.zé As there was a

éomparatively emali number of producers interested in this ae;
gsociation, efforts were made to strengthen it. The Fraser

valley milk Producers' Association (F, V. M. P, A,) was accord-
ingly incorporated invl913, but wasa not actually organized and
oierating until ¥edbruary, 1917. 1t hasa thus recently éompleted
20 years of operations. The record of growth during this period

has been little short of phenomenel. iIn December 1917, the
membership numbered 847; ten years later it was 2703 while at

the end of December 1936, there were 4191 members. Yhese fig-
ures represent the number of share-holders in the Association,

but at present (1937) there are 2290 active shippers. <The ares
of operations, known to the trade‘as the "milk-shed"™ of Vancou-
ver, extends from North Bend to the Eacific ocean. '

According to the report of mr. A. H. ilercer, general mana-

ger of the association, given at 2 general meeting in February
1937, approximately 55,000,000 has been paid out in returns
to members during the 20 years of the association’s existence.
During that period 81,230,000 pounds of butterfat has been
handled, for which the farmers have received an average price

of 51% cents per pound.ze fhe higheat pricé for butterfat,

26. #nglish, K. E., op.cit., p.227.
26. Vancouver veily rrovince, Keb. 26, 1937.
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1.05 dollars per pound, was paid in the closing months of 1918,
while the price in 1934 reached the lowest point, about 27
cents per pound.

in 1916, before the orgénization of the assgociation, neor-
ly 2,000,000 pounds of butterfet were produced, for which the
farmer was paid 46 cents & pound. ‘the consumer paid 1l cents
per quart for milk and 40 cents per pound for butter. 1in 1928,
the produetion of butterfat had inecreesed to 6,000,000 pounds,
the produéer getting 60 cents per pound buttérfat while the
econsumer paid practically the same price for milk and butter.
This remarkeble achievement wes the result of & reduction in
the coat of marketing and handling, and shows what co-operation
can do.

Despite the growth of the assoeietion, the road was not
all plain sailing. Although some economies were effected in
1919 by & reorganization, prices slumped immediately following
the war. ‘The aﬁerage price per pound of butter-fat to the pro-
ducer dropped from 76 cents to 49.3 cents.27‘ rroduction was
increasing, end some producers beéan gselling to the fluid mer-
ket independently of the assoeietion. The ¥. V. MT . A, wag
thus forced to turn considerable milk into the lower-priced
manufactured products. iIn 1917 the association sold 80% of its
product ea fluid milk and cream, but in 1927 only 43% was thus
sold.z8 'he independent producers were quite evidently teking
edvaentage of the relatively stable'price of fluid milk to market

27. English, k. &., op.cit., p.232.
28. 1bid, p.234. |
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their produce at the higher retes.

A8 & result of some agitation, the provineial government set
up in 1988 the Milk Inquiry ﬁomﬁiseion to atudy and report on
the whole problem of marketing: After & thorough investigation,
the commission brought out its report cohtaining 63 recommenda-
tions 6oncerning the produetion and merketing of milk, but *the
core of the report dealt with the allocation of the aelling‘
price of the total product among the various jprodmcers."‘z9
Aftér some months of effort on the part of co-operative‘producers
“and opposition by the independents the government passed the
bairy prroducts Sales Adjustment Aet, which brought the sgelling
of milk under control on Jenuary 1, 1930. Later in the samse
yéar there was & $2,000,000 merger of milk distributing interests.
This took the name of Associated bairies and the.F. V. M. P. A.
held preferred stock yielding 7% interest. ‘

Control of the marketing of milk was short lived. (he in-
dependents, numbering nearly 600, organized themselves into the
independent Milk Froducers® Co-operative Associastion, and agitated
for repeal of the legislation. In 1931 the Sales Adjustment
Aet was ruled ultm vires by iir. Justice mMurphy. <The provincial
legislature in 1934 passed the B. C. Naturallfroducts umarketing
Act. In February 1935 the B. G. Lower kainlend Dairy Board was
formed, under which all producers were to register and procure.

& licence to sell milk. 'he Independenta fought this legialatioﬁ

and secured & Supreme Court injunetion egainst the Dairy Products

&9. knglieh, H. K., op.cit., p.236
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Board. ‘the whole isaue has been very much beclouded when in
Aggust 1937 the B. €. Court of Appeal declared the provincisl
Marketing Act intra vires, and the government extended the term
of the beiry rroducts Board. But only & small number of pro-
ducers, even of the ¥. V. Li. P. A., registered with the Board
by september 3, 1937 even though threetened with dire penalties
for failure by Ghairmsn W. J. Park.

The end of the struggleiis not in sight. +The (ndependents
are determined to fight compulsory merketing in any form, and
up to the time of writing (Sept. 1937) they have made good their
stand. Yhe danger would appear to be & long foolish fight in
which both sides might lose whatever advanteges they have al-
ready won.

Yhe production of milk varies greatly with the seasons.
buring the summer, the daily production handled by the F. V. M
P. A. amounts to 5,000 10-ga110ns cana, but during the Wintér this
dropa to 2500 cans. This output is handled by three main plents,
one in Vancouver, one at Delaire about two miles south-east of
Abbotsford,'and the utility plant at sardis, near Chilliwack.
‘he normal daily coneumption of fluid milk is 1000 cans, hand-
led by the vancouver plent. The plasnt at Delairg handles 8lso
1000 cans daily. ‘'his means that the utility plesnt at sSardis
must be prepared to handle the surplus of from 500 to 3000 cans
daily, apcording to the season.

This utility plent was built in 1925, and ranks as the

largest single creamery plant in Caneda. Butter and cheese are

the main manufactured products. ‘“Lhe yearly output of the former
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i8 nearly 2,500,000 pounds. Yhe cheese is Cheddar and is put
up in 5,10, 25, 40 and 80 pound moulds. Nearly hélf e million
pounds are manufactured yearly, and most of it is scld oﬁ the
local market. 1In addition about 2,000,000 pounds of milk powder
are produced annually. This finds & ready market on the prairies,
end some of it goes even to the vld Country. |

In recent years scientific research has made it possible to
recover by-products from what was formerly waste material. This
is particularly true in the dairying industry. wune of these
by-products is cheese whey. This makes & very satisfactory poul-
try food after it has been dried. fhe necessary equipment for
this is somewhat expensive, and the SBardis plant ships all its
available supply to Lynden, weshington. Casein whey, which is
& non-edible by-product, is now used in a variety of ways. It
ia a base for glue and paints, and it is readily manufactured
into buttons, knife-handles and other aimilar produets. mMmanu-
facturers of ply-woods have contracted for a large supply of
this product for use as sdhesives and it is probéble that other
uses mey be found for it. 1In addition to these by-products nesr-
1y 50,000 pounds of semi-solids are recovered yearly from butter-
milk and skim milk. This dough-like substance results when 75%
of the moisture is evaporated, and has been found very satis-
factory a8 a poultry food. UThere is very little waste in the
modern creamery.

The plant at Delaire was purchased in 1925 from the reci-
fic wmilk pompany and i8 used solely for the purpose of canning

evaporated milk which is so0ld under the original trade name.
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?he normal daily output of this plant is 1000 cases, each con-
taining 48 one pound tins. uwing to a novel and improved method
of gealing the cans in & vacuum, the milk will keep almost inde~
finitely.

The dairy farmers of the ¥raser valley have shown themselves
to be thoroughly progressive. Not only do they recognize the im-
portance of pure-bred stock of the best milking straina, but they
have also recognized the importaﬁce of eradicating bovine tuber-
culosis. 1In 1985 the federal government enacted legislation
which made it possible for districts or municipalities to become
fuberculosis-free areas througr testing by government veterinary
inspectora. Almost immediately the Kraser Valley as an area
applied for such & teat. The first test showed nearly 10%, or
4,000 animals, were reactors. “hese animals were slaughtered
but the owners received some measure of compensation from the
federal govermment. Subsequent tests have been made, eand each
has shown a marked decrease in the number of reactors. The
following table .shows the figures.zo

Bovine Tuberculosis Tests in Krager valley.

Year cattle leated neactors. rercent of reactors.
1926 46,174 3,643 7« 9%
1927 46,191 515 1.1%
1988 46,480 351 .76
1929 50,603 188 0.37
1932 66,746 407 0.6
1936 11,571 24 Incomplete

According to regulations, when the percentage of cattle

infected with tuberculosis in any ares does not exceed one-half

30. ramphlet: "Bovine 'luberculosis®, bept. of Agri-
culture, 1936, p.1l7. )
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of one per cent {0.5), the veterinary birector General shall de-
bélare such to be an *"accredited area® for a period of three
years, and when the infection does nét exceed two-tenfhs of one
per cent (0.2) it shall be declared an accredited area for a
period of slx years. Any arese not gquite up to these standards

is known as a *restricted area“. The test which is being carried

on at the present time, (1937), is likely, from known results,
to show & percentage'of reactors of less then one-half of one
per cent. ‘he purity of vancouver's milk esupply is well safe-
guarded. . |

Yhere is no single industry in the KFraser valley that
equals in importance that qf dairying. ''he herds of Holsteins,
Ayrshires, Jerseys and Guernseys to be found there are already
intéernationally famous. Any 8success which hes sttended the co-
operative marketing scheme is due to the homogeneity of the
area. <There are few other areas where conditions are so idesal
for dairying. Accurate figures as to production and total
value of dairy products previous to 1910 are diffieult to pro-
cure, but the following figures, in ten-year periods, show the
wonderful development in the dairying industry.5l Thege figures
are for the whole valley, but for the gsection east of Hew weat-

minster the figurea would be approximately 85% of the total.

Year No. of bairy c¢attle rounds Creamery Butter value
bairy rroducts

1912 12,500 825,000 $2,760,000

1922 24,700 1,134,500 $4,878,000

1932 55,000 2,608,500 $5,115,000

31l. from information supplied by ir. H. Kive, Dairy
Comigsioner for B. C.
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In spite of this growth there is ample room for expansion
of the dairying industry in the r¥raser Valley. British Columbisa
in 1936 imported dairy products to & total value of @2,549,160.52

Hop Growing.

- The climate and s0il of the eastern end of the yraser val-
ley is admirably suited to the production of a eplendid quality
of hops. At quite an ezrly date these hops had established an
excellent reputation among the brewers of Great Britain.®3 1hat
reputatioﬁ haa been maintained for almost_a half-century.

The first attempt to grow hope in this proviﬁce appsars to
have been made at Aldergrove about 1884 by mMr. John Broe.34 He
had come to the kraser Vvalley by way of the racific Coaast states,
and travelling up the 01ld Whateom “wrail, took up land at Aldér-
grové. Having decided to try out the posaibilities of hoﬁ-
growing, he purchased a2 supply of root stocks from ruyallup,
Weshington. ror a period of 14 years, bir. Broe grew hops, dried
them in a small kiln, baled them; and hauled them over the rough
réadsnto,ﬂew Westminster, in order to ship them to his market.
1t Waélfrom this pioneer plantation that the early growers in
Chilliwack and Agassiz got their supply of root stoéks.

The earliest of these groweras in the Chilliwack valley was
"heophilus bumvill, who planted in 1891 five acresa of hops at

sardie.zs in'1894, Mr. H. Hulbert, who had learned his trade

32. Agrieultural statistiecs xeport, 1936, B. C. bept.
of Agriculture.
33. wditorial, vaily Columbian, iew Westminster, may 19,1894
34. paily rrovince, Vvancouver, vct. 28, 1933.
35. The Chilliwack rrogress, march 28, 1891.
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in the hopriélds of Kent, arrived in the Chilliweck valley,
and determined to pursue his trade there. He puréhased 50
acres of land at Serdis from mr. A. S. Vedder, one of the pioneer
settlers, and built & well-equipped drying kiln. As a reault
of growing unsuitaedble varieties, iir. Hulbert at first exper-
ienced some difficulties. when this was rectified, iir. Hulbert
had no difficulty in disposing of his cropa at a good price.
In 1912 his fields produced a2 bumper crop of from one and one-
quarter to one and one-half tons per acre, nearly double the
average yield.

in 1903 the 1. C. Horst Hop Compsny of San rranciaco
bought out fhe Dumvill holdings in Ssardis, and incressed the

acreage to 250. An equal area was planted by this company at
Agagaiz, where plantings had first been made in 1892. By 1913

the acreage at both Sardis and Agasslz had been increased to
600 acres. No great increase in acreags was mede until land
"on sumag rreirie was available. ‘the Canadiasn Hop Company made
extensive plantings at that time on reclaimed land, which has
gince provéd its fertility. The John 1. Haas Company has be-
come, within the lest few years, one of the most important
producers.

The following table of hop production in British Columbie,
practically 211 of which is from the Chilliwack and agassiz
districts, will indicate the growth of the industry.
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Hop Production in British CGolumbia.
Acres Yield rrice Total
Year in ¢rop per sere Total yield per pound Vvalue

1913 611 1699 pounds 1,038,089 pounds 30 cents $311, 427

1917 333{(a) 810 269,730 50 $134,865
1923 507 1972 - 999,804 40 $399,922
1928 1049(b; 922 967,178 26 $251,466
1933 984 1502 1,447,425 23 $491,220
1936 1062 1509 1,602,800 58 $512,900

(&) small crop owing to very late spring.

{(b) increase due to completion of Sumas Reclamation
project.

vune of the features of the hop-growing industry has always
been the influx of hop-pickers during the late fall. 1n early
days, this picking was always done by femilies of indians who
came from far and near. rmxpert pickers made reasonably good
wages during the three weeks or so of picking. but it was no
doubt the social, rather then the financial, onortunities
which attracted them to the valley during hop-picking time. .
Not an evening went by without their engeging in iohg drawn-out
games of chance, accémpanied by rhythmiec c¢henting and béating
of tom~-toms. ¥or many yeers they had almost a monopoly on hop-
picking, but the years of depression broke this monopoly with
- the introduction of white people and Chinese.

Experienée has proved that the growing of hopa in the
Fragser valley is a profitable venture. with improved varieties

36. Table conmpiled from annual'bulletinS‘of Agricultural
. statistica wneports, vept. of sgriculture.
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of hops, more satisfactory sprays fbr}insect control, and better
methode of cultivation, the outlook for the future is bright.
here is no doubt that_hop-growing has become an established in-

duatry in the eastern end of the valley.

Dominion rxperimental KFarm, agassiz.

The mxperimentel Fesrm at Agasslz, situated on the north
gide of the main highwey end the Canadian racific xailway right-
of-way, is one_of twenty-gix farms operated by the Hederal
Governmenﬁ.. it is an importent link in one of the largest and
most comprehensive chains of experimental ferms to be found
anywhére in the world. The Agacsaiz farm is one of five original
_ farms established in 1887, and like the others its chief pur-
pose is to conduct experiments and researches bearing on the
egricultural industry of the pr(’wince.z'7

vhe property consists of 1400 ascree, 300 of which have been,
or can be, brought under cultivation. <the remainder is mountein
or bench-land, which was purchased to pfeserve the fine growth
of timber on it, and also to test the possibility of setting
out orcherds on the mountain slopes, where the situation other-
wice made 1t impossible to make use of the lsnd.

the late Mr. w. A. Sharp was the first superintendent,
holding the position from 1888 to 1911l. yuring this time a
specialty was made of horticulture by testing all kinds of
fiﬁité and vegetables, as well a8 nut and ornamental trees and

37. Bulletin: A Guide to lixperimental rarms
and stations: oOttewa, 1912, p.1l56.
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ghrubbery. "These early plantings heve resulted in the farm
being at the present time one of the beauty spots of the ¥raser
valley. 1t is a fine memorial te the work of mr. sharp. <he
lawns and shrubbery form a delightful setting for the buildings.
In the flower garden roses, bulbs, perenniale and nearly 100
varieties of annuals give & profusion of bloom from early
spring to winter. |

In 1911, with the appointment of mr. r. H. Moore, the

fundamental policy of the work was changed. It had been proved

by this time that other sections of the province were more
favourably situated for the production of certain kinds of
fruit than was the ¥raser valley. Accordingly, though the
valuable horticultural work was continued, the main project be-

came dairy farming, & line of work in which 1little had been

done experimentally, but which had become one of the chief in-
dustries of the velley.

¥rom the herd of pure-bred Holsteing started in 1912 with
the pﬁrehase of three cows and augmented in 1915 by the pur-
chase of three heifers, much valuable information about the im-
portance of good sires has béen gecured. The fine foundation
animals cost about $1600, but in 1924 one heifer cglf alone
was sold for $=000. The herd now numbers betweemn 60 and 70
enimele, and every member, with the exception of one sire, has
been bred and raised on the farm. in 1922, Agaseiz Segie lay
Echo mede & world‘s record when she produced 30,886 pounds of

38

milk and 1345 pouhda of butter fat in one year. Six yeara

38. Bulletin: The Urganizaetion, Achievements and
rresent work of the kExpetmental kasrms, Uttawa,
1924, p.284,
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later, Agesaiz rietje iInke Sylvie made a record of 29,012
pounds of milk, and 1257 pounds of butter fat. <These combined
records gave this Agassiz herd the distinction of being the
only one in the world, of any breed, to raise and develop two
cowa, each with records of producing over 1250 pounds of butter

39 This hérd wag also one of the first in

fat in one year.
Caﬁada to qualify as an accredited herd, when testing for tuber-
culosis was initisted by the redersl Government. Yhe entire re-
cord of the herd is & gplendid tribute to the excellence of the
valley for dairying purposes.

A considerable part of the milk which is produced ie used
for experimental worﬁ in cheese-meking, several varieties of
prime quality beinthaanactured. Skim-milk is used in raising
calves, pigs and poultry.

In sddition to the herd of Holstein cattle, the farm
specializes in Clydesdale horses, Dorset Horned sheep, and York-
shire swine. uany of the individual enimals have won highest
ewards in provineial and internationel stock fairs.

The poultry industry of the valley has received consider-
able impetus and valuable publicity es a result of the egg-
laying contests which started in 1920. ‘“Yhese have been of in-
estimable value to the poultry raisers of the valley. It was
here, in 1926, that the world-famous U. B. C. hen No.6 set a
then &orld‘s record of 351 eggs in 365 dayes. <This record has
since been twice surpasssed, once in 1930 by Mo Lrone 5 H, owned

by w. whiting of rort Kells, B.C., and in 1933 by vereen, owned

39. hecords of W. H. Hicks, Superintendent, Agassiz,
1935, 1936.
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by M. H. guttledge of Sardis, B. ¢. sach of these hens pro-
duced 357 eggs in 365 days, a marvellous record. A8 a result,
the poﬁltrymen of the valley have been called upon to fill
orders for eggs and stock worth many thousands of dollars.

Although the successes in animel husbandry have been the
more spectular, the work in fiéld husbendry has not been neg-
lected. During the summer, forage crops and cereals of many
- varieties are grown under different‘conditions for experimentel
.purposes. iYests on the many crops are carried out with various
fertilizers. 1In this way the quality and value of commercisl
- fertilizeras have been thoroughly tested, and much valuable
date adduced. Crop-rotation on the four-year Plan is prac-—
tised.

| une of the latest pieces of experimentel work is in con-
nection with rsspberriea. As theée are subject to seversl di-
seases ag well as winter-killing, the @im has been to find new
and hardier varieties. Some success has sttended the efforts
of thome working in this field.

Since 1916, ir. W. HA. Hicks has been the superintendent
of the ferm, and the successes which have attended the various
ventures have been largely his. Yhe motto of all the experi-
mental farms in Censda is “Service to the Canadien ¥armer¥,
Y'he service of the Agassiz.farm to the agriculturists of the

Freger vValley for almost half & century is unquestioned.

vuther rhases of Agriculture.

In addition to the products and industries already de-

scribed, there are many of minor importence which, nevertheless,
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have added to the agriculturel wealth of the valley. Lieny of
these have been contributing their share for somevtime, while
gaome are comparsatively new.

Stock-raising has slways beern carried on succesafully. Iin
the pre-automobile era, horses of both light and draught breeds
were in constant demand, and many fine snimals were bred and
raiged in the valley. Yhere were few farmers who did not
raise a few sheep and pigs, but not often did they go ihto this
business,extensively.

'he raising ofhfoultry, to0, in the early days was ususlly
a 8ide-line, but in recent yesrs there has beeh e. remarkable
development in this phase of agricultﬁre. y'his hes been mainly
the resgult of the egg-laying contests conducted by the Experi-
mental Farm at Agassiz. The production of eggs and the value
of stock has increased greatly in recent years.

In an effort to solve marketing problema, the poultrymeﬁ
of the valley, in 1919, formed & joint stock company under the
neme of the B. ¢. roultrymen's Gq-operative\ﬁxchange. Yhe
producere received satisfactory returns till 1924 when in~
creaged production resulted in lowered prices. Heveral members
of the Exchange begen to ship independently in the hope of
getting better returns. Following a meeting of the members, it
wag decided that the Exchange should go into liquidetion. 4this
wag put through with only & slight loss to the members.  In'
1929 another attempt at orgaqizing the poultrymen of the valley
wae made. The B. G. Egg and Foultry rool was formed, and in

-conjunction with similar organizations in the prairie provinces,
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& profitable business was carried on for two years. ‘“hen the
depreasion caused prices to go steadily lower, many became disg-
couraged and withdrew, and early in 1932 this organization was |
also forced to go into liguidation. 1t would seem as though
co~operative marketing of eggs, as of other products, ie an
ideal which breaks down in actuasl practice.

Another profitable side-line for the farmer is the keeping

of apiaries. C(lover snd fire-wced are abundsnt and produce an .
excellent brand of honey. 1In 1935, 1180 apiaries produced
5Q2;150 pounds of honey which s0ld at an averasge price of 15¢
per pound,.40 in this phase of agriculture Surrey has taken .
the lead. |

noot cropa of all kinds grow abundantly in the fertile
801l of the valley, but these in most cases are used in the
feeding of stock. rotatoeas have become an important crop, and
with the influx of urientals, this industry has been gradually
pagsing into their hands. Rrecent events have shown that the
gituation is fraught with difficulty. |

Une of the new crops is tobacco. <This was first grown on
the reclaimed land of Sumas rrairie, and acreage was greadually
being extended. An unlooked-for disaster in the floods of
1935 oceurred, however, and the crop of 264,000 pounds in 1934
was reduced to & mere 16,000 pounds in 1935. This industry ia
recovering, however. ‘Yhe 1936 crop was 123,000 pounds from 124
~acres or 990 pounds per acre, one of the best yields on record.

a s am e em Bm e mm e

40, Agricultural Statistica nreport, 1935.
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this year (1937) the total acreage was over 400 acres, with
more growefs then ever before but each with a smaller acreage.41
instead of the growers attempting to market their products in
the face of strong competition, the whole crop for the last
two yeare hes been cured here end sold to eastern interests, a
plan which promises much better returns to the growers.

 this chapter would be incomplete if no mention were made
of the importent part played by the ¥all Fairs in this record
of development. Fractically all centres of population in the

valley have orgenized, et some time or other, & Fall Fair.
Chilliwack hes the honour of having been the first to inaugurate

an snnusl fair. This was first held in 1874. Other munici-

palitiea followed sult, but not for some years later. 48 &
reault of the improvement in trensportetion facilities, the

tendency recently has been towards consolidation of some of the
smaller faira;
in meny cases, particularly in early days, there was not

any great number or variety of exhibits, but there was a definite

educational velue in them for the farmer. ‘he distriet fairs
were usually held late in August, and became merely prelimin-
eries to the annual rrovincial kxhibition at New Westminster,
which was sponsored by the xoyal Agricultural end industriel
society. 1t was there that healthy rivalry among the munici-
palities of the valley always brought forth a megnificent dis-
play of live stock and produce. 1t would be difficult to over-
estimate the important of the fall feirs in raising and main-

teining the standard of excellence now expected of Frager valley
products.

4l. ¥rom informstion supplied by mr. G.s.w.Clarke,
pistriet Horticulturist, Abbotsford,B.C.
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Chapter 1V

Further Economic Development

Although:primafiiy-an agricultural region, the KFraser
vVvalley i@ richly endowed with at least two other sources of
wealth, viz., timber and salmon. In addition therefore to the
development which was connected directly with agriculture, the
legitimate exploitation of these other resources has assisted
in no small measure in promoting the prosperity of the whole
valley.

Geolog}cally, the valley apparently holds no future for
the mining interesta. Undoubtedly there are some heavily min-
eralized areas throughout the district, but these are either
of low-grade ore content, or the coast of developing them is
prohibitiyq; Gold-bearing and silver-bearing quartz, coal,
copper-iroﬁ.ore and petroleum have &ll been found. Xver since
the 1890's &a good deal of desultory proaspecting has beén car-
ried on. As an example of that, the New Westminster Registry
office recorded the following claims in the year 1902.1 This
liat of claims is 2 good indication of the location of the min-
eralized areas. 'The claims were as follows:

Sumaa and vicinity- - - =23

Stave River -« = - - = = = 18
Herrison Leke - - - = - =~ 10
Chilliwagk= - - = = - - = 9
Whonnock=- - = - - - - - = 9
Pitt Lake = = = = = - = - 7

76

1. Seventeenth Annual Report of New Wegtmingter Board
" of Trade. Supplement, Laily Columbian, December,

1903.
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T"he only ares in which mining has aided the economic devel-
opment of the valley is the Mount Baker mining region. Yhis
lies juast south of Chilliwack, meinly in the United Stetea. The
main development has taken place in theat country, although some
mines have been worked on the Cansdian gide of the line. This
region wag only &accessible from the north, and after some agi-
tation by the merchants of Chilliwack, the government in 1901
built & road leading to the mines.z It was by means of this
road that the monthly cléan-up of gold was brought to Chilliwack
for shipment.5 All supplies and foodstuffs were taken in the
same way. A8 a result, the merchants and farmers have profited
For over 30 years bécause of a fortunate proximity to the niount

Baker mines.

Fishing.

Ever éince the founding of rort Langley, the salmon-fishing
industry has had an important place in the valley's economic
existence. The Hudson'g Bay Company, in the early years of
¥ort Langley, reeclized handgome profits from the sale of salted
gsalmon to the Urient and the Hawaiian Islaende. Upon the with--
drawel of the company this trade disappesared.

It was not until 1870, after some experiments in the can-
ning of salmon, that the first salmon cennery was built at

Anniesville, just across from New ﬁestminster.4 In this cannery

2. The Chilliwack Progress, July 3, 1901.
3. 1bid, January 12, 1922.

4. Manual of grovincial Information, 1930, p.l1l28.
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the cans were mede by hand on wooden cylinders, =and the fiegh
were cooked in the cans by boiling in large wooden Vafs. This
method proved 8o successful that by 1882 there were 13 canner-
ies on the traser River with an annual oufput'of 250,000 ceoses.
By 1901, the number of canneries had incressed to 48.5 'Thesé
plants were all established between New Viestminster énd the
mouth of the river.

Although there are six species of salmon thset are used com-~
meréially,_the most important one has been the sockeye. This
fish has alweys commanded the highest price because of its un-~
surpassed flavour and colour. I%te life-cycle is only 4 years,
end this facﬁ resulted in an exceptionally Hg run every fourth
year. The'growth of this industry ies shown by the following

table giving the sockeye pack in the "big run® years.

gsockeye rack on the Hraser River.6

Year No. of cases Year No. of cases

148 pounds) {48 pounds)
18856 89,617 1913 719,769

.1889 303,875 1917 123,614

1893 457,797 1921 35,900
1897 860,459 19256 31,523
1901 974,911 1929 60,363
1905 837,489 1933 43,745
1909 542,248 \ 1936 165,561

In the "big run¥ years the pack was mainly sockeye, but
in the off years a greaster percentage of the pack consisted of

springs, chums (dog salmonj, cohoes, pinks and steelheads.

5., Manual of rrovineial iInformation, 1930, p.129.

6. Wisheries Statistics of Caneda, vttawa, 1929,p.25§.
#igures previous to 1902 are total caeses, as species
were not separated, but they were practically ell

sockeye.
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There has been a serious depletion in the annual salmon
run during the laat quarter century. The last big sockeye run
wes in 1913. In that year, during the construction of the Can-
odian Northern Railway, the river was Dblocked at Hell's Gaée by
© 8 hugehslide of rock. As a result few salmon‘reached‘tha head-
waters of the Fraser to spawn. It was a disaster of major im-
portance to the‘salmon fishing industry on the Fraser. The de-
pletion, however, Waé aggrevated by the practice of United States
fishermen uwsing traps and purse-seines in the Gulf of Georgis,
while the river fishing was done by gill net. iIn spite of
‘numerous representations made to the federal govermment at Wash-
ington, D. C., the practice of using traps was continueduntil
1935. Recent years have proved that co-operation between Canada
and the united States is necessary if the salmon fishing in-
dustry ie to be saved. After many years of negotiation, a
treaty was ratified in 1930 by both couﬁtries whereby the Inter-
national racific Salmon wisheries Commission, with three mem-
»bers from each country, was given. joint control and operation
of the salmoﬁ fisheries in the #raser Hiver area and in con-

tiguous mainland and island Waters.7

Unfortunately this com-
mission has not yet begun to function owing to the dilatori-
ness that has cheracterized the united states rederal Govern-
ment in all negotiations over this metter. slthough the Can-
" adian comﬁissionefs have been anpointed for some time, the

United " States hag failed to app01nt thelrs.8

7. Menval of FProvincial Information, 1930, pp.129,130.

8. Information supplied by Major J. A. Motherwsell, Chief'
Superv1sor of Fisheries for B. C.
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In an attempt to ma;ntéin the sockeye run in the Fraser
Rifer; the Dominion Government placed incressed restrietions on
fishing. 1In addition hatcheries have been operated for almost
the Wholé preriod under review. ©Seven hatcheries in 211 were
operated on the Freser River watershed, four of them being on
the Lower Fraser. The first of these hatcheries, located at
Bon Accord near New Westminster, was established in 1884. Tﬁe
Harrison Lake Hatchery was opened in 1905, and during the war
additional hatcheries were established st Cultus Lake (1916)
and at Pitt Leke (1917). Bon Accord had been closed in 1915.
The average annual release of sockeye fry, estimated over the
period of their Operation, was as follows:9

6,180,572

Bon Accord- - - -

Harrison Lake - - 14,585,100
Cultus Leke - - - 4,815,581
Pitt Leke - - - - 5,483,926

Considereble criticism aroae during post war years con-
cerning the need of hatcheries in this province. Theére appear-
ed to be no evidence to show that the benefits derived justi-
fied the annual expenditure of approximately $100,000 on them.
Accordingly the Biological Board of Canada, which is the
scientific research branch of the irederal Department of ¥isher-
ies, was asked tg conduct an investigation into the salmon-
hatching methods as practised in British Columbia. This branch
then took over the Cultus Lake hatchery for a ten-year period

to conduct the necessary experiments. The report of this board‘

9. Information supplied by Mejor J. A. Motherwell.
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was made last year, and a8 a reéult of the recommendations
therein, the department decided to close 21l salmon hetcheries
in the province as from 1956.10 Cultue Leke hatchery, however,
was to remein open till the end of 1937 to complete necessary
investigation. \Vihether the Work of the hatcheries was partial-
ly responsible or not, efforts to restore the salmon run have
had some measure of sucéess, for the sockeye pack in 1936 was
the biggest since 1914,11 |
Particularly in early days the salmon-canning industry

was one of great importaﬁce to the settlers of the valley. De-
spite the location of the canneries, the section of the river
above New Westminster was a favoured spot for sockeye fishing.
An early government bulletin on MMaple Ridge Muhicipality re-
cords the fact that “the salmon fishing industry employs a
great part of the population in the.summer time."lz; Some of
the fineat sockeye fishing on: the river was to be found be-
-tween PFort Langley and Whonnock. gome record catches have been
made there, as many as 25,000 fish at one ceat being made. At
that date many fishermen made their headquarters at Fort Lang-
ley during the salmon run.la FPigures showing the number of re-
gidents purchasing fishing licences in the early days are dif-
ficult to obtain, but in 1901, & record year, at least 197 1i-

10. Infdrmation gupplied by Major J. A. Motherwell.

11. See Table of Sockeye Pack, supra, p- 8l. |

12. Land and Agriculture in B. C., 1903, p.86.

13. British Columbian, New Vestminster, Sept.l17,1910.
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cences were purchased by resideﬁts of the valley between Brownsa-

ville and Harrison River.14

Of these 30 were residents of Fort
Langley and an equal number Wére from Whonnock. The average
numbér of licences over & term of years would be nearly 200, ac-
cording to Mr. R. W. McLeod, Supervisor of Fisheries at New
Westminster. No doubt as a regult of the record catch last ysar,
nearly 300 licences were taken out this year by residents of
the HFraser Valley living ezat of New \WWestminater. A reaident
ia a British asubject with at lesst gix monthe' residence in the
valley.15 Only such persons can get a 1icencé to fish between
the bridges at New Weatminster and Mission. Any fisherman
living below the bridge cannot obtain & license to fish above.
As a regult, fishing between the bridges is restricted 40 bone
fide residents of that stretch of the river. .To fishermen on
both sections of the river, operations are restricted to the
five days beginning 6 a.m. Mondey to 6 a.m. Saturday.

¥From reliable sources, it is learned that the sockeye run
was a God;send to the settlers along the river. Although these
farmers had no difficulty in growing a good deal of their food,
they depended on the fishing to provide them with some ready
cash. It was a poor year when they did not make $500 or $600

for their summer's work. The canneries used to send 2 scow '

14, Thie information obtained from old Register of
licences in office of Supervisor. of Fisheries,
New Westminster, B. C.

15. Japanese may take out licences, if they are natur-
alized British subjecta. Their quota, however,
has been restricted to 400 licences since 1922
(Duff Commission). Practically all Japanese fisher-
men live at Steveston.
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up the river each day for the cafch. If the run was é good one,
each fisherman was restricted to a quota, and he did not need
to be out more than two or three days to get his guota. But
whetever the number of days he Gas away, 1t generally devolved
on the women and children to do the farm Work'during his ab-
sence. Getting in the crop of hay or potatoes was the lot of
the pioneer women, if their mgn-folk were fishing.

Despite the serious depletion in the sockeye run, the re-
turns are juast as remunerative today, if not more so, than in
the days of the big runs. Then the fishermen paid $10 for his
licence, but since the year 1922, these héve cost only $1.16
In earliexr years too, theicanneriee paid the fishermen very
little. 1In 1901 it was 10 and five-eighta cents per fish._17
qu the last 20 years, the canneries have paid from 50 cents to
60 cents a fish.

It is unsafe to meke any predictions as to the future of
the salmon-fishing industry. The cateh of 1936 has raised
hopes that some measure of restoration has come but it ia too
early as yet to accept it as facf;ls But whatever the future
holds, it is evident that the lot of the pioneer farmer in the

¥raser Valley would have been a much more difficult one if he

- 16. Report of B. C. Fisheries Commission, 1922, p;19.
17, Annuel ¥isheries Report for 1901, Ottawa, p.XXXV1.

18. Vancouver Deily Province, Sept. 22, 1937. The only
figurea available are for the whole province. The
sockeye pack for 1937 was 518 637 cases; in 1936
it was 403, ,717 cases. .



(_»8'? )

had not been able to depend on the rich annual harvest from the

river to supplement the harvest from his fields.

Lumbering. ‘

It is difficult now to estimate What.the quantity of mar-
ketable timber in the Fraser'Valley Was, previous to settlement
there. A conservative estimate would be at ieast 20 billion
feot Bf M.lg Much of this consisted of valuable stands of
Douglaé fir, red cedar and hemlock, the most readily accesa-
ible .of which have long since disappeared. One of the last of
these great stands was the famous "Green Timbers,” about five
miles east of New Westminster. Thrdugh it ran the Pacific
Highway. Desplte strenuous efforts to save this stand 28 a
permanent scenic attraction, practically all of it has been
logged off during the last decade (1927 =~ 1937). Forest fires
and land clearing operations have also taken toll of a great
deal of valuable timber, but the goveranment policy in recent
years with regard to reforestation arouses some hope that the
vélley will not ve entirely denuded of its forest wealth.

the lumbering industry in the ¥raser Valley has been under
‘the control of the federal government. When British Columbia
joined the confederation in 1871, the province agreed to give

g2 atrip of land 20 miles on each side of the railway, in con-

-y wm e e e

19. Canada and Its Provinces, Vol. 22, p.b07ff:
Mr. A. C. Flumerfelt, Chief Forester for B.C.,
egtimated (1914} total stand of lumber in
railway belt a8 40 to 50 billion feet.



(88)

gideration for the building of thé Canadian Pacific Railway.
This strip, 40 miles wide, extended from the Alberta boundary
on the east to a line running just ezst of Jew Weatminater
(Scott Rozd and quth road), and the eastern shore of the north
arm of Burrard Inlet. The Bailwsy Belt was conveyed to the
Dominion in 1883, and was so administered until August 1, 1930
‘when it was returned to the province.

All the timber on unalienated land in the Railway Belt
could be acquired under licence or under permit, mainly the
former. Dominion timber licences were so0ld by auction, the
holding value of the timber.beingvrealized by way of = cash
bonus at the time of sale instead af an annual rentsl as in
the provincial gystem. West of Yale there was an annual rental
of five cents per acre, and a ~royalty on all cut timber of
50:.cents per M feet B.‘M.zo This was cheaper than the systen
of licensing by the province, and together with the fact that
timber berths in the railway belt were easily accessible and
close to the railway, it is easy to understand why they had
the preference from an inveator's point of view.

Exact figures as to the cut of lumber in the Rai%Way Belt
are not available. Barly records are for lumber on which
royalty was collected, and are for the whole belt, not any one
section. The inclﬁsion or exclusion of variouns forms of forest
products such a8 shingle bolts, poles, piling, fence posts,

ties, cordwood, ete., for which other standards of measurement

20. In 1919, the rental was increased to 10 cents
per acre, and the royalty to one ddlar per M.
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than board feet are used, complicates the cdmpilation of statis-
tics. Different methods of gcaling the cut were used at differ-
ent times. The following table, compiled from various sourcés,zl

is as accurate as it is possible to meke it, and indicates the

steady growth of the lumbering industry.

v

Revenue and Cut of Lumber in New Westminster Section

(Railway Belt) 1885 - 1930

Conversion Factors: 1 cord - 500 b.f.; 1 lineal foot - 5 Db.f.

Year ' Revenue Lumber cut Shingle Poleg,Piling
M.b.T. Bolte - Lineal Zfeet

_ corda

calendar 1885 ——— 6,748(=a) -—— ———
Fiscal 1889-90 $ 4b5,845.09 16,684 -—=- ———
Fiscal 1894-95 24,927.18 10,042 356 —_————
Fiecal 1889-1900 27,688.54 £9,684 881 ————
Fiscal 1904-5 71,079.27 21,368 7,282 ——
Fiacal 1909-10 126,351.23 93,858 - 15,454 40,261
Fiscdl 1914-15 89,2877.34 67,642 33,680 117,425
Fiscal 1919-20 128,137.72 86,073 47,400 125,360
Fiscal 1924-85 330,670.46 186,697(Db) 30, 204 203,454

Fiscal 1929-30 298,737.18 184,215(c) 20,192 2,143,378

{a) Lumber cut and revenue up to and including 1910 is
from entire Railway Belt. Mr. E. Walmeley, Crown
Timber Agent et New Viestminster for nearly 25 years,
eatimates the cut in the k¥raser Valley as 40% of the
total. Wigureg for year 1915 et seq. are for New

- Veatminster Division, extending as far east za
Jorth Bend. :
(b) Cut is for calendar year 1925.
(c) Cut is for calendar year 1929 - trensfer of Railway
- Belt on August 1, 1930

2l. Whitford, H. N. and Craig, R. D., Forests of British
Columbia, Ottawa, 1918.
Annual Reporta of Yimber and Grazing Lands Breanch,
Department of Interior, in Sessional rapers.
014 ledger containing Department of Interior's
Scalers' Returns 1925-1930.
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When the transfer of the Réilway Belt was made -in 1930,
the bulk of the marketsble timber had been teken off. It was
estimated that the province had scqguired six billion feet of
atanding timber, in addition to the mining, land and fisheries
rights. Revenues 1in dues, fees and leases were worth nearly
$500;000 a year.gg It hes been impossible to get exact figures
for the lumber cut in recent years, since they are not segra-
gated from the total figures for the whole coast distriect.
There are still s8ix or seven mills operating in the valley, but
they are small. The stands of accessible timber are mainly a-
round the Harrison Leke and in the Chilliwack River districts.

To the farmer and rancher of the valley, these great standé
of timber were a detriment rather than an asset. He wanted the
land for crops and ag there was very 1ittle sale for timber
until about 1910, he was forced to burn it up. Millions of feet
of the finest fir, cedar and hemlock were thus deatroyed. Some
of it was used for fuel, and if there was & emall mill near-dy
he could get his lumber for house or barn. But in the main it
- wag simply an added difficulty in clearing the land. vnly a
few were able to profit from the sale of timber on their pro-
perty, and they were fortunate enough to be near s sawmill, or
were able to save their stands until a late date. With the
construction of the B. C. Electric Railway in 1910 there was
an increased activity in iumbering. In Langley'alone at this

22. British Columbian, August 6, 1930.
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time there were 8ix mills operating, with an estimated cut of
700,000 feet bem. 2 mom:h.g5 Not only wes it much easier to
ship lumber to tidewater, but the milla near the railway were
able to inastall electric power to run their mechinery.

One of the featurea of the lumbering industry in the early
days was the number of small mills operating under permit.
Phese would be get up in a good atand of timber and remain in
operation for a few yeesrs or until such time as the lack of
timber made it necessary to move. These mills were mainly
cutfing for local trade. Une of the first of these in the
eagstern end of the valley was operated by Messrs. G. L. and
H. G. Street and R. E. Barker in the Sumas district. It was
begun about 1892 and continued for over 10 years, cutting about
3,000 feet daily.24 About the seme time there was & mill in
Langley operated by the Liurrasy Brothers.

vne of the largest mills in the British Empire is situated
within the former kailway Belt. This is known as the Kraser
1ills, esbout 2 miles east of New Westminater. It has a total
fronﬁage of nearly one mile, and has a capacity of 350,000
feet at a single shift.25 Logs from the ¥raser Valley were
uged extensively about twenty five years ago but in reéent
years practically a1l the logs come frbm Vancouver Iéiand.

The lumbering industry has played a moat important part
in the economic life of the valley. 1t has not benefitted the

23. British Columbian, September 16, 1910.
24. Informstion by Mr. C. L. Street, Chilliwack.
25. Vencouver Morning Sun, March 31, 1925.
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settlers s directly as has the fishing industry, but it has
offered stesady employment to a large number of men. With a
policy of reforestation much can be done to meintain this in-
dustry a8 a permanent one though the original forest has now

largely disappeared.

Fruit Canneries.

The esteblishment of fruit canneries at several centres
wae & logical development of the fruit-growing industry. rion-
eers of the Chilliwack Valley are unanimous in the oﬁinion
that & large quantity of fruit rotted every sesson because of
leck of famcilities to market it. The first attempt to cope
» With this problem was mede at.Cﬁilliwack in 1891.26 The
Fragser Valley Fruit Cannihg Company operated & plant.in that
year under the menagement of G. Melhuish. In the first season,
inspite of & comparatively poor crop, 1000 cases of fruite and

vegetables were put aown.27

These included jems, Jjellies,
canned fruit and gerden products. An exhibdit of these products
wes made up and shown at fairs in eastern Canadien cities,
where it ﬁon very favourable preise: This cannery was operated
for three years, and though the mnenager claimed thet it was
closed because the farmers were sending inferior fruit,28 the
likelihood is that there was not sufficient surplus fruit to

keep - the plant in operation. Huch of the fruit at that time

wes being shipped by steamer to the victorie market.

26. Chilliwack rrogress, April 16, 1891.-:
27, Ibid, October 8, 1891.
28. See Editoriel, Ibid, April 25, 1894.
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The next venture in Chllliwack was begun by the Chilliwack
Cenning and rreserving Company about 1908. It too lasted about
four years. rrofiting by mistazkes made earlier in puttﬁng down'
fruite end vegetables which were not readily éaleable, thia
company had an especlally satisfactory year in 1910. iive tons
of assorted fruits were handled daily, mainly cherriea, agtraw-
berries, raspberries and blackberries. In addition a carload of
white beans and five tons of rhubarb were handled, and & con-
giderable quantity of applé cider manufactured. 1In &l1l, over
12,000 cages of fruit were put down that year by a staff of
15 emplo:;ree:s.'?9

The canning of fruit is no longer of msjor importance
since tranaportation facilities offered by the railways have
improved. As a general thing, the canneries get only surplus
fruit.after the rrairie and Coast markeis have been supplied.
¥resh fruit, ghipped in especielly refrigerated cars, reach
even the Winnipeg market in good condition, and naturally com-
mends a better price than canned fruit. There ia one amall
canning plant today at Sardis,zo but the latest development is
the factory for canning corn operated by the Broder Canning
Company ‘of New Wesgtminster.

AAs the centre of the small fruits district, Mission hes
probably been most active in the fruit canning industry. In

29. British Columbia, September 3, 1910.
30. uperated by Mr. H. W. Storey. In 1936 his output

waa three and one-helf tons of fruilt and six tonsa
of vegetables.
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1911 fhe first cannery there‘waé established by.the Kootenay
Jam'Compaﬂy. The pack éonsiSted meinly of jams angd jéllies,
and the fruit hendled included 15 tons of strawberries, 20 tons
of ragpberries, 45 tons of rhubarb, 5 tons of gooseberries, and

8l pnis plant wes leter bought by the King-

5 tons of currants.
Beach Manﬁfaeturing Compahmiandzconeiderably enlarged. It was
operated very sﬁccessfully for some years, its products being
marketed under the well-known trade name of "K;B?g About 1928,
this plant was operated by the Farmera’ Canning Company, but
the familiar "K-B" trade name was retained. At present this
plant is being oPérated by the Cenadian Cenners (Western)
Limited, & natioﬁwide organizatién, whose products go on the
market with fAylmer“ a3 a trade-neme. The presert pack of
fruits and végetablés in this plant amounts to over 100,000
cages annﬁally.

Uther canning establishments of thie district include =
jem factory operated by the Pacific Co-operative Union; the
Northcote Brothers jam faétory; the plent of the Associated
Berry Growers at Hatzic; & processing plant of the Fraser Valley
Fruit Growers which ships processed berries to Great Britain;
end the plant of the Deﬁdﬁéyaahdbérb Asgocietion with an
annual output of 45 carloads of rhubarb,52

Fruit growers who live in seétions of the valley near‘NeW

Westminster make use of the canning establishments in that city.

3l. British Columbian, Sept. 11, 1911.

32. From information supplied by Board of ‘Trade,
Mission, B.C.
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| Thug the history of the fruit canning esteblishments cover
practically the whole period of development during the last
half-century. It is legitimate to assume that such canneries
will be as necessary to the fruit-growers in the future a8 they

have been in the past.

Fur-Farming.55

A valuable sddition to the industrisl activity of the val-
ley during the post-war period is the increasing number of
those who are going in for fur-~-ferming. It affords, too, a
most interesting commentary on the economic fluctuetions which
haeve taken place aince the founding of Fort Lengley in 1827
by the Hudson's Bay Company. The traditional policy of the
'company was the control of the fur"trade, but it is a matter
of record that this trade at Fort Langley soon became of minor
importance. It was from the fisheries and the farm that the
greatest profits were made. '“Through the years these industries
have retained their pride of place. Almost a century later),
furs have again become a source of livelihood, albeit in.a
mennsr that would never have been conceived“of by the chief
tradera of 0ld Fort Langley.

The success of the fox-farms in Prince dward Island hes
probably led to this development, for it is a noteworthy fact
that some of the pioneers in this new valley industry were men
who had come to British Columbia from Ceznada's smallest pro-
vince. Although the climate of the KFraser Valley was thought

33. From information largely supplied by Mr. ¢. H.
Robertson, Rogedzle, B.C.
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at first to be not so suitable ag that of the colder eastern
provinces in producing good fur,_some experienced fur~farmers
now claim that the reverse of this is true, Cold winter climetes
tend to produce a thick but coarse fur. ‘Animals raised in the
more temperats, moist climate of the coast regions have a finer
and glossier coat. Though this cleim may not as yet have been
incontrovertibly proved, it is true that fur-farms in the val-
ley are incresaing in numbers, énd the present demand for furs
far exceéds the supply.

There have been failures of course in this new industry,
but meinly in the ranks of those who went into it on é large
scale with a great deal of capital spent‘on equipment. Those
who took it up as a sideline to other forms of farming have
been able to profit from mistakes that were made at first:. Fox-
farming waa evidently the firwt phase of this industry but ex-
periments have been made with other animals, notebly mink,
rabbits, muskrats end raccoons. Efforts to raise the latter
three have 8o far been unsuccessful and most of the present day
farms go in for raising foxeé or mink., It is more difficult
to raise the former, but of course the successful breeder makes
greater profits Wi%h foxes than with mink. Pelts from mink
bring ten dollars to thirty dollars according to size and con-
dition. A gdod pair of mink for breeding purposes will bring
100 dollars or more, and the present day demand for foundation
gtock is brisk. Withvfoxes there ia more variebility in color

and in marking. Consequently there is more range in the price
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of fox pelts, 35 dollers to 100 dollars or more for superior
specimena. A good pair of foxes for breeding purposes would
bring up to 500 dollaré on the present market. Most of the
peltes obtained in the valley 80 to the Vancouver market.

Mr. C. H. Robertson, of Rosedale, wag probably the ploneer
. in fox-fsrming in the Chilliwack Valley. He begen operations
on a smell scale in 1924. He hes been guite successful as a
breeder of foxes but is firmly of the.opinion that fﬁr—farming
88 a side-line to dairying is the ideal plen.

Undoubtedly there is a bright future in this industry for
thoéé with the necessary patience and intelligence to handle
such animels as the fox and mink. There are fur farms today at
Laidlaw, Rosedsle, Sardis, Cloverdalé,lkiigard and on the Paci-
fie Highway in Surrey. The indust;y has alreedy shown consider-

able expension.

Other Industries.

For many years Clayburn on account of its brick end tile
faectory has been an important industrial centre. This plant
began operations about 1907, and has made very satisfactory
progress éince that time. The company chiefly manufactures
building brick, fire brick, vitrified sewer pipe and drainage
tile. The company, the Clayburn Company Limited, has ample de-
posits of high-grade fire cley in Sumss Mountain.

After operating for over 20 years at Clayburn, the company

planned in 1928 an inportant program of extension.?4 1n 1919

~ e we e e

54. British Columbian, Oct. 9, 1928,



(98)
they had teken over & plant at Kilgerd, which had been closed '’
down during the war. Kilgard proved to be more accezgible to
the clay deposits, eand the plans of the company call for ulti-
mate concentration of the plant at Kilgerd. At the present time
both plante are in operation. A brick and tile plent has also
been in operation in Port Haney for the last 30 years.

Clayburn and Haney bricks have been used in many of the
1argest buildings in Vancouver and the lower mainlend. Brick
and tile products from these Fraser Valley planta have establish-}
ed & gound reputation, both as to price and quality, among the
contractors of the lower mainland.

A comparatively new industry has been established by the
Western Peat Company and is an interesting example of what can.
be accomplished along new lines by initiative and enterprise.
This company's first plant is to be found on the Pacific Highway
at the intersection of the Hjorth Road, in close proximity to
the peat lands. Here the peat is dried{ cut, and bound resdy
for market. It is extensively used by poultrymen throughout
the whole racific Northwest, nearly 70% of the total output
being 20 usged. It is put on the floor of poultry houses for
geratehing purposes and has been found much superior to atraw
for that purpose. Asperagus growers in California use it ex-
tengively in shipping;55 For this purpose the peat is cut into
slabs one-half inch in thickness. The slabs are sosked in

water and used a8 a bese for the bundles of fresh asparasgus.

35. Veancouver Daily Province, August 22, 1936.
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The asparagus is then pre-cooléd and can be gafely shipped
bractically anywhere.
The maneger of the company, Mr. E. E. Carncroas, estimates
that they have enough peat land adjoining the Pacific Highway
for five years cutting and en additional ares on Lulu ILsland

which will last for 30 years.

The industrial development of the Fraser Valley is not
confined merely to those plants which have been mentioned in
this chapter, and which are located in the area eaat of New
Westminster. Within the immedieste environs of that city are
many mills and factories, many of which depend on the Eraser
Valley for thein;réﬁ materiale. Among these are peper mills,
lumber mills, box factories, creamerieg, breweries and abattoirs.
For some years a fire menufacturing plent wag loceted a2t Port
Coquitlem. The trenscontinentsl railways meintain their re-
pair shops and roundhouses in the velley - the Canadisn racific
at Yort Coquitlem and the Cenadian National at the original
terminus of the line, Port Mann. All these have added their
quota to the record of industrial development in the Frager

Valley.



A panoramic view of Sumas Lake
before reclamation, March 25, 1922.

A panoramie view of Sumes rrairie
after reclamation, August 28, 1927.
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Chapter Vv

1

The Sumss keclemation rroject.

The project of reclaiming and draining the lands ot the
Sumas prairie area from the flood waters of the rraser Hiver
was one which challenged the attention of fafmers, engineers and
Pinsnciers since the 1870°s. frobably no other project in the
history of the province heas excited so much agitation for 80
long a period of time. sScarcely a year went by during that
period that did not show & record of much time, money and énergy
spent on the project. 'In common with meny auch difficult enter-
prises, the early history of the plan is strewn with failures
and abortive attempts to get the work started. It was not until
1919 that the provincial government, through the Land settlement
Board, took hold of the work. Wwith the completion of the pro-
ject in 1926 came the reslization of the long-deferred hopes of
fﬁexfarmers of the valley, end the a&dition of some 30,000 fer-
tile acrea to the agriculturel resources of the Kraser Valleyv
end of the province.

Yhe earliest record of this scheme goes back to 1875 or
1876 when some considerstion of it wag given by the %ate lisut-

enant-governor, the Honorable kdgar Dewdney, who hed previously

1. information for {thie chapter was mainly obtained
from & special report for the provincial legis-
lature prepared in December, 1926, by the Lend
settlement Board acting es byking Commissioners
for the Sumas prainage, Lyking, and Levelopment
bistriet. 1in addition private papers of Hon.k.D.
Barrow were used. Iir. Bruce bixon, Uyking in-
spector, 2180 kindly supplied information.
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mede & survey of the whole district. ‘he matter appears to
have first taken on definite form in 1878 when the provincisal
government through the “Sumea uyking Act, 1878* authorized Kllis
Luther Verby to carry oﬁt the work of dyking aﬁd draining cer-
tain lands in the Chilliwack, Sumes and matsqui districts. in
retﬁrn Derby was to receive certain taxing privileges on lands
which were to be benefitted and which had previously been crown
granted, and also a grant of some 45,000 acres of government
lands in Chilliwack and Sumeas.

there are emendments t0 the above-mentioned act, dated
1879, 1883, -1885 and 1888, which f=ct would indicate that the
scheme was 8till of lively interest but there is no record of
Verby or of anyone else heving actually commenced construction
during that decade.

About the year 1890, the problem of draining the area be~
came greatly complicated as & result of one of nature's prenks.
‘'he Vedder Kiver, which previouély hed followed the present
inck-a-kuck channel through sardis, cheanged 1te course from
Vedder*s crogsing, and flowing northweaterly, emptied into Sumas
Leke. 4Yhis proved to be & mixed blessing, for the silting
action méde more fertile the lake bed soils even though the
difficulty of reclaiming the Sumas aree was meterielly increased.

The next step wes the organization of two companies to re-
claim sumas, one in 1891 and the other one year later. ‘he

former accomplished nothing, but the latter incorporated as

the sumas kReclsmation Company, appeared to have been the first

to have actually done some construction work. ‘'he primcipal
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shareholders in this company were C. A. ﬂolland, H. 5. mason,
J. A. Lumsden, and »¥. lumsden. ‘‘hey were given the right to di-
vert the vedder to its old channel, but any work whi;h was done
at that time wes subsequently sbandoned.

In 1893 the districet was orgenized under the *“Drainage,
Dyking and Irrigetion Act", and Donald MeGillivray, J. L.
Atkingon, wW. A. Maher, and Aga Ackermen were appointed as Com-
missioners. ‘“heir first important act wae to enter into an
agreement with Mesars. Keefer and Smith, engineers, to carry
out a.survey and make plans fof the reclamation. These engin-
eers had done work for previous companies and were already in

possesgion of considerable informetion. Thelr survey was com-

pleted early in 1894, and on petition of the commissioners, the
“Sumas Dyking Act, 1894" was passed by the legislature, giving
thé commiasgioners authofity to darry on work undertaken by pre-
vious companies. They endeavoured to finance the undertaking
by asking the government to guarantes bonds to the extent of
$340,000. 'he government would not accede to this request, but
did agree to guarantee the interest on bonds up to §18,000,
which amount had already been expended on surveys snd prelim-
inary work. The commissioners got into further financisl dif-
ficulties, and beca@e involved in a law suit with Keefer and
Smith, 28 & result of which 2 receiver was appointed by the
cburt. The *Dyking Debenture Act, 1897% provided for the pur-
chase by thehprovincial government of the vistrict of Sumes
bonds smounting to $18,000, and in this way the financisl af--
fairs of the district were atraightened out.
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Among the later development pfdjects, the firet of which
there is definite official record, is that of Mesers. Lewis
and Hill, of seattle, who, in 1905, made surveys and prépared
completed plans. A new board of commisegioners was appointed
snd at a meeting of property owners on september 17, 1906, the
propoged plans end estimates were passed by & vote of 103 in
favour, 53 against. The commissioners then addressed & memor-
ial to the federal government, requesting thet all cerown lands
be made subject to assessment. As this condition was consid-
ered essential to the success of the plan, the refusal of the
pbepartment of the Interior at vttawa to accede to the request
caused the abandonment of the plan.

In Mey 1908, K. R. Glover, manager of the British Columbisa
Klectric nailway, appeared before the commissioners with plans
prepared by J. Eraneia Lebaron and assgociate engineers. The
reilwey company at that time was constrﬁcting ita Fraser:Valley
line, and was extremely desirous of encduraging the development
of the Sumas landa. However, the andon Board of the company
.4id not approve of the undertaking, and it was therefors
dropped. ‘

| The Pominion Stock and Bond Corporation, Ltd. of Vancouver
was the next concern to attempt the project. In Qctober 1910,
the property owners approved of the scheme by the neceszssary
mgjority vote, and an agreement was drawn up between the com-~
misgioners and the corporation. 4Yhis company did not proceed
with construction work within & reasonsble time, and when the
cormiggionsrs refused an extension of time, they dropped their

plan.
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In April 1911, L. M. Ricé and Comﬁany of seattle, com-
menced negotiations with the commissibners. buring the sum-
mer the company carried‘out gurveys, prepared plans, and en-
tered into an asgreement with the commissioneras. But it was
‘not till January, 1913 that the land owners ratified the plans
and agreement by & vote of 104 in favour to 37 againat. This
company had trouble in financing their plans and never actually
made a start atcomstruction. War intervened and though the
company was granted an extension each year ﬁill 1916, the long
hoped-for fulfillment of dreams waa once more deferred.

1n August and September 1917, several copies of a petition
were circulated thrbughout the district.for the signatures of
landowners. Those who possesaed 87%% of the value of the land
'agreed to sign. Thia petition gave the description and bounds
of all landa in the district, and requested that the Land Set-
tlement Board be appointed as cormissioners to carry out the
drainage and dyking of the distriet. It alao contained the as-
seased value, acreage and description of the property belonging
to each signatory, together with his sddress and date of sign-
ing.

The last meeting of the old Dyking Commissioners was held
on vctober 1, 1917, after which a2ll papers, agreements, maps,
ete. pertaining to the Sumes project together with unpaid 1li-
abilities to the amount of $13,365.79, Wwere turned over to the
Lend Settlement Board. A month later, the owners appointed an
advisofy board of the sSumas Dyking Distriet, the members of

which were R. N. S. Cresswell, ¥F. Fooks, J. L. Atkinson,
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A. Campbell, W. T. Blétchfbrd and C. E. Eckert.

on February 4, 1918, order-in-council No. 1369, approving
of the resignations of the commissioners and appointing the
Land Settlement 3oard to £il11l the vacancy caused by auch resig-
netions, wes pessed.

A preliminary meeting of the Board was held on April 18,
1918, at which several engineers and agaociates submitted plans
and estimates for the propoased reclamation works. However, the
commigssioners wers given authority to carry out an independent
investigation of the acheme at an estimated cost of $10,000.

H. C. Brice and W._C. Smith were appointed engineers to carry out
this préliminary investigation. All available information that
could be secured as a result of previous surveys waas placed at
the disposal of the board's engineera.

in Fébruary 1919, the engineers submitted & preliminery re-
port which was placed before & meeting composed of the members
of the Land Settlement Board and of the Sumas Distriet Advisory
Board. After careful consideration, this meeting instructed |
the engineers to carry on the work and complete the plans and
specifications for the work. About this time H. C. Brice died,
and Mr. F. N. Sinelair, C. K. wag appointed to act in conjunction
with Mr. Smith.

The pian referred to above was known as the Brice-Smith
plan. But after ur. Sinclair's appointment a decided difference
of opinion arogse between the fwo engineers and when the finel
report was submitted in April 1919, it took the form of two

distinct plans and estimates; one; the Brice-Smith plan, spon-
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sored by Mr. Smith, and the other, commonly referred to there-
aftdr as the Sinclair plan, presented by uMr. Sinclair.

On July 15, 1919, the protagonists of eacﬁ plan appeared
before a special meeting held in the Legislative pBuildings in
victoria. ilembers of the provincisl government, the Land Set-
tlement Board and the Advisory Bpard vere present. Lach engineer
exvlained his own plan and estimates in detail. As a result, a
consulting engineer, Mr. €. E. Cartwright,C. E., 6f Vancouver,
wes appointed to study both plens with a view to recommending
the more suitable one. In October of that year, Mr, Cartwright
mede his report in which he favoured Mr. Sinclair’s plan. Ac-
cordingly Mr. Sinclair was formally appointed as éngineer of
the sumaa Dyking Distriet on October 28, 1919. oUn November 24,
1919, a meeting of the property owners was held et Huntingdon,
B. C., to hear the report of the engineers and to record their
vote on the whole project. At this meeting, the minutes show
that the Honoursble John Oliver outlined the poasition of the
provincial government in regard to the whole project, the fol-
lowing words being especially emphasized: "The provincial
government 18 taking no responsidility whatever for this schems,
understand that clearly. Mr. Cartwright made & report explain-
ing his reasons for preferring the Sinclair plan. He was fol-
lowed by ir. Sineclair, who explained his plans and estimates,
and gave a figure of §1,500,000 as the cost of the project. A
ballot was then taken by the property ownera aa to the advia-
ability of the reclamation of the distriet. Yhe result of this

vote showed thet those owning 86% of the assessed value of the
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land were in favour of pfoceedihg with the plan.
Advertisements calling for tenders for the project {earth
and bridge contract) were inserted in the press on Jaﬁuary 22,
1920, the time 1imit for receipt of tenders being set for ¥ebru-

ary 25 of the same year. seven tenders were received by the

conmigssioners before the expiry of the time limit. uf thess,
three tenders, submitted by Jones and Rant, Rex McArthur Company,
end Lomas and McDonald Company, were not considered as conditions
of ihstructione to bidders had not been oBeerved, and the neces-
gsary certified eheqﬁe for 5% of the bid did not accompany the
tender. The other bids were as follows:

¥ngineer's estimate for unita covered by contract - -3980,244.95

l.'Northérn Congtruction Company - - - = - = = - « $1,587,657.00 -
alternative 5% on $1,271,859.00.

2. racific Conatruction Company~ - - - - - - - - =31,525,819.62 -
cost plus 10% only.

3. roundation Company of B. C. Ltd.- = = = =« = - =3 950;186.57 -
cost plus 10% only.

4. marsh Bourne Construetion Coe = = = = = - - - «51,182.062.99 =~
' alternative plus 5%

As all of these bids were considerably higher than the
engineer's estimate, and as some firms had agreed to revise
their figures, it was decided to ask each of the four firms to
submit a revised tender, which was to be in by merch 18, 1920.
The figures in the revised ténders, however, were the same as
the originals, with the one exception that the Northern Con-
atruction Company had reduced their bid by approximately $300,000.
In addition to the above contract, the engineer also sub-

mitted @ list under the heading *“Contracts to Let"™ as follows:
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bDamga and Plant - - - - - - = $285,000.00
Ditehing = = = = = =« = = - - 60,000.00
Right-of-way - - = = = = - - 24,000.00
Feneing- -~ = = = = = = - - - 22,730.56
bExtra Work - = = = = = = = - 30,000.00
Engineering- - = - ~ - - - - 98,0284.49

Total - - -§$519,755.05

This total of $519,755.05, added to the earth work contract
estimate of @980.244.95 made up the ehgineer‘s estimate of
$1,500,000 as placed before the property owners the previous
November.

After careful consideration of the tenders, the commission-

ers felt that they had no alternative but to recommend that
the tender of the lowest atraight unit bidder, that of the
Marsh Bourne Construetion Company, be accepted. Before doing
80, however, it was thought advisable to call another meeting
of the owners. ‘'his was duly helﬁ at Huntingdon, B. C., on
Mareh 27, 1920.

The minutes of this meeting show that epproximately 80%
of the property owners were present, and that a vote taken re-

sulted in a decision to carry out the contrset by 102 for, and
6 against. This was done despite the faet that mr. Sincléir's

original estimete of 1,500,000 had been increased by $300,00C.
As there was some guestion of the validity of the commis-
gioners’ actions, in view of the number of previous enactments
concerning the same projéct, it waa considered asdvisable to
draft enabling legislation to clear up eny doubte on the mat-
“ter. Accordingly, the Legislature passed the “Sumas Drainage,

Dyking and Development bistrict‘ActF on April i?, 1920. By
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this act, all former plans, surveys, contraqﬁs, etc. were an-
nulled; the appointment of the Land Settlemegt Board as byking
"Commissioners was ratified; all acts of the Board in connection
with contracts were validated; and provisions made for the fin-
encing of the project and for preparation of sssessment rolls.

The Land Settlement Board was re-organized in April 1920,
and became & one-man board with Col. H. D. Da&ies ag sole
member. The board's status as Dyking Commissioners for the
Sumas Dyking Diatrict.was not altered by this fact.

Yhe contract with the Marsh Construction Company, Limited,
(Mr. Bourne had withdrewn from the original company) was signed
on April 29, 1920. This provided for the completion énd de~-
livery of the work on or before the 30th day of June, 1922,
and also provided for extra work, not covered by the tender but
done under the order of the engineer, to be paid for at actual
cost plus 10%. Mr. Sinecleir was appointed s chief engineer
othhe'project ags from the date of the signing of the contract.

Congtruction work was actually begun om August 30th, 1920,
when a dragline excavator commenced work on the McGillivrey
interception ditch. The contractors soon found themselves in
financial difficulties over the purchase of plant and equip-
ment. In November the enginesr compleined that arrangeménts
in regard to the commencement of work on the largeét single unit,
i.e., the Vedder dykes end canal, were unsatisfactory. 1The con-
tractors were given till January 1, 19281 to make adequate pro-
vigsion of machinery, fsiling which their contract was to be

cancelled.
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Reorgenization of the Marsh Construction Company took
place in January of 1921. wmMr. J. K. Duncan beceme president of
the firm and undertook personal responsibility for the financing
and general management of the company. Improvement in conditions
followed. Kquipment was borrowed from an americsn construction
company on & profit-sharing bagis. :An electric power line was
built across the prairie to supply power end light for the
machines, and also to supply the pumping plants when installed.

On June 21, a communication was received by the commisgion-
era from Mr. Buncan, claiming inability t0 proceed with the
work through leck of funds. Yhe Land Settlement Boerd then
took over all financial arrangements, and for the next two years
‘paiﬁ all approved billa on the strength of the monthly progress
estimates. some criticism was directed the board for this pro-
cedure but it must be pointed out that time was of parsmount
importance, for property owners had mede strong representations
to the board to complete the vedder kRiver caral before the flood
period of 1922. the contractors were therefore retained in
order to carry forward the work as speedily as possible. ‘“he
board was secured‘againat,possible monetary loss, since they
hed full control of 211 mechinery, equipment, and monthly pro-
gress estimates.

The 20~inch electrig.suction dredge *“Colonel Pobin" was
leased from the ruget sound Bridge and predging Company of
seattle, end during september and uctober exceedingly rapid
progress was made on the canal project by this dredge. During

the last two months of the year the work was seriously hampered
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by severe weather conditions. The sngineer and the board made
representations to the contractors regarding additional equip-
ment to hasten the work, and in March two additional suction
dredges, the "Robson" and the "King Edward" were gecured. By
April 7th, 1922 the éomplete diversion of fhe vedder River into
the canal had been stbained.

In iMay the MeGillivray Creek pumphouée wes completed.

This formed a protection for the East Prairie section, i.e.,

all lands east of the Vedder Canal. *“his section contains near-
ly 8000 acres, a large proportion of which had always been sub-
jeet to annual flooding. ''he high water of 1922 was held back,
however, and the lands in this area have been available for
cropping since that time.

The dykes to protect the West Prairie section were also
practically completed before high water, but the problem of
demming up Sumas River was still incomplete when an early and
exceptionally high freshet in May destroyed conatruction work
cogting nearly $50,000. The West Prairie section was flooded
a8 usual that year.

buring the summer the building of the permanent main dam
and pumping station for the Weat Prairie section was carried out
on & cogst basis by the Mersh Construetion Company. Ir. G. P.
Moe, assistant engineer to Mr. Sinclair, designed and superin-
tended all construction work on this particular cantract. The
main pumping station, one of the largest of its kind in Cansda,
has four large pumps with a combined capacity of 1000 cubic

feet of water per second, or over 450,000 gallons per minute.
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buring the winter of 1922-23 the work on the mein dam wag
pushed forward as rapidly ss possible. ‘“he necegsity of rushing
the work added materially to the cost as compared with original
estimates, but it was felt that no expense should be spared in
the effort to keep out the 1923 high water. '“he dam acrosa the
sumas River wasa closed onvMarch 29, thus completing the Wwest
rrairie protection system in ample time. ‘“his section of the
dyking system stood up well under the pressure of the 1923 high
water.

T'he reclemation of sSumas Lake 2nd the proper drainage of
the whole area gtill remzined to be completed. #Ihe first pump-
ing unit was ready for use at the erd of June, and pumping was
actually begun on July 4. |

At this time the commissioners decided to tefminate if pos-

-8ible the contract with the Mersh Construction Company as all
the large units undexr the contract had been completed. fThe
smeller units that remained to be done had been sub-let to the
Northern Construction Company. Accordingly the éommissionere
took over as completed the principal units from the contractors.
phe units affected by this arrangement included the following:
the mecuillivray Creek Interception vitch; Vvedder Canal and
Last and west vedder uykes and protection work in connection
therewith; North and South vVedder bykes; rraser River bLyke;
Atchelitz Lyke; Vedder Seepaege bitch and Barrage bUyke; Sumas
river Dyke, etc. wun all but one of the above mentioned units
the yardage and consequent cost was very grestly in excess of

the engineer's original estimate.
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A reorganization of the engineering stsff which took place
about this time resulted in nNr. ¥. N. Sincleir being relieved
of his duties as chief enginegr, end Mr. G. P. Hoe being ap-
pointed in his place.

buring the remsinder of 1923, work on the minor units was
continued by the Northern Construction Company. Yhe engineering
ataff carried out & contour survey of the whole district for
essessment pufposes. trass seed was sowed on 211 the finished
dykes end the fencing of dykes and Qanals wag carried out under
separate contract.

By sgreement dated August 8, 1923, betweén the lederal

2
Government a8 Vendor &and the rrovincisl Government as rurchaser,

the “Lake Lande® were turned over to the province. Briefly
the éonditione of sale were &8 follows:
1. A nominal sum of $1.00 to be paid.
2. vhat the lande shall be effectively reclaimed.
3. That when reclaimed they shall be offered for sale
on fair and equitable terms.
4. ''hat the Comptroller of water rRights of the pro~
vince ghall certify as to their having been effect-
ively reclaimed.
b. That the necessgary surveys shall be carried out
at the expense of the purchaser.
6. *hat the province of British Columbia shall assume
complete responsibility in connection with the terms

of the agreement.

2. he “Lake Lands* were owned by the rederal Government
because they were in the railway Belt.
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A schedule of lands, approximately 12,120 acfes, waea atteched
to the agreement.

buring the spring of 1924, some 600 acres of the lake mar-
ginal lands were plowed znd seeded to vearious crops, and about
6000 acres of lake bottom land vere gseeded to timothy. <vhe .
laest of the water remsining in the Sumes basin was pumped out
on June 26, 1924. ‘he dykes stood the high water of that year
without demage though there was some seepage which resulted .in
e small amount of damage to crops.

However, in the main the crops that year turned out very
well considering that none of the land had ever before been
broken up. vats and wheat on the marginal lands ran half & ton
of grain to the acre. rirst crops on the lake bed proper werse
not a success ag the ground was not properly dried out and the
801l appeared to be lacking to some extent in nitrogens

An unforeseen and unfortunate contingency arose a few

montha after the lake bottom was drained when it was found that
& dense coating of willow aeed practieally all over the former

lake bed began to sprout and grow up. <This growth of'willows,
flourishing in & remarkable menner under ideal conditions of
growth, choked out most of the timothy and presented for some
time a problem with which it was most difficult and expensive
to cope.

Some legal difficulties’also aroge during 1924 to harasss

the commissioners. ‘There arose the problem of terminating the

contract with the Marsh Construction Compeny. 'he company made
claims for extra work done in dredging in the spring of 1922,

while the commiasioners made counter-claims for non-observence
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of the terms of the contract and for work not completed accord-
~ing to contract. <These matters were finally settled by agree-
mgnt in November 1925 when both'of the‘parties agreed fo drop
their respective cleims. BMr. Sinclair, after his dismissal,
also instituted legal proceedings against the commissioners,
claiming $60,000 in payment of plans and information which he
alleged had been used by the commisgioners and which properly
were his peraonal propertye. When this suit came to trial in
‘February 1925, ir. Sinclair was awarded the sum of $35,000 by
the court. 'The Board commenced eppeal proceedings, however, and
eventuaily ur. Sinclair agreed to settle his claims for %21,500.

The transfer of crown lands to the province waa completed
on April 1, 1925 when the Comptroller of Water Righte granted
the certificate which was required eccording to the terms of

agreement. ‘phe title was obtained from the federal government
in July, 1925.

In May, a writ againet the Lsnd Settlement Board and the
Dyking Commissioners was issued by the Municipslity of Sumas,

acting on behalf of the Sumas landowners, asking for an account-

ing and an inquiry into the whole of the reclamation work. As

a result of this writ, the provincial government considered it
advisable to place the whole matter before the Agricultural
committee of the Legislature during the winter session of 1925.
After lengthy hearings at which all interested parties were pre-

gent, the *sumas Drainage, Lyking and Development bListrict Act
Amendment Act, 1925% wag drawn up. The main provisions were

ag follows:
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1. Authority to transfer cr&wﬂ lends to commigsioners
and conditions of transfer.

2.€Repaymentﬂof expenditures made by provinée on devel~
opment of lake lands.

3. Provision for securities of monies borrowed for &ll
purposes at Sumas.

4. Granting power to commissioners to improve and dispose
of lands.

b. Providing method for levying of taxes end validation
of assessment roll.

6. Validation of all scts of the conmissioners.

7. Provision for appointment of Lnspector of bDykes as
Dyking Commigsioner in place of the Land Settle-
ment Board.

This act was passed by the Legislature on December 19,1925,
and in accordance with the sbove section, Mr. Bruce Dixon, In-
spector of Dykes, took over as from Merch 10, 1926, the duties
of Dyking Commissioner for the Sumes Drainage, Dyking and Devel-
~opment District. Mr. Moe's work ha%ing been completed, he left
the service of the district.

In accordance with the act, & Court of Revision was held
during 1925. ‘“here were upwards of 125 objections heard and
dealt with by the Court of Revision and the Assessment Roll was
amended in sccordance with the court's rulings. 12 complainaents

appealed to the County Court Judge against these rulings. Two

of these were upheld by the judge; one was allowed in part and
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the rest diemissed.

Yhe basis of this assesament roll as amended by the Courtf
of Revision and by the County Court judge was the division of
the land into 10 classificationa, "A" to "XK" inclusive, each
class bearing its own proportion 6f the cost for capital and
maintenance sccording to benefits derived, Benefits derived
were based on the elgvation of the land &8 regards bush, with
the exception of "K"; which was subject to tax for drainage
only. 'he act authorized levies on capital account against the
merginal lands at the full capital cost per acre but at in-

" ecreasing rates of interest, viz., 2% for the first year and in-
creasing at the rate of % of 1% per year until the normal rate
of 53% would have been reached, then capitalizing unsatisfied
intereat charges and incressing the levy to accommodate the
greater debt as well as sinking funde requirements.

Levies for 1926 and 1927 were made under the authority of
the 1985 Amendment Act, but the present commissioner reviewed
the assesgment structure just prior to the spring session of
1928 and pointed out the severity of the charges. A study of
statistics compiled by the Department of Agriculture of the
Univeraity of B. C. from actual farms surveys over a period of
years._ in the Chilliweck district, together with the findings
of 2 commission wh;ch had investigeted United States reclam-
ation services indicated that the greateat construction charge
which an scre at Sumes could bear was $43.53. LHrom this the

figufe of $50.00 per acre was arbitrarily adopted. Accdrdingly
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the '“"Sumas Drainage; Dyking an& De;elopment Distriet Relief
Act;:1928" wag enacted. 'he following table givesthe congtruc-
tion charges which were affected by that act, and by amendments

passed in 1929 and in 1936.

Construction Charges perx sCre.o

Clasg- Prior relief Act Amendment  Amendment
‘ification to 1928 1928 1929 . 1936
B. $153.96  $50.00 $50.00 $30.,00
c 136.85  50.00 ~ 50.00 30.00
D 119.75  50.00 0.00 25.00
E 76.98  50.00 %0.00 25,00
¥ 61.58  50.00 30.00 25.00
G 41.06  30.00 0.00 25.00
H 25.66  20.00 20.00 20.00
I 15.40  15.00 10.00 10.00
3. 10.26  10.26 5.00 5,00
K 5.99 5.99 5.00 5.00

This act however limited the acreage to be made subject to
relief to an 80 acre holding. It provided that if the funds
arising out of the sale of the iake area and the réduced con-
struction charges were not sufficient to meet the indebtedness
of the digstriet that the full amount of the insﬁfficiency should
be chargezble to and repaid out of the Consolidated Revenue fund

of the provincs.

3. YA" classification was the lake bottom land
against which no construction charge waa levied.
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An amendment act 1929 repealed the Relief Act of 1928 and
extended the relief which it had provided by deleting the 80
acre limitation. The last mentioned enactment is the latest
authority concerning the indebtedness upon private lands. In
addition it provides for interest at the rate of 5i% per annum, 4
and for the retirement of the debt on Janusry 1, 1969.

Levies for the years 1928, 1929, 19320, 1931 and 1933 were
on fhe ébove basgia. An.Amendment Act 1933 postponed the levy
on this account for_1932; and a similar smendment in 1935 pro-
vided for a poatponement of the 1934 capital levy. 4“hese post-
ponements have been continued each year up to the present (1937).

| An Amendment Act 1930 provided for the levying of mainten-'
ance assessments against these lands at = definite rate per
acre. These rates in the case of "AY classification amount to
$2:00 per acre per year, for “B" and "C" clessifications they
are $1.10 per acre pef year, for ¥D" to "G" classifications %o
56¢ per year, for YHY, "I" and "J" classifications they are
27%¢ per acre per year. 'he commissionenafelt that this system
wasAunsatisfactory a8 they were required to meet maintenance re-
quirements, which were always far from definite, from these set
levies. Accordingly, at the laat session of the legislature
(1926), an amendment was passed which gave the commissioner
power to levy annually whatever assessments were necessary for
the purpose of maintenancs.

4. fThis was reduced to 4%% at the 193% session of
the legislature.

btatuteg of Brltlsh Columbisa, 1936 (Second segsion)
1 Bdward V11l ec.ll.
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The total indebtedness of the Sumas Dyking District to
the Lsnd Settlement Board es shown by the books of the Dyking
Commisgioners as at derch 10, 1926 was $3,716,277.85. Items
which totalled $851,616,28 were not in the engineer‘'s estimates
at all, one item of &540,811.26>being accumulatidn of interest
at 5%% per annum. There is no question that the engineer
greatly underéstimated the amount of yardage necessary in the
project. Increased costs in this respect were over half a
million more than the ;gtimate. Bridges which were estimated
at $13,619 cost $26,683, practically double. The greatest
apread, however, 28 between estimated and actual costs occurred
in the item "Dams and Plant™, where the estimate was $285,000
and the actual cost $793,997.58, more than half a million on
this one 1tem alone..

There is no doubt that the engineer had based his estimates
on insufficient data. Subsequent events proved this concluaively.
However it wes neceasary to bBuild a plant which would take care
of meximum floods without trouble snd which would stand up to
the work perhaps for centuries. |

As a reault of the excesaive cost of the scheme over the
estimated cost, severe criticism was levelled at the government,
and considerable misunderstanding srose and perhsps still exists
regarding the Provincial Government's relstionship to the pro-
ject. The late Premier Qliver, during whose regime the work
wés carried out, persistently maintained his stand that the re-

lationship was simply that of mortgagor and mortgagee, and that

the district must pay évery cent of its dedbt.
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Looking over the project after a decade since its reclama-
tion,'there isa no doubt of the beneficial effects which this
reclamation work has had on the Fraser Valley. Twenty years ago
there lay an 8000 acre area of mud and water too shallow for
navigation and probably too deep for the comfort of the duck
hunters who were the only ones to get eﬁen a few days use of it;
In addition it was probably the finest breeding ground in the
whole Dominion of‘Canada for mosquitoes. Today there exists
aa fine 2 stretch of farming country as the eye could wish to
gee; with excellent soil, ample water supply for all purpodases,

8 splendid system of drainage, c¢loge to transporﬁation and only
50 miles from an urban community of nearly 300,000 people. It
is difficult to conceive of any farm lands in North America

more favourably situated.
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Chapter V1

Land vettlement

The rich lands of the Fraser Valley have attracted settlers
for the laat 50 years. ''he price of land has been comparatively
high.l This'has to some extent retarded settlement, but it hag
also attracted only the most pfogressive of the newcomers. In
1907, a government bulletin records the pricefof unimprofed
land in the ¥raser valley at from five dollars to twenty dollars
per acre, while reclaimed (dyked) land so0ld at from 40 dollars
to 150 dollars per acre.z Phree years later, during the pre-
war "boom" period, these prices had considerably increased. Un-
impréved land was then selling at from 10 dollars to 50 dollars -
per acre while reclaimed land ranged trom 50 dollars to 250 dol-

o]

lars. In Sardis, in 1910, s section of A. C. Wellas' farm, cut

off by the Britiash Columbia Electric Hailwey right-of-way, was
gold in acre lots at a top price of 600 dollars per ecre. Thias
was of course well-cultivated land suitable for residential pro-
perty. In 1927 two lots in the heart of Sardie, containing one
and one-quarter acres, was bought for a church site at a price

4 _
of 1000 dollers. In 1912, farm lands in Dewdney suitable for

1. It 1s difficult to make comperisons with prices of
land in similar areas in Esstern Canada. In 1833,
the Canads Company sold 100-acre parcels of lend in
the "Huron Tract" at an average price of seven ghil-
lings six pence per acre.
See Innes, M. Q., An ‘Economic History of Canada, p.137

€. B. C. Bulletin No. 10: Land and Agriculture in B. C.,
© 1907,ed.p.88 '
d. Ibid, 1910,ed.p.94. ‘

4. Information supplied by Rev. J. H. White, D.D.,
Sardis, B.C.
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deirying were purchased at 90 dollars per acre. The coegt of
clearing this land, which was not hesvily timbered, averaged
250 dollars an acre.5 Farmers in the valley were nearly always
faced with & heavy expenditure for clearing.

There are still available for settlement thousands of acres
of cultivable land. The valley needs settlers who are not &a-
freid of hard work. No definite policy of land settlement {(un-
less the soldier settlements could be 8o considered) has ever
been undertaken by the provincial or federal government. It
-has been suggested that such a scheme could be well undertaken
at the present time to relieve conditions among the farmers of

the drought-stricken areas of Saskatchewan,6

Such & policy would
contribute to the generasl prosperity of the valley and of the
whole province. Neither the provincial nor the federal govern-
ment has taken official action as yet, but the suggestion is

worthy of serious consideration.

Incorporation and Growbth of Municipslities

VWhen the Canadian facific Railway was completed in 1885,
the municipalitiea of Chilliwack, Langley, laple Ridge end Sur-
rey>had slready been incorporated under the Municipality Aet,
1872. This act was amehded at various times esnd in 1896 general
legislation was passed consolidating these amendments. As &
result, the Municipal Clauses Act, the lunicipal klections Act,

5. Information suﬁplied by Mr. Basil Gardom, Manager
of Independent Milk Producers’ Co-operative Assoc-

ietion.

6. See Editorial, Vancouver Daily Province, Sept.13, 1937.
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and the Municipal Incorporatioh Ac% were passed.7 These confer
extenaive powers of local self-government upon the municipalities
and sdequately conserve all corporate rights, powers, and li-
abilities. This gystem wag largely founded on the experience
of other provinces but modifications were made to suit local con-
ditions.

Three ‘clesses of municipalities have been developed: urban,
district (rural) and village municipalities. An urban munici-
pality may be formed by & commrunity of not less than 100 male
British subjects, provided that owners of more than half the
value of the land are petitioners. In the case of district
municipalities, the requirements are gimilar excepf that only
30 resident male British subjects are necessary ss petitioners.
Villaege municipalities may be formed where the number of resid-

entes do not exceed 1000, but all provisions of the Municipel
Act do not apply. Villages are not permitted to-incurg deben-

ture indebtedness; they have no duties in police administration,
or, &8 a municipality in school matters,a

‘Under this system, the incorpbration of the district mun-
icipalities of the Fraser Valley has been & notable d.evelopment.9
The only considerable areas in the valley not so organized at
the present time are the districts of Dewdney and Nicomen. The
dates of incorporstion, given in the following table, are in-

dicative of the growth of the verious sreas.

7. Statutes of British Columbia, 1896, - 59 Victoris,
¢ 37, ¢ 38, C 39.

8. Manual of Provincial Informeation, 1930, pp.46, 47.

9. Statutes of B. C., 1920, Village Municipslities Act,
10 George V, C 65.
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Date of Incorporation, Area and Population

Imunicipality

been steady.

District of

Chilliwack
Coquitlam
Fraser Mills
Kent
Langley
Maple Ridge
Matasqui
Misaion
Pitt Meadows
Sumas

surrey

City of

Chilliwack

PQrtiCoquitlam

Village of

Abbotaford
Hope

Mission

of Frager Valley kunicipalities

bate of 10 Aree 11 foPulationla

Incorporetion in Acres (1931)
_April 26, 1873 65,000 5,802
July 25, 1891 37,120 4,871
msrch 25, 1913 390 616
Japuery 1, 1895 47,360 1,207
April Z6, 1873 75,907 5,537
September 12, 1874 45,000 4,952
November 21, 1892 54,145 : 3,835
June £, 1892 52,006 2,279
April 1, 1914 14,000 - 832
January b5, 1892 34,000 1,812
November 10, 1879 76,000 8,388
February &1, 1908 1,040 2,461
March 7, 1913 6,200 1,312
Februery 22, 1924 160 =~ 510
April 6, 1929 1,200 N4
January 8, 1923 821 1,314

The growth in population during the last half century has

The following tebles have been prepered in an at-

10. Information supplied by office of Inspector of
Municipslities, Vietoria, B.C.

11. Annual Report of Lnspector of lunicipalities, 1935

12, Seventh Census of Canada, Ottaws, 1931, Vol.II, p.104
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tenpt to show the characteristics es well as the number of the
people who have been attracted to the urban and rural communities
of the ¥rager.Valley.

_@rowth in population of Fraser Valley, 1886 - 1951.15

1886 1896 1906 1916 1921 1931
3,300 9,500 13,300 26,400 37,000 49,000

Population Classified by Sex: Canadian born, British born, and

foreign born, 1951.14
Canadian Born British Born Foreign Born
Male Eemale Male Female Mele Female
15,400 12,800 6,800 © 4,900 5,600 3,500

Population cleggified according to principal racisl origine,1931.15

British reaceg~- - --- 33,200
Furopean reces - ~ - 11,100
Asiatic rsces- - - - 4,080
Indigpng~- = = = = - - 1,470
Ungpecified~ = = ~ = 180

These tables prove that the population of the Fraser Valley is
predominantly of the Anglo-Saxon race, and that the majority of
these are Canadian born. It is such stock which has Dbuilt up

the valley.  _ _ _ _ _ _

a#lZ. Figures for 1931 are epproximstely correct because
for the first time the census was teken according 1o
arranged divisions. Census division 4(a) is the
Frager Valley as far east as Keefers. FPopulation
for 1921 was estimated on that basis by Bureau of
Stetistica, Ottawa, and is also approximately cor-
rect. Frrevious censuses were taken by electoral
digtricts, the boundaries of which changed with every
census. The foregoing estimates previous to 1920 were
bagsed on school population as being a reliable index.
The ratio in 1921 was 1:5.5, and this ratio was used
in the above table.

14. Seventh Census of Canada, 1931, ottawa, 1931, Vol.II,
Pp.L46,247.

15 .Ibid, pp. 484, et segq.
> PTo. )



7—7)& ratio of 1"55 was obtained 1nv the

jollow"nj manner: ‘

T he school po /Du,ld.‘/"/'oh sf @ ach hwn ‘e pal ity,
as ﬁ,vah - #,a dnnual Feport of B.C. Sehools
Sor /qzo-lazl Was campared wilh the ,S /"‘—L/“'/"M
o th e mu—nlclpa/ﬁLJ as 7/Ver\ 1n the SeveuTh
Ccnsus o< Qahada//??/) Vol I, piod. T he
AVeraqg e of The ratiss o€ e:},hf‘m ».,Az'c {/b(,z,/;'f/'es
(S‘Hb’“* p- ’7—5) was Then Ca/cu,(a_-l—ex asl Lemj/ 5.5
(//)ere, are ho echools conducted in The mun-
\c«/p«(n”J of Fraser {V](l/s an A haﬂ"/és"_ fo;\

Bt rqea—docos an & Co7u.n"/’/qm wWere d/'s/ﬁro-
ibpr'/‘lbh a‘l‘e(j /7(76 1n the latten probably due
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Indian Resérves.

When British Columbia entered confederation in 1871, pro-
vision wag made for the native races who are wards of the Dom-
inion of Cenada. Reserves of sufficient extent to enable the
Indians to make an independent living were conveyed by the pro-
vince to the Dominion. ‘L'hese are held inviolate for them by
the officials of the IndianvDepartment. The: land is subdivided
into plots which Lndians may hold and own in severalty, but no
property belonging to the reserve may be s0ld without permission
of the federal government, nor can regerve properties be seized
Tor debt.16 |

Indians are not necessarily confined to the reserves.

They mey move sbout and seek employment where they can find it.
The Indiang of the Fraser Valley own some rich agricultural
landsland engage in mixed farming after a fashion. During the
fishing sezgon, however, the majority of them is employed in
that industry; particularly was this so prior to 1900. Vonen
worked in the canneries, cutting and cleasning fish, While-the
men‘were employed in the boats. In the autumn there was a gen-
eral migration to the hop-fields of Sardis and Agassiz. Until
recent years, 1lndians had almést e monopoly in the work of
picking hops.\ These two ihdustries, fishing and hop-picking,
provided remunerative employment during the summer months for
8 majority of the indians of the valley.

There are 62 reéervea located in this district. Most of

these have frontage on the Kraser River or its tributaries,
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several being on islanda. These reserves contain 21,395 acres

of land, about 10% of which are under cuitivation.17 The totel
value of real and personal property belonging to the Indians

of the valley is nearly 1,000,000 dollars.l®

Soldier Settlements, 1919.

Faced with the problem of rehabiliteting demobilized sol-
diers, the federal government established the Soldier Settle-
ment Board of Canada early in 1918. 1The Soldier Settlement
Act of 1917 was degcribed as "An Act to assist returned sol-
diers in settling upon the land and to incresse agricultural
production.” Under this act loans up to 2,500 dollars were
granted to aseist in the re-establishment of returned men. In
1919, an amendment to the act provided for a loan up to 5,000
dollars to purchase land, the settler paying 10% of the pur-
chase price. In eddition the seittler might be advenced up to
2,000 dollars for live-stock and equipment, and },OOO dollars
for permanent improvements. All loans bore interest at 5%.19

District boards were setup for the purpose of passing on
all applicants for loans to purchsse lend, stock and equipment.
Agricultural experts were appointed to advise and supervise
settlera. Special concessions in the way of transportation
rates, allowances while training, and courses for solders!

wivea were given these settlers and in Canade nearly 25,000

- e e s an e

17. Information supplied by Indian Agent's 0Office,
New Westminster, B.C.

18. mMenual of rrovincial informastion, 1930. p.78.

19. Report of Soldier Settlement Board of Canada, Ottawa,
- 1921, p.27 et =eq.
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loans were granted. ‘ ‘

In British Columbia, a favoured location for settlement
waa the Freger Valley. There were 802 gsettlers who purchased
farms under this scheme, mainly in the municipalities of Chilli-
wack, Surrey, Langley and Metsqui. The average s8ize of these
farms was 29.4 acres and the average price paid for land was
92.45 dollars per acre.20

This influx of soldier settlers to the valley did not mean
that new territory was opened up, for 211 purchases of land
"were restricted to those farms which had been partially under
cultivation. ﬁoldier gettlers however were encouraged to clear
new acreage for cultivation, and in 1920 an increase of about
25% in land under cultivation was made.

It would have been too much fo expect that all these sol-
dier settlers would be succegsgful. Death and recurring sickness
due to war disabilities removed gome of them. Poor crops and
adverse market conditions discouraged others, while there were
a good many who were unfitted, after their war-time experiences,
for the hard toil necessary to meke a success of farming. Ad-
justments had to be made in disposing of the fserms which reverted
to the Soldier Settlement Board. Some were sold to civilian pur-
chasers. Some Wére taken over by British families under a scheme
of Bmpire settlement by which, during 1926 and 1927, nearly three
thousand British families were brought to Caﬁada under the aus-
pices of the Canadian and British governments. |

20. Report of soldier Settlement Board of Canada, Ottawa,
1921, p.134.
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The latest information concerning the loans made in the
Fraser Valley show that there are 364 of the 802 original sol-
dier settlers who are still in possession of their farms. Of
these approximetely 20% have repaid their loans: in ful1. &L
Thias average is somewhat better than the Dominion average which

18 129,22

Civilian purchasers have taken 312 of the holdings,
while British families have taken 54. There are 72 parcels of -
land which ere leased pending resale. These figures are con-
gidered quite satisfactory by the officiala in charge. During
recent yeers the government has adopted a policy of reasonable
leniency in the matter of recovery of the loans, and since
1933 has offered a dollar for dollar bonus on payments for ar-
rears or on any instalment due between 1933 and 1938. This
legisletion applies to all settlers, soldiefs and civilians
glike, who were indebted in respect of asny contract made prior

to Jznuary lst, 1933, 8%

The government realizes thet eny fore-
closure proceedings on the sole ground of inability to pay would
merely mean a shifting of the problem to some other department
of the government.

The whole policy of soldier settlement was & great human
experiment for which a satisfactory measure of success can be
claimed. Many of the original soldier settlers in the Kramer

Valley have not only mede good on their farms, but have also

pleyed an important part in the life of their communities.

21. Information supplied by Mr. G. Johnston, Asst. Super-
intendent, Soldier Settlement Board, Vancouver, B.C.

22. Eleventh_Report gf Soldier Settlement Boa
Ottawa, 1958' p.3: oldie ettlement Board of Canade,

23. 1bid, p.4.
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Mennonite Settlements.

Recent settlements by Mennonites afford an example of com-
munity settlement which has been rare in the history of the
¥raser Valley. 1These people belong to a»religious body who left
Ruseia in the last decades of the nineteenth century because
they were refused exemption from military service. ldany col-
onies were subsequently established in verious sections of
United States, in untario, and in the prairie provinces.

During the summer of 1987, Abram Buhr, a lawyer, and r. H.
Neufeld, & teacher, both of Winnipeg, visited the ¥raser Valley
~ to investigate a tract of land at Yarrow which had been offered
for gettlement. These men were very favourably impressed with
the agricultﬁral posgibilities of the valley. They reported
thus to their compatriots.. Several families moved to Yarfow the
first year, and the settlement soon increased.24 The last of-
ficiael censgus (;951) gave the number of Mennonites in the valley
a8 849, nearly 80% of whom were at Yarrow. Since that time the
number has increaged and it is now estimated that there are‘at
least 2000, with the greatest number atill in Chilliwack munici-
pality. '

These people have adjusted themselves to the economic life
of the valley with little difficulty. They will accept work of
any kind. The only compleint against them is that they are too
ready to undercut wages. Some of the younger generation are
entering the professions. They sre an industrious people and -

24. Information supplied by Rev. Ir. Neufeld, Yarrow, B.C.
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will no doubt make a definite contribution to the materisl pro-

gress of the valley.
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Chapter V11,

"he Development of Social Institutiona.

rublic Schools.t

“he development of educational facilities in the ¥Fraser
valley has steadily kept pace with settlement. 1Indeed, there
is probably no more accurete index of the time and place of
settlement than the record of the building of school-houses.
In the main, tﬁese schools have been the traditional one-roomed
schools of rurel districts,‘thoﬁgh many of them soon expanded
into graded schools. The next step was to become & “superior"z
achool, and then & high school. A

The first high school in the valley was opened in Chilli-
wack in 1903 With an enrolment of 32 pupils. The increase in
high achools has been especially maerked in the post-war period.
This hss been & general feature in the growth of educationsal-
facilities since 1919. 7The letest annual report (65$hdhshows
that in the valley there are 11 high schobls, contaeining 55 divi-
sions and having an enrolment of 1623 pupils., Following Chilli-
wack, the order and date of their establishient is as follows:
Agagsiz (1915}, Matequi (1916), Mission (1916), Langley (191¢),
Surrey (1919), Maple Ridge (1920), Mt. Lehman (1922), Sumasg -

1. Statistics in this section were obtained from 15th,
25th, 35th, 4bth, 55th, and 65th Annual Reports on
B. C. Schools. '

2. A "gupgridr” gchool is an elementary achool contain-
ing one or more grades of high school.
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The modern trend in educational zdministration here, as
elaewhere, is towards consoiidation of school districts snd fthe
eatablishment of junior nigh schools. An experiment which
should prove of considerable value was begun in 1935, when the
gchool administrations of mMataqui, Sumes, and Abbotsford Dis—
tricts and Abbotaford Village congented to unite to form en. ex-
perimental area undei the control of & director appointed by h
the Department of kEducation. This area was to be administered.
by the depgrtmént for three years, with the existing trustees
reteined as an advisory board. A similer organization in the
Peace River Block has proved succesaful and the success of the
present experiment might help to solve some of the difficulties
faced by rurael school boards. 1'o increase, or even to maintaih,‘
the efficiency of the school asystem without increasing the bud-
get is & problem which has had to be faced since 1929, With
low prices for dairy end ferm produce, it has been a difficult
time for rural school boards. Yhey will no doubt watch the ex-
periment at Abbotsford carefully.

The following table is appended to show the growth of the
school systems in the valley for a period ofl50 years.

School Enrolment 1886 - 1936.°

Year ending No. of No. of Total
June 30 Schoola Divisions Enrolment
1886 16 16 604
1896 50 53 1,731
1906 69 77 _ 2,420
1916 106 177 b 4,811
1926 181 252 7,288
1936 129 329 10,625

3. lncludes high school enrolment. Early figures are
only approximately correct owing to face that schools

were not listed by municipalities.
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indian Schools.

There arée two residential Indisn schools in the Kraser
Valley that have done, and sre doing, good work in educating
Indien children. "hey are St. Mary's uission at uission, and
Cogualeetza Reaidentisl School at Sardis, near Chilliwack.
T'hese schools enroll boys and girls from 6 to 16 years of age
from the near-by reserves. 1In genersl, the policy of these
gchools is to give acadenmiec training to all pupils for half-a-
dey while in the other half-day the boys learn farming, carpen-
try and other like pursuits. At the ssme time, the girls are
taught cooking, sewing and general housework. Of late years,
the government, by means of frequent medical inspections, has
very wisely paid particular attention to the health of all
pupils.

Phese achools were originally established under church
auspices, but they and other similer institutions are now main-
tained by the ¥ederal Government by means of a per capita grant.

St. Mary®s Mission, one of the oldest in British Columbia
wag established in the 1860's by rather kouquet, v.i.I. Lhe
first buildings were erected on what is now the right-of-way
of the Canadian Pacific Kailway, but in 1885 the present school,
convent and church weg moved to the site near Mission on which
it now stande.? 'rhere wes accommodation for about 130 pupils,
usually about equally divided between the sexes. vhis attend-
ance was fairly well maintained for some years, but in 1936 an

4. Pemphlet published by sunicipal Council, Mission, 1928
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additional building increased the accommodation by 50 pupils.
fhe enrolment at the end of June, 1957 wag: boys - 76; girls - 99.5

Coqﬁaleetz&’ﬁas developed from én Indién day achool which
‘wag organized in 1880 by Rev. C. M. and Mre. Tete, pioneer
Methodist missionaries. This school was established on the
Squihale Reserve near Chilliwack Landing, but in 1886 it was
moved to its present site at Sardfs'and soon developed into &
regidential school. In‘1891 this'home wasg destroyed by fire
ana two jears later was replaced by & brick building accommod-
ating 100 pupila. By means of several small outbuildings used
as boys' dormitories, Coqueleetza had an average attendance of
150 or more for many years. In 1924 the old building was con-
demned and demolished. It was replaced by the present fine
brick building on the sane sitea6 The ‘enrolment at this school
in June, 1937, was: boys - 126; girls - 107.7

There 18 no doubt that Indian children have received ex-
cellent training in these residential schools, but a difficulty
has always existed in their adjustment, after graduation, to
home conditions oh the reserves. No doubt many of them have
' feverted too eaéily to the general squalor around them: un
tﬁe other hand, therse have been a few outstanding charscters

trained in these schools who have done much for their people.

- er e ww e ww

5., Information supplied by Indian Agent's Office,
. New Westminater, B.C. .
6. Information supplied by Kev. G. H. Raley, D.D.,
former Principal of Coqualeetza. '
7. Information from Indian Agent's Qffice, New
Westminster, B.C. :
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Churches.

Religious denominations were not long}in following up settle-
ment in the kraser Valley, and.their record of expeansioen is one
that paralleis closely,ﬁhe growth of settlement. <Though there
were very few church buildings erecited prior to 1885, divine
gervice was held more or less regularly wherever there were &
few who could gather together. Sometimes this was in a home,
but frequently, too, school buildings were used for worship.
The;early annual reports of the schools of British Columbia con-
tained this information +ill 1898, and show that in 1886 therse
were seven out of 16 school buildings used for divine worship.
Ten years later 20 out of 50 schools were 8o used, and others
’Wére used for Sunday Schools.

Early records of the churches are somewhat incomplete.

Even the denominationsl year booka fail to give exact information
because refurns were not always sent in. The followiﬁg records
of the Anglican, Presbyterian and Methodist Churches for the
years 1886, 1911, and 1936 give a picture of the growth of the
churches during a period of 50 years.

The Anglican church in 1886 was represenﬁed by churches at
Chilliwack and HMaple Ridge,“bdth of which were among the first
churches in the valley. No record ofﬂtﬁe number of members in
either of these is available. By 1911 the number of churches
had inecreased to 15 with approximately 2000 members and 750
communicants. In 1936 there were 26 churches with a total mem-

bership of 5205 including communicants.8

8. Information obtained at Synod O0ffice, Diocese of
New VWestminsater.
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The Presbyterian Church in 1887 hed churches at Chiiliwack
and Fort Léngley, with 63 fémilies and 47 communicants on the
roll a8 members: By 1911 there were 9 pastoral charges with 30
other preaching places. “There were 550 fémilies s members and
510 communicanta. In'1925, the year of union with the Methodist
and Congregaﬁional Churcheszthere were 13 pestoral éharges and
20 other mission fields. Families as members numbered 960 with
1055 communicants.g

The Methodist Church in 1886 had four pastoral cﬁarges of
which one was Indian. 1n addition there were 20 preaching
places of which five were Indian. The total membership st that
time was 266,0f which 97 were lIndiens. By 1911 there were 12
pastoral charges with 26 preaching places. The membership
total was nearly 1000. In 1925 there were 17 pastoral charges
and 31 preaching appointments with & total membership of 1200.10

tihen the union of the churches took place in 1925, only the
most suitable churches were used for pastoral charges. As a
result, the United Church in 1936 had 22 pastoral chargeé of

which one is Japanese and one Indian{ There were 58 preaching
places of which 10 were Japanese and two Indian. Thers wag a
total membersahip of 2561, of which 125 were Japanese and 66
indian.t1

The devoted labours of the pioneer ministers have not gone

unrewarded. In spite of difficulties in transportation and of

9. Statistics compiled from finutes of General
Assenbly, 1888, 1911, 1925.

10. Information sugplied by Rev. J. H. White D.D.,
former Supt. o1 Methodist missions for B.C.

11. Ibid.



(139)
financial worries, they laid the foundations for the churches

Al

of today.

Hospitals.

The eity of Chilliwack and the villagesof Abbotsford and
tiission now boast small but well-equipped hospitals. These
give adequéte service to the residents of the eastern half of
the valley, while the city hospitela of New Westminster and
Vancouver accommodate residents of neighboring municipalities.
There is no doudbt that in time these municipalitiesvwill make
provision for their own hospital services. Langley has al-
ready considered the possibility of such service,.but no de-
finite steps to that end have been taken yet.

The Chilliwack General Hospital was the first to operate.
It was officiglly“opened on February 12, 1912. The idea of a
hospital had ofiginated some years before in the minds of
several public-spirited citizens, and a fund was started for
the purpose of building and_equipping & hospitel. A sife was
presented and various means taken to raise funds. Theloriginal
unit was built at a cost of $10;000 and opened free of debt.r2
Tﬁere wag accommodation for 13 patients but in two years' time
a new wing, which doubled the accormodation, was added. In
1924 a nurses' home was built and an X-ray machine and other
equipment added.l5 The aceommodation is for 28 beds. The
staff comprises a matron and five or six nurses. This hospital

has fulfilled a long-felt want.

12. The Chilliwack Progress, llarch 6, 191Z2.
13. 1bid. May 8, 1924.
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The lMatsqui~-Sumasa-Abbotsford General Hospita%%ﬁnd the
Mission Memorisal Hospitallgre similar in meny respects. They
were both built by publie subscription shortly after the war,
and sre both out of debt. They are both well;eQuipped for
surgical caeses and for emergéncies. The Mission Mémorial Hoa=-
pital is somewhat larger than the Abbotaford Hospital, having
accommodation for 21 patients as ageinst 17 for the latter.

A1l three hospitala are staffed by graduate nurses only.

Fraser Valley Union Library.

Library facilities in the Kraser Vvalley communities had
been practically non-existent previous to 1930. By a stroke
of good fortune such facilities were given them in that year.
Aa a result of a survey conducted by the'provineial government
through its Library Commission, assiated by the professional
body of librarians, the Fraser Valléy was chosen ags one of
three regions in North America to be used as a testing-ground
for a new idea in rursl libraries. 'The Cernegie Corporation
of New York had placed $100,000 at the disposal of the B. C.
Library Commission so that the scheme might be tried out for
five years. 1t was hoped that, by the end of the period, the
library would be adopted by the municipalitiee.16

The service was initisted om March 'l, 1930, under the

direction of Vr. Helen Stewart of the Librery Commission.

Chilliwack was chosen ag the main depot and distributing centre

14. Information re Abbotsford Hospital from the Hatron,
Mies Archibald.

15. Information re Hission Hoapital from J. L. English,
Druggist, Mission.

16. The Ohiiliwaek rrogresg, December 12,1929, parch 13,1930
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for the 20,000 booksiwhich'were to be maintained. A truck with
a capacity of over 800 books was fitted up as a travelling li;
brary. 1t made & complete round trip, down one side of the
valley and‘up the other about every two weeks.

In addition to the main depot at Chilliwack, branch li-
braries were maintained af Abbotsford, Langley, Cloverdale,
Ladner, Haney and Mission, Theee were open to the publie from
15 to 87 hours per week and 1000 or more books were kept on
the shelves. Three sub-branches ; at Hope, White Rock, and
Port Coquitlem - were open from four to eight hours a week.
Deposit stations with 100 to 200 volumes Were maintained at
eight different centres. 1In addition 28 school libraries were
asgisted and there were 55 or more pointes of cell for the 1li-
brary ven. Cuatodiens of the branch and sub-branch libraries
were peid, but in all other places the work was carried on by
voluntary labour. | |

This program wag carried out very succesgfully. reople
from isoleated sections quite cheerfully walked miles and waited
houra in order not to miss an opportunity for an exchange of
books. In September 1932, after two years operation, 15,637
adults and 700 school children had registered as members. During
the first six months of 1932, these members had borrowed 130,137

volumes.17

Library agsistents noted a8 rapid turn-over of vol-
umes and & preference for non-fiction rather than fiction in

the reading tastes of various sections of the valley.

- e e e e

17. Valcouver Daily Province, November 27, 1932.



(142)

The municipalities took over the library on October 1,1934,
a8 the originel grant‘of $100,000.had been expended before the
five-year term was up. A board of mesnagement, consisting of
representatives of the various municipelities and school dis-
tricte within the library area, was elected in order to carry
on the work. Xach municipality is assessed on & begis of 3b5¢
per capitea totel population, but the method of raising the ré~
gpective quotas is a matter of municipal jurisdiction.

The annual report for the year ending December 31, 1936
wag very encouraging. A total of 3322 new volumes wes added
at a cost of $3501. ‘“here Werellzs library agencies which in-
cluded school libraries and book-vsn stops. KkRegistration of
active readers increasged by 3365 over the previous year, bring-
ing the total to 19,330. 4“he totel c¢irculation of books a-
mounted to 225,555 volumes, glving an average circuletion of
11.6 volumes per member for the year.l8

The compectness of the valley, together with its system
of goodvhighways were factors in the choice whereby residents
were provided with library facilities for five years at no ex-
pense. The results have justified that choice, and there'can
rbe‘but 1ittle doubt but that the people will meintain a ser-
vice which they lacked for so many yéars.

18. Annual Report of Fraser Valley Union Library,
Decenber 31, 1936.
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Chapter V111l

Communications

The Frager Valley was particularly forfunate in having
telegraph communication with the outside world at a very early
date.. '"whis was due to the fact that thé famousa overland tele-
graph line was built through Ch}lliwack in the 1860's, as part
of the system that was to connect Kurope and North America.
Yhe succegsful céﬁpletion of the Atlantic cable in 1866 result-
ed in the overlénd rou?e being abandoned. However, the section
of the line in British Columbia was taken over by the provin-
cial government in 1871, and was operatéd a8 a commercial
telegraph 1inei1 John T. KcCutcheon, one of Chilliwack's
pioneers, was the telegraph operator at that point for some
years.

¥ollowing the completion of the Canadian Pacific Railway,
vthe government'line west of Ashcroft was absorbed by the rail-
way company. Sections of the line were rebuilt and improved
and have formed part of the C. P. R. telegraph system since
that time.2 "Chilliwack hes thus been in telegraphic communi-
cation with outside points almost since the inception of set-
tlement there. Othér centres of settlement in the valley were
not so fortunate. It was not until 1891 that the reeve of
Langley ﬁas able to convey greetings to the first citizens qf

Chilliwack and of Vancouver by way of initiating telegraphic

4

1. Manual of Provineial Information, 1930, p.214
2. Ibid, p. Z15. '
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serﬁice there.5 Many communitieé never enjoyed such service,
for the introduction of the long-distance telephone, some five
or 8ix years later, relegeted the telegraph to a position of

gecondary importsnce.

British Columbia Telephone Company.

In 1896 the first telephone lines were laid in the valley,
and on April 6 of that year Chilliwack was connected with Ven-
couver and New Westminster.éguThie line was built by the New
Westminater and Burrard Inlet Telephone Company, one of the
pioneers in the province. At this date, it was expected that
conneetione{would be mede at the following places: Sumss, Ab-
boteford, Aldergrove, Lengley Prairie and Fort Lengley. Thus
was the firat step teken in building up a éystem which today
covers the whole valley with a network of wirea.

In 1903 the provincial legislature granted permission for
geveral companies in the provinece to amalgemate with the New
Westminster and Burrard Inlet Telephone COmpany in order to
protect their investments and the better to meet the growing
demands for extension of service,5 In the next year the Bri%
tigh Columbia Telephone Company came into existence.

This company has been responaible for most of the exten-

gions of telephone service throughout the Freser Valley, but

there have been three independently-owned companies which have

3. Chilliwack Progress, June 4, 1891.
4, Ibid, April 8, 1896.
5. Gosnell, R. E., B.C. Year Book 1911/14, 'p.303.
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been absorbed into the senior system.

The first of these companiea to be formed was the Chilli-
wack Telephone Company Limited, which began operstions on Aprii
1, 1908 with a direétory containing 107 namea¢6 There were at
this time & few business phones in Chilliwack which had been
operated by the B. C. Telephone Conpany fof long-distance calls,
but these were taken over by the local company at’ the time of
1ts orgenization. For ten years the Chilliwack Company exﬁer—
ienced a gteady growth in business, but received a severe set-
back at the time of the 1917 "silver thaw". So many poles and
so much wire were brought down at that time, that the company
was forqed practically to rebuild their entire lines of communi-
cation. 1In 1928 the company was bought out by the B. C. Telephone
Company. $70,000 was spent the next year in building = new ex-
- change and in installing sutomatic equipment.

The two other independently-owned systems in the valley
were those of the Mission City Telephone Company, Ltd., and the
Huntingdon Rurel Telephone Co. The former had been in operation
gaince 1909, and at the time of being taken over by the B. C.
Telephone Company in December, 1929, was giving service to 384
‘aubscribers. The latter system; serving the Sumes area, was
taken over on August 1, 1931, thus unifying the lines for the
whole valley,7

One of the greatest perioda of expansion occurred during

6, ¥rom information supplied by Mr. P. H. Wilson,
Manager of Chilliwack Exchange, and formerly
- manager of Chilliwack Telephone Company, Limited.

7. Information supplied by kr. N. F. Pullen, rublicity
birector, B. C. Telephone Company.



) (146)
the "boonl' period of 1910, when exchenges were put in at Agassiz,

Milner,  Hammond and other centres.8 "hese gave local service
as well as long-distance connectiong to the coast cities and
intermediate points.

The policy of the compahy has been to extend the service as
widely as possible, and there are few pointe that are without
telephone service today. Moreover, the company is stesadily
. improving service and equipment. Aldergrove, Chilliwack, Ham-
mond and}Hope exchanges have sutomatic equipment todasy, and it
is the intention of the company to instsell such equipment in
the valley exchanges whenever it is necessary to improve the
service.9

British-€olumbia rower Corporation Limited.

The topography of the north side of the Fraser Valley has
provided ideal conditions for the development of hydro-electric
power. Kast of Pitt Meadows the mounteins rise quite abruptly
from the riverlto a'height of qver 3000 feet. WNestling in the
valleys lie Alouette (named: Lillooet on early maps) and Stave
Lakes, the later draining into the Kraser by the Steve River. .
Alouette lies at an elevation of 482 feet and the Stave at 240
feet. The drop from Stave Falls plant at the southern end of
the lake to the new plapnt at huskin is about 130 feet, 0 During
the last 35 yesrs, the growth of the coast cities and the Fraser
Velley has made it necessary to utilize these resources of water

8. British Columbian, New Weatminster, August 22
18903  Sotoner 26, 1810, &t ’

9. Information supplied by lir. N. ¥. Pullen, Publicity
bireetor, B. C. Telephone Co.

10. From smell descriptive pamphlet, Alouette Power Devel-
opment, published 1928, by B. C. E. R. Co. Ltd.
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power. Theée projects have very materiaily assisted in the
development of the entire Lower Mainland. .

 The first piece of work was begun in 1902 on the Coquitlam-
Buntzen power plants by the British Columbis klectric ksilway
Company. This whole project was not completed till 1914, as al-
most continuous enlargement of the plant was necessary.ll When
finished, this project consisted of two power houses on tﬁe
north arm of Burrard Inlet about 15 miles from Vancouver. The
water supply for these fwo power houses comes from Lake Coquit-
lam by means of a tunnel 13,200 feet long. The combined capac-
ity of these two plants 1s 64,000 horsepower.

About 1911, an important competitor, the Weatern Canadsa
Power Company, entered the loceal Pieig. 2 A fine power station
wag built at Stave Falls. 1t was placed in operaﬁion on Jan~
uary 1, 1912, the company selling electrical energy in bulk to
the B. C. Electric Reilway Company and to the city of Belling-
ham. The depression following the "boonl' years left the western
Canada FPower Company in financial difficulties. The war years
added in no small measure to these difficulties.

Faced with the prospect of expension immediately after the
war, the B. C. Electric Railway Company Wég forced to look for
8 power supply greatér'thah'that contfacted for with the west-
ern Canada rower Compeny. The logical source of such a'supply

was the Stave River, the more so as the B. C. Electric Railway

11. vilstrup, A., "Barly History of the British Columbia
Electric Power.8yatem in the Lower mainland of B. C.",
a pamphlet containing an addreas given Merch 20,1936.

12. Ibid.
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Company held water rights on Alouette Lake, the best develop-
ment of which would be through stave Lake and River.

| The netural solution of the whole problem lay in the pur-
chase of the Western Canszda rower Company. This wag according-
'1ly done, the new management becoming effective on Januery 1,1921,
under thé name of the British Columbia Power Corporation Limited.

This consummation added 39,000 horsepower to the capacity

of the old com@any, but plans were immedistely laid to improve
the plant. The construction of & new dam to provide greater
hydraulic operating'head, the rebuilding of existing generators

to provide greater capacity, and the installation of new gener-

ators - all this was completed by 1925 and raised the capacity
of the plant to 79,000 horsepower.

Concurrentiy with the work at stave rFalls, construction
was begun on the Alouette Lake project. This lake lay in a
narrow valley west of Stave Lake and elevated 140 feet above
it. The project compriged the building of a dam at the south
end of the lake, and the driving of a diversion tunnel at the
north end of the lake 8o as to connect with Stave Lake. This
tunnel is 3600 feet long, 16 feet in diameter, and connects
with a power plant on the west side of Stave Lake sbout 11
miles above the wallsa. This new plant completed in 1928 pro-
vides an additional 12,500 horsepower of electrical energy.
The most interesting feature of the plant is thet it is com-
pletely sutomatic 1h~operation.‘ This was desirable because

of the isolation of the plent end in sddition it was designed
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to carry a steady loasd. It is operated from Stave Falle.l5
Théflatest end final step in the realization of the Stave-
~Alouette project was the construction, during 1929-1930,
of the plant at Ruskin, three and a half mileg below Stave
Falls. Here'a gingle huge generator, one of the largest on the

14

continent, produces 47,000 horasepower. Ultimately four such

units will be installed, the second of which is expected to De
in operation next year (1938).16

The conatruction of the Ruskiﬁ'plant offered several eng-
ineering difficulties not the least of which was the diversion
of the Stave River from its netural channel to allow the found-
ations of the dam to be laid. This was succeassfully accom-
. plished by means. of a huge wooden fiume; %6 feet wide and '12
feef high.- The power house itself embodies 21l the most modern
feetures of hydro-electric engineering. Ultimately, Withbthe
completion of the Bridge River pians, the hRuskin plent will ac-

commodate the heavy peak-load periods.

Redio Station C H W K 16 f ‘
THe progressive little city of Chilliwack has the only
radio brosdcesting station in the Fraser Valley, Station CHVK,

which began operating in the summer of 1927. The guiding spirit

13. pamphlet: "The Power System of the British Columbia ¢
Power Corporation, Limited. " published by B. C. k. R.
7 CO- Iltdo ’ Vaﬂc:'uver, 19520 -

14, Souvenir booklet on Ruskin Power Development, 1930

15. Information supplied by Publicity Bureau, British
Columbia Power Corporation Limited.

16.Information supplied by Mr. Casey Wells, manager
Station CHWK.
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in this project was Mr. Casey Wells, the grandson of one of
Chilliweck's earliest and most reapected piocneers. In compeny
Wiﬁh Mr..Jéék'Menziée, & Chilliwack merchant, Mr. Wells organized
the Chilliwack Broadcasting Compeny, Limited. With an assigned
freguency of 1210 kiloecycles, they began their efforts in 2 very
modest way. The equipment was a five~watt ship's transmitter,
and the station was "on the air' for the noon hour only.

Thé station gradually grew,.however, a8 it filled & reel
need in the eastern end of the valley. Vancouvér stetions were
too weak at that time to give good reception up the valley. 1n
1930 the power input was stepped up to 100 watts, snd the broad-
casting frequency changed to 665 kilocycles. Thé'station was
on the air then for five or gix hours daily, and employed local
ta}ent in some of its programs.

In 1933 several changes in organization took place. Mr.
Menzies sold out his interests in the company to Ur. Ronéld
Wells, who thus became joint owner with his brother. In that
year too the station agreed to handle the progrems of the
Canadian Redio Commission, and were assigned the present fre-
guency of 780 kiloecyclea. The siation now carries about 85% of
the Canadian Broadcesting Corporation's network prograns, Teing
on the air daily for 11 hours. By some freak of radio reception,
this comparatively week station has been heard at times at the
four corners of the continent, and.even ag fer as Australia.
Letters in the office testify to these factwm.

A highlight in the 1life of this young station occurred
during the storm of January, 1955. Heavy snowfall for three



(151)
weeks wag followed by rainfall on Januery 2lst. Freezing ground
temperaturés caused a heavy coating of ice to form on all ex-
pdsed surfaces. Folls and wires snapped under the weight and
by nightfall all power, telephone and telegreph aervices were
suspended. The esstern end of the valley was completely iso-
lated for eight days.

A small emergency battery operated transmitter was assem-
bled by the staff of CHYK and by noon Thursday, January 24, con-
tact with Vancouver had been re-established, Mr. Jeff Bradford
acting as wireless operator.l7 This was soon replaced by more
complete equipment owqu by Mir. Earl Streeter, a local short-
wave amateur. This equipment was placed in the office of the
Chilliwack Telephone exchapge and operated by the company's
emergency power plant. MNr. Streeter did yeoman service in
hendling important messag;s until the power service was restored
on Januarj 28. “Ham“.radio operators all over the province; and
indeed, in many ﬁarts of the continent, did invaluable service
in relaying messages during that week.

In lieu of their ususl broadcasts the staff of CHWK gather-
ed news items from all possible sources, typed them for fhe
miqeograph machine, and distributed leaflets daily- in the local
sto%es. i1t wse a fine example of public service under most
unusual circumstances. ‘

17, Souvenir booklet issued by CHWK, January, 1935.
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Newapapers.

‘Journalistic enterprise in the Fraser Valley has been con-
fined‘to the publication of weekly néwspapera which cater to
local subscribers. The daily papers published in Vencouver and
the weekly issue of the British Columbian (New Westminster) have
always had & good eirculation in the FrasefYValley. In early
days these papers were always & day or two late, but recent im-
. provement in transportation facilities have ensured deiivery of
the papers on the date of publication.

The first newspaper of the valley was the Chilliwack rro-
gress, founded on April 16, 1891 by the late W. T. Jackman.
Though there have been times when emergency measures have been
necessary, the Frogress boasts an unbroken record of continuous
publication.-l8 buring the flood of 1894, reised planking had
to be'put in the shop to permit the staff to work. /During the
¥gilver thaw® of 1917, gaesoline engines were used tq set the
éress owing fo lack of power service, while in 1933 for the
pame reason, one iassue of the newspaper was printed in New West-
minster. Whe storm of Januvary, 1935 struck so suddenly that the
record was maintained only by printing a much-reduced paper on
the 0ld hand-operated machines.

T'he Progreas has been in several hands since its establish-
ment,'but for the last 12 years it has been under the able

direction of Mr. C:. A. Barber. Several times he has won the

18. Editorial, Chilliwack Progress, January 24, 1935.
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cup presented annualiy by the Canadiszn weekly Newspaper Associ-
stion for the best Canadian weekly with o circulation of 1000~
2000.

Other newspapers published at present, with the dates of

their éstablishment, are aé follows:19

¥raser Valley Record (1908) published at Mission .

Maple;Ridge and %itt Mesdows Gazette (1919) published
at Port Haney. f

Abbotsford, sumas and Matsqui News (1922) published
at Abbotéford. “

Surrey Gazette (1983} published a2t White Rock.

Coquitlam Heraié; published at rort Coquitlam.

Phere have béen other véllej newspapers published at vari-
oua timee but they lie today, among many others in the "bone-
yard" of British Columbia's journalietic efforts. With the

competition from the city newspapers, it would seem unlikely
that there will be meny more attempts to publish local weeklies

throughout the valley.

19. Menugl of Provincial Iaformation, 1930, pp.290-291
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Chapter 1X

Concluaion

The changes which have been wrought in the Freser Valley
with the passage of more than a half century have been little
short of marvellous. Hfew areaa in Canada have gseen such rapid
growth. The devélopment from a few smaell settlements and iso-
lated homes in the forsest to-the compact, homogeneous digtrict
of today is one which has been compassed largely within the
lifetime of many who are gtill carrying on their work of gaein-
ing & livelihood from the soil. During that period the valley
hag been knit together by four great railway systems and two
inmportant highﬁays. The river has been spanned by three great
bridges, the last of which is just being completed. All the
modern conveniences have been made aveilable to residents of
the valley. They enjoy most of the advantages of urban life
with the freedom of rural life.

Not only has nature been kind to those who would wrest &
livelihood from the resources of this region, but she has also
provided them with the means of recreation and sport. Lakes
and rivers abound in game fish, while the wily pheasant and
duck provide aport for the hunter.

There is no need to leave the confines of the valley to
enjoy a pleasant vacation, whether it be at the seaaids orAat
picturesque mountain lake. In the municipality of Surrey are
the wide sandy beaches of Semiahmoo Bay, where the summer re-

gsorts of Crescent and White Rock have been developed within the
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last three decadea. Indeed the latter is more than a summer re-

sort now, boasting a permanent population of 1200 residents.

At the other end of the valley, Cultus Lazke has become an attrac-
tive spot for those who prefer mountain scenery and fresh-water
bathing. This area wag acquired in 1923, when the people of

the city and municipality of Chilliwack vofed overwhelmingly in

© favour of a bylaw whereby 63 acres of choice camping property

weg purchased from the Dominion Government and certain timber
interests;l In 1925 the Dominion Government ﬁade'a formal

grant of the park gite and foreshore of Cultus Lake to the town-
ship end city of Chilliwack.?

More than passing‘mention‘should be given to the inter-
nationally known health resort at Harrison Hot Springs, near
Agagaiz. Here, at.the southern end of uarriéon Lake, are. two
hot springs which gush from s0lid rock. One of these predomin-
ates in sulphur at a temperature of 155°E., and the otﬁer, in
potash at 150°F. ‘The therapentie value of these springs is un-
doubted, even ﬁhellndians havihg recognized from earliest times
their,health—giving qualities. Yhe firat record of their dis-
covery by white men is contained in the Victoris Gazette of
Decomber 30, 1858.3

About 1885, the well-known St. Alice Hotel was constructed

1. Chilliwack Progress, Spet. 6, 1923.
2. B. C. Gazette, 1925, pp. 849; 1342.
3e Vandouver Daily Province, August 2, 1925.
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on a gite immediately adjacent to the springs. Xor 35 years
this hostelry attracted guests from all over the continent.
Even as early as 1890, the list of guesta showed that many came
from the coast cities of veattle, Tacoma and San Francisco,
while others came from the cities of Winnipeg, Toronto, HMontreal
and Hemilton.?

In July, 1920 a fire ragzed the old hotel to the ground,
fortunately without loss of life. It was not t111l about five
yeaers later, that a syndicatg bought the site znd begsn the
erection of the handsome brick hotel which now occupies the
gite of the old St. Alice ﬂotelQ One of the distinctive features
of the present structure is a large natatorum where one may
bethe in the Waters‘from the hot springs. The Harrison Hot
Springs Hotel is a decided attraction for all visitors to the
valley.

Ih concluding the record of this most considerable rural
area in British Columbia, it may be pointed out that there have
been three major periods or cycles of growth. The firet was
in the decade following the construction of the Canadian recific
Reilway. Then came the period of prosperity and the boom-time
which culmineted shortly before the war, and which witnessed
the building of two railways and the general extension of the
modern conveniences of electricity and the telephone. The
post-war period has seen the improvemeht of highways and devel-
opment of automotive transportation, along with & fresh influx

of population.

4. Daily Columbian, New Westminster, Sept. 18, 1890.
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What does the future hold fof the Fraser Valley? It
would scarcely be a bold prediction to say that the future
development will be even greater than thaet of the past. The
pioneers have built well, and one can readily vigualize the

whole area from Hope to the mea filled with & contented and

proaperous people.
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